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Who we are

VISION

To be the front-runner in providing the latest
IT products in the Philippines, leading the country towards

Technological advancement while achieving profitable and
sustainable growth.

MISSION

To be the leading provider of IT products in the Philippines, manned
by a competent workforce, resulting to the attainment of high
profitability and sustainability

UIC VALUES

Unity — We grow and succeed together with a spirit of teamwork and
excellence.

Integrity — We work and run our business that is rooted on trust from
our customers, our suppliers, our regulatory and business partners.

Commitment — We continuously find new frontiers to help the
Philippine markets to be within reach of technology, through us.
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| BRIEF HISTORY & MILESTONES

Upson International Corp. began with the vision and determination of three schoolmates from
Davao. In 1985, they launched a video rental business at Virra Mall in Greenhills, driven by
their instinct to meet the growing demand for home entertainment. Subsequently, they sensed
that something bigger was coming. The Philippines was on the verge of a technological shift,
and the personal computer was starting to reshape the way people lived and worked.

Seeing the opportunity, they transitioned from video rentals to retailing computers and IT
products. This early move laid the foundation for what would become a thriving technology
business. In 1995, they formally established Proton Microsystems, which quickly earned a
reputation as a reliable distributor of global brands such as Logitech and Canon. When the
Asian Financial Crisis struck in 1997, instead of scaling back, the company streamlined its
operations and reinforced its focus on retail. This move proved to be a turning point.

In 2003, Proton Microsystems merged with Columbia Computer International Corp.,
accelerating the company’s growth. Within a year and a half, 60 new stores opened in key areas
including Metro Manila, Cebu, and Davao. Alongside this expansion came the birth of
dedicated retail brands. Octagon Computer Store was launched in 2004, followed by Micro
Valley in 2006, each contributing to Upson’s evolving identity as a leader in the IT retail space.

Through all these milestones, the founders held on to a meaningful phrase passed down from
their elders: “Wake Up, Son!” Those three words became a daily reminder of resilience,
ambition, and purpose. Eventually, this phrase was distilled into a single name. UPSON. Later
in 2017, Proton Microsystems was rebranded as Upson International Corp., marking the start
of a new chapter of strategic growth.

The year 2019 marked another step forward with the introduction of Gadget King, a brand that
broadened the company’s reach even further.

When the COVID-19 pandemic arrived in 2020, the company responded by embracing online
platforms to serve customers in the changing retail environment.

By 2021, Upson began opening concept stores featuring the comprehensive product lineup of
single brands. These concept stores had exclusive outlets promoting only single brands such as
Acer, HP, Brother, and Silvertec. These exclusive stores reflected Upson’s commitment to
providing a more curated and personalized shopping experience. By the end of 2022, its retail
footprint had reached 207 branches across the country.

A defining moment came on April 3, 2023, when Upson International Corp. went public. The
listing marked a milestone in the company’s history, providing access to capital and opening
new avenues for growth. As of December 31, 2024, Upson operated 245 stores across the
country affirming its position as a leading player in the country’s technology retail sector.

Midway in 2024, the company pursued strategic expansion beyond its traditional formats by
creating two specialized entities. iStudio was formed to focus exclusively on the premium
technology segment, with particular attention to Apple products and their related accessories.
This segment caters to a market niche with distinct expectations in product range, store
experience, and service levels. Upson Global Inc. was established as the exclusive nationwide



franchise holder for Philips water purification systems. The venture targets the growing
consumer interest in home wellness, as well as the institutional demand for certified
purification technology. Both companies are structured to operate independently from Upson
International Corp. and are intended to be financially self-sustaining.

Each phase of growth has tested the company’s judgment, sharpened its discipline, and
affirmed its ability to adapt without losing focus. From a single storefront in Greenhills, Upson
has grown into the largest computer and IT retailer nationwide; built on fundamentals,
strengthened by experience, and steadfast in its aim for purposeful growth into new frontiers
and markets.
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| Timeline

Foundation

1995

Proton Microsystems
Established as distributor for Logitech and

Canon Asian Financial Crisis

1997

Change business model from distributor to
retailer

Expansion

2003

Merged with Columbia Computer and set
up 60 branches within 18 months

Retail Outlet Brands
2004 Octagon Computer

2006 Micro Valley

Rename to Upson

2017

Proton Microsystems rename to Upson
International Corp.

Additional retail brand

2019

| Gadget King

Covid pandemic

2020

Online 3 party platforms(shopee, Lazada,
pickaroo)

Concept stores

2021

Stores carrying only brand(Acer, HP,
Brother, Silvertec)

IPO

2023

Expanded from 207 branches (2022) to

232(2023)
Strategic Growth

2024

1. Grew to 245 branches
2. Added 2 warehouses
3. New companies
a. iStudio
b. Upson Global Inc.
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| Products and Awards

Notable Awards in 2023 and 2024

1.

2
3
4.
5.
6
7
8
9

Acer — Optimu Partner Platinum Award for 2024
Huawei Octagon Global Core Partner for 2024

. Vivo Gold Award

Lenovo — President’s Club / Top Consumer Retailer
TPLink — Platinum Partner for Outstanding Sales
Epson — Retail Sales Diamod Partner Category (2023)
HP — Retail Partner of the Year (2023)

Kaspersky — Retail Partner of the Year (2023)
Microsoft — top partner (2023)

10. Asus — Best Performance (2023)

INTERNATIONAL |
CORPORATION |

CCONSUMER SEGMENT fl

Givan s 14° day of
Oucamber 2023

Upson International Corp

Piatinum Partner for Outstanding Sales 2023
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| Financial and Operational Highlights

Sales in # millions Gross Profit in # millions
. . 2,372
L 11,435
9.462 10,010 i
I 2,179
| I 2,077
2022 2023 2024 2022 2023 2024
Net Income in # millions SSSG in Percentage
- 537.9 I 6.78%
- 481.5
r 464.2 I
2022 2023 2024 2023 2024
Stock Keeping Units Total Floor Space in Sgm
- 15,125 . 30,302

2023 2024 2023 2024
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| Message to shareholders

Chairman’s Message

It is with much respect and appreciation that | present this message on behalf of the Board of
Directors. The past year has been one of measured ambition, marked by both commendable
progress and instructive challenges as we continue our journey toward long-term, sustainable
growth.

In pursuit of our commitment to broaden market reach, we placed a strategic focus on
expanding our retail footprint as well as recognizing the potential to pursue some growing
market niches. This undertaking brought to light the immense potential across new territories,
while also underscoring the complexities of expansion, particularly in navigating regulatory
landscapes and ideal locations to offer our services. These hurdles, while formidable, have
strengthened our resolve and deepened our understanding of the environments in which we aim
to grow.

A cornerstone of our operational strategy has been the enhancement of our supply chain
infrastructure. | am pleased to report the successful establishment of 2 additional warehouses
during the year that complement our existing 6 warehouses. This is an encouraging step toward
our target of servicing more retail outlets. Current negotiations are in progress with expanding
even more strategically located warehouses to address expansion in underserved areas yet
promising markets. These developments are foundational to building a more responsive and
efficient logistics network that will support our growth for years to come.

As we look ahead, we remain steadfast in our belief that purposeful, strategic refinement is
key. Our direction moving forward will involve a rationalized retail footprint; one that
prioritizes strategic location, operational excellence, and meaningful customer engagement. In
doing so, we aim not only to grow, but to grow wisely.

Let me take this opportunity to extend our deepest gratitude for your unwavering trust and
continued support. Your confidence empowers us to aim higher, think longer-term, and lead
with conviction.

With sincere appreciation,

Lawrence O. Lee
Chairman
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President’s Message

As we turn the page on another pivotal year, | would like to take a moment to share what we
have accomplished, why it matters, and where we are headed next.

Defining our efforts is a steady and deliberate focus. We remain committed to serving a
Philippine market that continues to evolve, expand, and reveal new opportunities. In 2024, we
pursued that commitment with discipline and resolve.

We grew our revenue to P11.4 billion, reflecting a 14.23 percent increase from the previous
year. We sustained profitability, closing the year with a net income of P481.6 million, up 3.7
percent from 2023. Just as encouraging was the sharp rise in same store sales, which reached
6.78 percent across 202 branches, a strong recovery from the previous year’s 1.01 percent.
These figures speak clearly. Our growth is broadening, and our fundamentals are strengthening.

On the ground, we refined our retail strategy by realigning store placements with faster-moving
segments and high-impact locations. The goal was never expansion for its own sake, but
expansion that creates value.

Of course, growth never comes without challenge. Entering new territories brought layers of
regulatory work, site validation, and operational setup. Each obstacle became a checkpoint,
each adjustment a lesson.

Operationally, we matched our front-end expansion with stronger infrastructure. We opened
two additional warehouses in lloilo and Cabanatuan, raising our total to eight nationwide.
These are more than logistical facilities. They are critical links in a faster, more reliable supply
chain. They help us deliver quickly, restock accurately, and operate with greater resilience in
new markets.

Alongside this organic expansion, we also initiated key moves in the area of inorganic growth.
In 2024, we launched two new companies under the Upson group. iStudio was established to
serve the premium technology segment, offering Apple products and related IT accessories. In
the last four months of 2024, its operations contributed 2 304 million to our top line. The
second, Upson Global Inc., is preparing for launch. This company will enter the water
purification technology space, targeting both retail consumers and institutional partners. These
ventures represent a thoughtful step into adjacent sectors where we can extend our operational
strengths and capture new streams of value.



Looking ahead, we will remain focused in our choices and intentional in our execution. Our
direction is measured. Our ambition is grounded. This is not a race to be the largest, but a
commitment to become stronger, more relevant, and more enduring with every decision we
make.

None of this would be possible without your continued trust and support. Thank you for
standing with us. We are building not only for the present, but for the long-term potential that
lies ahead.

With appreciation and optimism,

Arlene Louisa T. Sy
President and CEO




| Financial Highlights

Metric 2020 | 2021 | 2022 | 2023 | 2024
Revenues (PM) m 8,567.9 | 9,462.0|10,010.4| 11.435.3
Gross Profit (PM) 16713 |1885.6 | 21792 | 2,0774 | 2,.372.3

Gross Profit Margin (%) | 20.5% | 22.0% | 23.0% | 20,8% | 20.74%
EBITDA (PM) 8244 | 9571 |1,072.0 1,016.6‘1,195.1

EBITDA Margin(%) | 101% | 11.2% 10.2% | 10.45%
Net Income (PM) 2067 | 403.6 | 5379 | 4642 @ 4815

Net Income Margin (%) 47% | 57% | 46% @ 421%

Q— =

Revenues for Upson International Corp. (parent company only) reached 11.13 billion in 2024,
marking an 11.2 percent increase from P10.01 billion in 2023. Additional revenues were
contributed by iStudio amounting to P 303.9 MM which buoyed consolidated revenues to
P11.43 billion in 2024. This growth was driven by reinforcing factors: stronger productivity
within existing stores, the expansion of the retail network and the additional contribution of
iStudio towards the 4™ quarter.

Revenues

Same store sales growth (SSSG) across 202 stores stood at 6.78 percent, indicating improved
performance at the branch level. In parallel, the company concluded the year with 245 branches
up from 232 by year end of 2023. This reflects a 5.6 percent expansion in store count year-on-
year. The combined effect of broader geographic reach and enhanced store-level productivity
contributed meaningfully to the overall increase in revenue.

On a consolidated basis, total revenues reached 11.44 billion, which includes the four-month
contribution of iStudio, a newly formed company under Upson with a 52 percent participation.
iStudio focuses on retailing Apple products and enhances the Group’s reach in the premium
consumer electronics segment. Its contribution reflects the early momentum of this specialized
retail format.



Gross Profit

On a stand-alone basis, Upson’s gross profit rose to P2.34 billion in 2024, a 12.7 percent
increase from the £2.08 billion recorded in 2023. This translated to a gross profit margin of
21.03 percent, improving slightly from 20.75 percent in the previous year. The uplift reflects
a more optimized sales mix, stable pricing discipline, and improved merchandising execution
across core retail formats.

At the consolidated level, gross profit reached P2.37 billion, reflecting a gross margin of 20.73
percent. The modest dilution in margin compared to the stand-alone level is attributed to the
inclusion of iStudio’s four-month performance, whose premium product focus follows a
distinct pricing and margin structure.

ADDITIONAL

Over the past five years, Upson International Corp. has managed its operating scale with
measured cost discipline, balancing the need for expansion with the demand for sustainable
profitability. While revenue has grown year on year, reaching P11.4 billion in 2024, up from
P8.15 billion in 2020. This growth has come alongside deliberate investments in infrastructure,
workforce, warehousing, and branch operations. These decisions are reflected in the
progression of operating expenses, EBITDA, and net income across the period.

Operating expenses rose in line with strategic expansion. While detailed line items are not
provided here, cost pressures were influenced by network growth from 175 stores in 2020 to
245 stores in 2024. Key cost drivers included new branch buildouts, additional staffing,
logistical coverage for a broader geographic footprint, and investments in security, insurance,
and systems integration. Upson also expanded its warehouse infrastructure to eight hubs
nationwide, each carrying associated costs for leasing, outfitting, and operationalization.
Though these expenses placed pressure on margins, they formed part of a calculated approach
to build operational scale and long-term efficiency.

EBITDA performance remained strong over the five-year period, underscoring the company’s
ability to preserve core operating profitability alongside expansion. From P824.4 million in
2020, EBITDA climbed steadily to 1.195 billion in 2024. EBITDA margin followed a
measured trajectory, rising from 10.1 percent in 2020 to 11.3 percent in 2022, then adjusting
slightly to 10.2 percent in 2023 and 10.45 percent in 2024.

The stable margin profile reflects operational resilience despite higher costs associated with
expansion. These included the rollout of new stores, the addition of two warehouses which
brought the total to eight, increased logistical requirements, and the integration of support
infrastructure for newly formed subsidiaries such as iStudio and Upson Global. The company
continues to maintain strong earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization,
preserving its capacity to support future reinvestment and fund strategic initiatives.Net income
continued to track upward, anchored on disciplined cost control and consistent revenue growth.
From P206.7 million in 2020, net income grew to P481.5 million in 2024, with the highest
performance recorded in 2022 at £537.9 million. Net income margin followed a similar path,
peaking at 5.7 percent in 2022 before adjusting to 4.6 percent in 2023 and 4.21 percent in 2024.
The decline in net margin over the last two years is attributed to higher operating costs



associated with expansion, as well as financing costs related to trust receipts and short-term
obligations that supported inventory growth. Inventory turnover slowed from 138 days in 2023
to 158 days in 2024, reflecting elevated stock levels needed to support the enlarged network,
additional warehouse stocks and anticipated seasonal sales cycles.

Despite margin compression, the company maintained profitability across all years under
review. Earnings per share stood at P0.15 in 2024, stable from the prior year. This consistency,
even in a period of accelerated expansion, underscores the company’s financial resilience and
operational discipline.

Looking ahead, management remains focused on aligning cost structures with the pace of
growth, ensuring that both fixed and variable expenses scale proportionately with revenue.
Organic growth will continue to be driven by the expansion of Upson’s core retail brand outlets,
supported by efficiency gains from maturing stores, optimized warehouse utilization, and
tighter process execution. These internal improvements are expected to provide stability to
margins even as the store network broadens.

Inorganic growth will be generated by contributions from newly established ventures, iStudio,
which targets the premium technology segment with a dedicated Apple-focused retail model,
and Upson Global Inc., which pursues the Smart Home technology starting with water
purification as exclusive nationwide franchiser for Philips. Both entities operate independently
and are structured to sustain their own growth.

Together, these developments reflect a business prepared to grow with control, invest with
strategic purpose, and deliver performance anchored on sound judgment and efficient
execution.



in P Millions 2023 2024
inventory 3,350.80 4,478.80
trade receivables  181.00 323.60
trade payables 1,322.84 1,187.61
total assets 6,226.70 7,282.60
total equity 2,802.00 3,107.46

BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS

Upson’s total assets rose from P6.23 billion in 2023 to £7.29 billion in 2024, reflecting an
increase of P1.06 billion or 17.18 percent. The rise was driven primarily by higher inventory
levels and the growth in trade receivables, both of which reflect the operational demands of an
expanded retail footprint.

Inventory increased from £3.35 billion to P4.48 billion, representing a 33.7 percent rise year-
on-year. The increase supported store network growth, a wider product range, and stock
coverage for new regions and newly added brands. It also reflected strategic stocking decisions
ahead of promotional campaigns and seasonal movements.

Trade receivables climbed from 181 million to 324 million, or 78.8 percent, due to an
increase in card transactions including micro financing.

Conversely, trade payables declined from £1.32 billion to £1.19 billion, a decrease of 10.2
percent. The reduction points to earlier supplier settlements, which translated to securing



additional discounts that impact on improving gross profit margins. While this lowers short-
term liabilities, it also compresses cash float.

Total equity strengthened from $2.80 billion to P3.11 billion, marking a 10.9 percent
increase. This reflects earnings retention, reinforcing Upson’s capital base and preserving
headroom for future expansion.

Overall, the balance sheet reflects the expansion of our retail footprint, along with the supply
chain infrastructure to support it. Asset expansion has been funded through both internally
generated funds as well as from short term external sources. The decline in trade payables was
a move in the first quarter of 2024 to address the opportunistic benefits. Moving forward,
cashflow monitoring will provide financial prudence on the pace of expansion and its calibrated
timing.
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| Operational Highlights

Metric 2023 2024 % Increase
Number of Stores 232 245 +5.6%
Total Store Space (sqm) 28,502 30,302 +6.32%

Stock Keeping Units 13,000+ 15,125 +16.3%

Annual SSSG(SSSG%) 1.01% 6.78% +5.71ppts
Stores for SSSG 181 stores 202

Branch Expansion

Upson remains attuned to the untapped and underserved markets that continue to emerge across
the country. In 2024, we reinforced our commitment to expanding our reach by opening 20
new branches, while 7 locations were closed, primarily due to re-zoning decisions initiated
by landlords. This resulted in a net increase of 13 stores, bringing our total network to 245
branches, up from 232 in the previous year. Correspondingly, our total retail floor area
expanded to 30,302 square meters, reflecting a 6.32 percent increase. This expansion is more
than a matter of footprint. It requires a coordinated effort to strengthen the systems that enable
our stores to operate with consistency, efficiency, and long-term viability.

Same-Store-Sales Growth (SSSG)

At the store level, productivity continued to improve. Same store sales growth (SSSG) rose
to 6.78 percent, up from 1.01 percent in 2023, based on performance from 202 stores,
compared to 181 in the prior year. These gains reflect more consistent inventory flow, sharper
merchandising, and an expanding base of returning customers.

More Inventory Choices (Stock Keeping Units)

To sustain growth in both reach and relevance, we expanded our assortment from over 13,000
stock keeping units (SKUs) in 2023 to 15,125 SKUs in 2024. We introduced new brands to
strengthen our product portfolio. The following ten brands were added:

Monster

Monka (gaming accessories)
VGN (gaming accessories)
Onikuma (gaming accessories)



e Verbatim

o Ugreen
e Dahua
« Elassion
¢ Insta360
e Jisulife

These brands expanded our presence in fast-moving and emerging categories, including
gaming peripherals, mobility accessories, data storage, and lifestyle electronics.

On-line Improvements.

In addition, our online platform has been subject to deeper operational alignment. Careful
attention has been given to item selection, pricing logic, and regional stock positioning,
ensuring that e-commerce transactions are supported by the same logistical integrity as our
physical branches. The back-end processes required for online fulfillment, from warehousing
to shipping arrangements, have been evaluated to operate in full coordination with our store
network as well as with 3" party online platforms such as Shopee and Lazada.

Additional Warehouses / Logistics Support

A wider footprint calls for a dependable and scalable operating framework. One of the key
priorities in 2024 was the expansion of our warehouse infrastructure. To ensure that branches
located in deeper regional territories receive timely replenishment, we increased our number of
warehouses to eight and invested in enhancing our distribution capabilities. This included
procuring additional delivery vehicles, ensuring comprehensive insurance coverage, improving
physical and digital security protocols, and aligning our supplier base with structured and
dependable delivery arrangements.

Centralized / Strategic Purchasing

Beyond the physical infrastructure, detailed planning was also applied to stock availability.
Inventory decisions took into account delivery lead times, route considerations, seasonal shifts
in demand, and regional variations in product movement. Each decision was guided by
operational discipline and aimed at achieving consistent availability without carrying the
burden of excess inventory.

Taken together, these efforts reflect the organization’s drive to build a geographic scale as well

as a dependable operational foundation that allows growth to take root with consistency and
control.

LOOKING AHEAD

Looking ahead, 2025 will be shaped by a strategy of calibrated and rationalized growth,
supported by both organic and inorganic directions.



Mall / Roadside Branches

Organically, expansion will proceed with measured intent. Opportunities within mall
developments and available leasable spaces will be evaluated against location viability and
projected sales density. At the same time, we are attentive to indicators that suggest the renewed
potential of roadside formats beyond enclosed commercial centers. Expansion decisions will
remain closely aligned with shifts in consumer behavior and regional demand patterns.

On the inorganic front, Upson has established two new companies designed to pursue growth
in adjacent market segments. iStudio will serve the premium consumer technology space with
a focused retail strategy centered on Apple products and related ecosystems. Upson Global
will address a distinct market, engaging both institutional clients and end-consumers through a
hybrid retail and distribution platform.

Importantly, the growth of these two companies will not be funded by the cashflows of Upson
International. Each is structured to operate independently, with self-sustaining financial models
that support both day-to-day operations and future expansion. This ensures that Upson’s core
business remains capital-efficient, while allowing new ventures to test and scale based on their
own commercial performance.
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| Retail Store brands

Octagon Computer Store

Your shopping gateway to technology

Octagon is the flagship retail brand that stands as the bedrock of Upson’s expansive presence
in the Philippine IT retail market. Housing an ever-evolving inventory of over 15,125 SKUSs,
Octagon offers an unmatched selection of personal computers, laptops, printers, mobile phones,
networking devices, peripherals, hardware components, IT software, and accessories. Whether
one is a student, professional, business owner, or tech hobbyist, Octagon is designed to be a
one-stop shop for all things digital. What truly sets it apart is its balance of breadth and depth—
stocking not only the essentials but also the specialized tools that cater to every IT need and
nuance. With knowledgeable personnel trained to guide customers through every purchase,
Octagon is one’s shopping gateway to technology.

Micro Valley

The Gamer’s Playground

Micro Valley was born from a simple insight: the gaming community is big and is booming.
This retail format is purpose-built for the high-performance needs of modern gamers. From
RGB-lit rigs and ultra-responsive mice to cutting-edge graphics cards and immersive gaming
chairs, Micro Valley is a curated haven for the serious and the aspiring gamer. But beyond its
products that make it special are it’s frontliners. The staff are passionate gaming enthusiasts
who speak the language of specs, frame rates, and next-gen titles. Their expertise ensures
customers walk out with gear that match their budgets and enhances their gameplay. In Micro
Valley, we sell gear and gear clients up for victory.

Gadget King

Where Accessories Rule

Gadget King reigns supreme in the realm of IT accessories, catering to the everyday techie and
mobile warrior. It’s the go-to destination for chargers, cases, keyboards, earbuds, screen
protectors, docking stations, stands, and every imaginable add-on that makes digital life
smoother, faster, and cooler. Whether you're optimizing your home office setup or looking for
that perfect mobile add-on, Gadget King offers variety with personality. It’s all about helping
customers personalize and maximize their tech—one clever accessory at a time.



Octagon Mobile

Smartphones, Smart Choices

Octagon Mobile is where mobility meets mastery. This dedicated outlet zeroes in on the fast-
moving, feature-packed world of mobile phones and related gadgets. Stocking a complete line-
up of top global and emerging brands, Octagon Mobile offers an intuitive, consumer-friendly
experience, made even better by highly trained personnel who understand the fine print behind
every feature. Whether you're comparing camera systems, exploring battery life, or decoding
the benefits of 5G, our team is equipped to highlight the strengths of each device and guide
customers to the smartest choice. At Octagon Mobile, we provide smartphones and smart
choices.

Concept Stores
One Brand. All Choices.

Upson’s Concept Store format is designed for brand loyalists, tech purists, and those who
know exactly what they want from one brand, and one brand only. These exclusive, single-
brand outlets serve as flagship spaces that highlight the full ecosystem of a specific IT brand,
from entry-level to high-end, from workhorses to gaming beasts, and everything in between.

Each Concept Store immerses customers in a curated brand experience, with dedicated staff
who are not only trained in product features but steeped in the brand’s ethos (character),
updates, and innovations. This focused format allows for deeper customer education, better
after-sales guidance, and a stronger brand affinity; all while simplifying the buying decision.

We currently operate Concept Stores for:

e Acer (Taiwan) — A global leader known for stylish performance laptops, productivity
PCs, and value-for-money desktops, with a loyal following in the student and
professional sectors.

e HP (USA) — A trusted brand for PCs and printers, combining solid hardware with
elegant design and versatile functionality tailored for both home and business users.

e Brother (Japan) — The go-to name for high-quality printers, multifunction machines,
and sewing equipment, known for Japanese precision, longevity, and reliability.

o Silvertec — A fast-rising Asian brand of IT accessories and peripherals, powered by
Hong Kong-based R&D and made available exclusively in the Philippines through
Upson International and its retail brand outlets. These concept stores reflect Silvertec’s
sleek, affordable, and innovative approach to IT accessories and essentials.

These concept stores are brand showcases and ecosystems. Customers walk in for a product
and walk out with confidence in the brand, supported by a tailored, expert-guided experience.
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Additional Ventures

iStudio Technologies Philippines Corporation
The Apple of Our Aisles

iStudio is Upson’s premium retail format dedicated to all things Apple. Through a strategic
collaboration, this venture leverages the experience and insight of iStudio’s original
management to deepen our expertise in Apple products and customer engagement. Whether it's
the latest iPhone, MacBook, iPad, or AirPods, along with an elegant assortment of Apple-
specific accessories, iStudio provides an elevated retail experience. This is aligned with the
brand's minimalist aesthetic and user-focused design. The collaboration has also allowed us to
refine inventory planning and forecasting with improved precision, responding nimbly to
consumer trends and seasonal shifts.

Upson Global (90% Subsidiary)

Redefining the Modern Home

As a dedicated venture focused on modern home technology, Upson Global leads the charge
in providing technology appliances that promote health and convenience. Beginning with water
purification, it aims to manage both institutional and retail distribution across the Philippines.
While it currently exclusively carries a trusted brand such as Philips, the platform remains open
to complementary technologies that address the evolving needs of Filipino households and
businesses. In a market where clean water and smart living solutions are no longer optional,
Upson Global stands ready to deliver both.
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ESG Sustainability Summary

(reference to Sustainability Report attached to SEC Form 17-A 2024)

Environmental

Upson upholds its responsibility to manage environmental impact through measured energy
sustainability protocols. In 2024, we expanded the scope of our environmental disclosures,
offering greater transparency on emissions, utilities usage, and waste management practices
across our national network of stores and logistics hubs.

We reported 6,592 tonnes of Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions in 2024, attributed to electricity
use across our operational sites. Electricity consumption reached 8,785,483 kWh, while diesel
consumption was 3,254 GJ. Water consumption totaled 3,794 cubic meters, based on expanded
tracking and inclusion of more facilities in 2024.

On waste performance, plastic generation rose to 12,427 kg in 2024 from 4,492 kg in the
previous year, due in part to expanded measurement coverage. Of this, 1,796.8 kg was
recovered under our Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) program, which met the 40
percent benchmark based on 2023 levels. We achieved 91 percent recovery of flexible plastics
and 59 percent of rigid plastics, surpassing the compliance target under RA 11898.

Social

We continue to invest in our people, protect customer trust, and uphold the social
responsibilities of a national employer. Our labor, safety, and engagement indicators reflect
the value we place on fairness, transparency, and consistent delivery of service across
locations.

As of 2024, we employed 866 staff. Women comprised 31.29 percent of our workforce. Our
attrition rate increased to 16.62 percent. These workforce indicators are disclosed in the
report’s employee profile section.

We implemented training initiatives in areas such as data privacy and EPR, supported by
vendors and third-party consultants. Occupational safety remained stable, with one work-
related injury reported and no fatalities or occupational illness. There were no recorded cases
of forced labor, child labor, or violations of employee rights or labor law.

No substantiated complaints were recorded in 2024 related to product safety, customer
privacy, or health risks. The company-maintained compliance with RA 7394 and RA 10173,
supported by privacy consultants. Governance protocols include a designated Data Protection
Officer, implementation of Privacy Impact Assessments, and structured data handling
practices.



Governance

We view governance not only as a legal necessity but as a leadership imperative. Our
commitment to ethical conduct, policy transparency, and responsible business practices
remains fundamental to how we operate. In 2024, our corporate governance framework
continued to mature alongside evolving sustainability disclosures.

We updated our materiality assessment in collaboration with stakeholders to validate 17 key
sustainability topics, ranging from emissions reporting and product traceability to employee
well-being and ethical sourcing. This materiality matrix is reviewed every two years, ensuring
that stakeholder concerns and operational priorities are aligned.

Our anti-corruption protocols remained in full force. All employees, management, and business
partners received formal anti-corruption training, achieving 100 percent participation. No
incidents of fraud, bribery, or related misconduct were reported. Our Code of Conduct and
Whistleblower Policy remain the basis for our internal reporting and escalation channels.

Procurement remained heavily local, with 98.3 percent of our supplier spending directed to
Philippine vendors. Many of these relationships extend over two decades. Our accreditation
process continues to incorporate ESG criteria, covering compliance on environmental
stewardship, labor laws, and anti-bribery commitments.

Global Alignment

Our sustainability actions contribute to key UN Sustainable Development Goals, particularly
those addressing responsible consumption, climate resilience, inclusive employment, and
gender equity. These goals inform our program design, operational focus, and community
initiatives.

In 2025, we plan to increase our EPR recovery targets as mandated by RA 11898, enhance
sustainability integration across operations and supplier practices, and sustain efforts to create
inclusive employment through store network expansion. These priorities reflect the company’s
transition toward structured, metrics-driven sustainability management.



| Board of Directors

Standing left to right, Raul Leopando, Chin Bing Uy, Jose Vicente Bengzon |11, Ricardo Lee, William
Lim, Lawrence Lee, Arlene Sy, Marcos Legaspi, Rolando Raval Jr. and Tommy Roxas.

Lawrence O. Lee Ricardo A. Lee
Non-Executive Director, Chairman Non-Executive Director
* Former President from 2012 to 2021 eCo-Founder and former Chairman of the

Board from 1995 to 2021
e Chairman of the Board of Upson Realty

and Development Corporation, Director of e Director of Upson Realty and

Silvertec Global Philippines Inc., and Development Corporation, Silvertec Global

Transway Hotels Group Corp., and President Philippines Inc., Transway Hotels Group

of Lamp Light International Corporation Corp., and Lamp Light International
Corporation

* BS in Biology from the University of Santo
Tomas



William Lim

Non-Executive Director

e Co-Founder and former Treasurer from
1995 to 2007

e Director of Upson Realty and
Development Corporation

¢ BS in Civil Engineering from the University
of Mindanao

Arlene Louisa T. Sy

Executive Director, President, and Chief
Executive Officer

® Responsible for recommending,
implementing and continually developing
our company’s strategic direction,
overseeing operational activities,
communicating with the Board and
stakeholders, and fostering a collaborative
company culture

¢ Has served various senior roles across
product and category management,
marketing and procurement planning, store
management operations, and project
management since joining in 1995

e BS in Computer Science major in
Computer Hardware from De La Salle
University



Rolando O. Raval, Jr.

Executive Director, Chief
Operations Officer

¢ Oversees the day-to-day
management of our business,
selection of new store locations,
and the development work
processes and tools for customer
experience and risk management

¢ Has held previous roles within
Upson including Management
Information Systems (MIS)
Manager and Service Manager
since joining in 2002

¢ BS in Civil Engineering from
Ateneo De Davao University,
postgraduate diploma in
Research and Development
Management from the University
of the Philippines

Marcos A. Legaspi

Executive Director, Chief
Finance Officer

* Marcos A. Legaspi is our Chief
Finance Officer and Director.

e Prior to joining us in 2020, his
40-year career in finance
included serving as CFO,
management consultant, and
external auditor across
companies in the retail,
manufacturing,
telecommunications, real estate,
and technology industries.

¢ He was also an auditor at Sycip
Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV) earlier
in his career.

* Mr. Legaspi holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Commerce with
a Major in Accounting from the
Polytechnic University of the
Philippines. He is a Certified
Public Accountant.

Anthony Thomas C. Roxas, Jr.

Executive Director

* Mr. Roxas has been a financial advisor
to key members of the Board of Directors
since 2016.

¢ Additionally, he assisted in the role of
Investor Relations Officer until his official
appointment as IRO of Upson in 2025.

® Has over 23 years of experience in
banking, specializing in Investment
Banking and Corporate Banking, through
his tenure with First Metro Investment
Corporation and Metrobank.

e Concurrently, he holds the position of
Finance Director at Linkenergie
Industries Company Inc. and serves as
Finance Executive Director for Orion
Group International and Quantity
Solutions Inc.

* He previously was the former Finance
Executive Director at HMR Philippines
and was Senior Management Advisor at
Tapa King Inc. from 2016 to 2018

* Mr. Roxas earned his undergraduate
degree in Economics from the University
of Santo Tomas and pursued graduate
studies at the Asian Institute of
Management and the University of Asia
and the Pacific.



Raul M. Leopando

Non-Executive Director

e Former Chairman of the Board of RCBC
Securities Inc., Vice Chairman of RCBC
Bankard Services Inc., Consultant to the
Chairman of Rizal Commercial Banking
Corporation and Yuchengco Group of
Companies, Director of RCBC Capital,
Maibarara Geothermal Energy Inc.,
Petrogreen Energy Corporation, and
Seafront Resources Corporation CHUN
BING G. UY Independent Director JOSE
VICENTE C. BENGZON Ill Independent
Director

® Former Vice Chairman of the Capital
Market Development Committee of
Financial Executives Institute of the
Philippines and of the Capital Market
Development Council, President of the
Investment House Association of the
Philippines, Director of Polar Mining
Corp, Fil-Hispano Holdings Corporation,
Roxas Holdings Inc., Charter Land, Paxys
Inc., PetroEnergy Resources Corporation,
and Marcventures Holdings Inc.

¢ MBA from Ateneo de Manila
University, BS in Accounting from San
Beda University, and BA in Economics
from the University of the Philippine

Chun Bing G. Uy
Independent Director

¢ Chairman of the Board of Nippon
Express Philippines Corporation,
Chairman and President of FBIA
Insurance Agency, Director of Luisita
Industrial Park Corporation, Executive
Director of Strategic Equities
Corporation, Consultant and Senior
Advisor of Corporate Banking Group
of Rizal Commercial Banking
Corporation where he was previously
Senior Executive Vice President and
Group Head

* Former Director of RCBC Savings
Bank

Corporation, and Independent
Director of Discovery World
Corporation, and Liwayway (Global)
Company, Ltd.

¢ BS in Management Engineering,
Cum Laude, from Ateneo de Manila
University

Jose Vicente C. Bengzon Il

Independent Director

* Chairman of the Board of Vitarich
Corporation, President and CEO of Torres
Trading Company Inc., Vice Chairman of
Commtrend Construction Corp., Director and
Treasurer of Inception Technology Philippines
Corp., and Senior Adviser to the Board of
Malayan Bank

* Former Director of Rizal MicroBank,
Philippine Quality Awards Foundation, Manila
North Tollways Corp., South Luzon Tollways
Corp., Century Peak Mining Corp., and
Independent Director of Bermaz Auto
Philippines Inc., President of UPCC Holdings
Corp., Acting Chairman and Board member of
Philippine National Construction Corp.

 Certified Public Accountant

* MBA from Northwestern University Kellogg
School of Management, and bachelor’s degree
in commerce and economics from De La Salle
University



Dennis Uy
Corporate Secretary

¢ Dennis F. Uy has been our Corporate
Secretary since 2012.

® He is also the Corporate Secretary of
Silvertec Global Philippines Inc.

* Mr. Uy was a Manager for Maximax
Office Automation from 1987 to 1995.
He was also a Sales Executive for
Automatic Center from 1985 to 1986
and Manager for Shikaina Drug Store
from 1984 to 1985.

Mr. Uy graduated from the Philippine
School of Business Administration with
a degree of Bacher of Science in
Business Administration major in
Marketing
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Anita Lim
Treasurer

e Anita Lim, Filipino, is the Treasurer of
the Corporation since 2007. Prior to her
appointment, she was with Upson Int’|
Import and Export. Ms. Lim also served as
an executive director of the Corporation.

e Ms. Lim has a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Management from Centro
Escolar University.

Darwin L. Mendoza
Compliance Officer

® Mr. Darwin L. Mendoza is the Compliance
Officer/Head of the Corporation since 2021.
Prior to joining the Corporation,

* He was a Governance, Corporate Affairs,
and Investor Relations Officer of one of the
leading developers of resorts destination
and leisure properties in the Country (a
publicly-listed company or PLC).
Concurrently,

* He was also the Authorized
Representative of the same Company’s
subsidiaries, including 2 PLCs. Mr. Mendoza
also served as the Corporate Governance
and Compliance Manager for a water utility
PLC.

* He earned his bachelor of science in
commerce degree, major in internal
auditing from Far Eastern University.

* Mr. Mendoza is a member of the Good
Governance Advocates and Practitioners of
the Philippines and the Philippine
Association of Certified Compliance Officers.



| Management Teams / Departments Units

Warehouse

Service




MIS

E- Commerce

Audit




Operation

Allocation

Purchasing




Compliance




ADMIN

:////,////.//,, )

Finance




Accounting

:‘.

i




uc

| Financial Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1 BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION Page No.
ltem 1. Business 6
ltem 2. Properties 9
Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings 9
Iltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 9
PART I OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 5. Market for Issuer's Common Equity and Related

Stockholder Matters 10
[tem 6. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Plan of Operations 10
ltem 7. Financial Statements 13
I[tem 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on

Accounting and Financial Disclosure 13
PARTIIIT CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION
I[tem O. Directors and Executive Officers of Registrant 13
ltem 10. Executive Compensation Summary of Compensation Table 16
ltem 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Management 17
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 19
PARTIV EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 19
SIGNATURE PAGE 20



PART L. BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

ltem 1. Business

Background

Upson International Corp. (“Upson” or the “Company”), operating under the trade names Octagon
Computer Superstore, Microvalley, Gadget King, Octagon Mobile, Gadget World, Uniso, and Lamp
Light, was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) on April 19, 1995.

The Company is a premier retailer of information technology products, specializing in the wholesale
and retail distribution of computer hardware, software, telecommunications equipment, and other
electronic merchandise. Upson has established strategic partnerships with globally recognized
brands, including Acer, Asus, Lenovo, Apple, HP, Dell, Brother, Epson, Sony, Samsung, and Sandisk,
among others.

Octagon is our flagship brand among our prime stores. It offers our complete line and assortment of
hardware and software products that span across nine major categories.

Microvalley on the other hand is a specialty store for do-it-yourself components and customization of
personal computers as well as gaming-specific PCs and peripherals for the growing gaming market.

Gadget King is our Company’s specialty store featuring IT accessories and peripherals.

Octagon Mobile is our specialty store focusing on communication and connectivity devices such as mobile
phones, tablets, networking products, and mobile-related accessories.

In May 2024, Upson incorporated iStudio Technologies Philippines Corporation (iStudio) with 52%
ownership interest amounting to P26.0 million. In July 2024, Upson incorporated Upson Global Inc. (UGI)
with 90% ownership interest. Upson subscribed UGI's shares of 90.0 million shares at P1.0 par value or
amounting to P90.0 million and paid amounting to P50.0 million.

iStudio is primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, marketing, at wholesale and
retail all kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to computer hardware
equipment, telecommunications and other similar products. iStudio operates five (5) Apple stores under the
iStudio Plus brand. To improve the Company’s market potential, rebranding from exclusive single-brand
to multi-brand market was initiated at the beginning of 2024.

UGl is primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, franchising, marketing, at wholesale
and retail all kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to water filtration
and purification devices and systems, household, commercial, and industrial appliances and equipment,
telecommunications and other similar products. The Company has not yet started its commercial operations
as at December 31, 2024.

Upson caters to a broad consumer spectrum, with our target customers being home users, small-medium
businesses, gamers, professionals, and students, among others. We currently offer our products through
our prime stores, concept stores, mobile stores, and online through our Company website and well-known
e-commerce platforms such as Lazada, Pick-a-roo, and Shopee, in order to broaden our sales channels
and deepen customer engagement. To be able to cater to our growing customer base, as well as their
evolving needs, our Company has been expanding our store network and retail formats.

According to a study by the University of Asia and the Pacific — Center for Research and Communication
Foundation, Inc. (“CRC”) (2022), our Company is the largest in terms of store network and sales amongst
mall-based consumer electronics retailers. As of December 31, 2024, we have a total of 245 branches



nationwide, of which 32 are stand-alone stores, while 213 are mall-based stores. Our regional network of
stores is found in the National Capital Region (79), North Luzon (43), South Luzon (47), Visayas (29), North
Mindanao (26), and South Mindanao (21).

Our stores are in highly visible locations, mostly in retail spaces inside shopping malls and high-traffic areas
of information technology hubs and consumer electronics shops. We ensure that our stores have good
ventilation and air conditioning, well-lit areas, neatly organized and optimized-positioned products, and well-
trained staff. Our stores provide direct access to our network-wide merchandise mix and attentive services
from our multi-skilled staff, which we believe creates the pleasant in-person shopping experience that
consumers expect.

In addition to our physical store network, our Company also leases a total of six (8) warehouses. These are
located in Manila (3), Cebu (1), Cagayan de Oro (1), Davao City (1), lloilo (1), and Cabanatuan (1).

As of December 31, 2024, consolidated revenues grew 14.23% to ©11,435.3 million from the Parent
Company revenues amounting to #10,010.4 million in 2023. The consolidated net income increased by
3.76% to £481.6 million from the Parent Company net income amounting to #464.2 million in 2023 because
of higher gross margin, helped by other income mainly through promotional support from suppliers, such
as volume-based rebates and sell-out incentive programs as well as inventory price protection to drive
demand and replacement cycles.

HISTORY AND KEY MILESTONES

Our company was founded on April 19, 1995, as Proton Microsystems, Inc., which was later changed to
Upson International Corp. and approved by the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission on August
4, 2017.

We started out as a distributor of well-known global IT brands such as Logitech and Canon. In 1997, the
Asian Financial Crisis unraveled, causing our distribution business to be short-lived. We had to streamline
operations and redirect our efforts towards a more resilient business model—retailing. We then merged
with the former affiliate Columbia Computer International Corporation in 2003, and within 18 months, we
opened 60 new stores around Metro Manila and in key cities such as Cebu and Davao. We opened our
first Octagon Computer Superstore in 2004 and added the brands Microvalley Computer Superstore in
2006 and Gadget King in 2019 into our portfolio. Our first stores were in SM Megamall for Octagon, in
Greenhills Shopping Center for Microvalley, and in lloilo for Gadget King. From there, we have built a
market-leading brand and established an extensive store network nationwide, becoming the largest retailer
of IT products in the country.

In a move to capture synergies and the potential for new customers, we scaled our omnichannel strategy
through our website, www.octagon.com.ph, in 2017 and, made our products available in third-party e-
commerce channels such as Lazada, Shopee, and Pick-a-roo, in 2020.

In 2021, we introduced a new store format, Concept Store, to provide our customers with an exclusive and
full product suite of a single brand. Each Concept Store is dedicated entirely to a specific brand, including
Acer, HP, Brother, and Silvertec.

As of December 31, 2024, our Company had the largest store network throughout the country with 245
branches, offering a complete line and up-to-date IT portfolio of over 13,000 SKUs and serving thousands
of people every day. We have consistently been named Top Distributor, Dealer of the Year, Retail Partner
of the Year, and Top National Sales by our long-standing suppliers such Acer, Asus, Epson, HP, Seagate,
and more.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

We believe that the following competitive strengths contribute to our success and differentiate us from
competitors:



Fast-growing IT retailer with unparalleled store network nationwide

We are a fast-growing retailer of IT-related products in the Philippines. Within the past Five (5) years, UIC
have steadily widened its nationwide reach from 165 stores in 2018 to 245 stores as of December 31, 2024,
and have grown our revenues and net income at a compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) of 8.83% 5
year for revenues and 22.00% 5 year for net income. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024, our revenues hit 9,462.0 million, #10,010.4 and P11,131.4 million, respectively, making us the
largest mall-based consumer electronics retailer in the country according to the study by the University of
Asia and the Pacific — Center for Research and Communication Foundation (“CRC”).

In line with our vision, we have built a more extensive store network compared to our competitors. We are
already present in 16 out of the 17 regions in the country, allowing us to reach and capture almost the entire
population and income groups.

Our stores provide direct access to our network-wide merchandise mix and attentive services from our
multi-skilled staff, which we believe creates the pleasant in-person shopping experience that consumers
expect. Additionally, our products are made available on our website and in popular e-commerce platforms
such as Lazada, Shopee, and Pick-a-roo to broaden our sales channels and deepen consumer
engagement.

According to CRC, Filipinos still favor in-store shopping over online. They prefer to visit physical stores to
check actual product quality and performance, especially for larger devices and equipment and more
expensive purchases. The ability to “see and touch the products” is regarded as an important reason for
such preference as well as other factors such as the ease of asking questions and assistance, after-sales
service including warranties and repairs, and lack of access to credit cards. Despite the rise in e-commerce,
CRC expects that 70% of consumer electronics retail sales will still be generated through on-site channels
and only 30% through online platforms in 2023, 2024 and 2025.

Authentic and untampered products

We pride ourselves on selling only authentic and untampered products. We believe product integrity is a
basic requirement that suppliers and customers expect retailers like us to uphold. Since the beginning of
our operations, we have had an unblemished record that attests to our high standards for product integrity.
We believe this creates confidence and customer loyalty, knowing that the products they purchase from us
are guaranteed by technological brands that are among the most respected names globally.

Our suppliers rely on us—as the Philippines’ largest IT retailer by sales, market share, and store count—
for making their products accessible nationwide and delivering reliable customer service and support that
is consistent with their brand image. For these reasons, along with the numerous recognitions from them,
we believe we have become their retail partner of choice.

Moving forward, we will continue to invest in building customer awareness of the importance of untampered
products on warranty and after-sales service so we can increase customer loyalty and maintain our
reputation as the country's trusted IT retailer.

Well-recognized brands with a comprehensive and reqularly refreshed portfolio

Our brands, Octagon, Microvalley, Gadget King, and Octagon Mobile, set the foundation for our
competitiveness and allow us to continuously strengthen our reputation and top-of-mind awareness among
consumers. We also offer a growing portfolio of exclusive branded products of Silvertec Global Philippines
Inc. These products are available in our stores, including Silvertec, Delta Force, Imperio, Akawa, Norgicool,
Lorenzo, and JW Concept. We believe these intellectual property and exclusive arrangements enable us
to promote awareness of our brands and reinforce positive consumer perception towards us, while also
protecting our proprietary rights.



Our comprehensive and frequently updated assortment of products allows us to be responsive to prevailing
market needs and local preferences, making us more attractive to consumers and competitive in the
marketplace. In 2021, for example, we introduced an average of approximately 200 new SKUs per month,
which we believe is a strong performance considering the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on global
supply chains and distribution networks, and a testament to our strength in product category management.
As of December 31, 2024, we maintained an active portfolio of more than 13,000 SKUs spanning across
nine major categories, including personal computers, printing, communication, storage, networking,
peripherals, components, accessories, and software. Some of the well-known brands we carry include Acer,
Asus, Brother, Canon, Dell, D-Link, Epson, HP, Huawei, Kingston, Lenovo, Logitech, Microsoft, Samsung,
Sandisk, Seagate, Sony and Transcend, among others.

We believe the combination of these advantages has increased our customer base and driven our robust
financial performance. In the past three years, we have served more than 2 million customers annually,
allowing us to reach an average monthly revenue of approximately 3.8 million per store. For the year
ended December 31, 2022, revenues rose 10.6% to P9.462.0 million in revenues, with personal computer
accounting for 50% of total revenues, printing for 14%, communication for 13%, components and
networking for 11%, accessories for 10%, and peripherals for 2%. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
we generated 10,010.4 million in revenues, with personal computer accounting for 52%, printing for 14%,
communication for 13%, components and networking for 11%, accessories for 9% and peripherals for 2%.
As of December 31, 2024, revenues rose 11.2% to 11,131.4 million, with personal computer accounting
for 50.29% of the total revenues, printing for 15.87%, communication for 14.77%, accessories for 9.02%,
components for 6.44%, networking for 1.89%, and peripherals for 1.72%.

Iltem 2. Properties

The Parent Company has only one piece of land and building located in Pasong Tamo, Makati City. It
entered into lease agreements with Upson Realty and Development Corporation (URDC), a related party,
and other third parties, to lease the land and/or buildings where its stores and warehouses are situated.
The Company plans to buy properties for its warehouses and to enter new leases in the next Five years.
The Company intends to continue to lease appropriate real estate properties that meet the Company’s
standards and requirements.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company and its management are not involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings
that may have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial position, or profitability.

None of the members of the Board of Directors and executive officers of the Company are involved in any
material criminal, bankruptcy or insolvency investigations or proceedings.

Iltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote for Security Holders

There were no matters submitted during 2024 to a vote of the Company’s stockholders, through
solicitation of proxies or otherwise.



PART ll. OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ltem 5. Market for Issuer's Common Equity and Related Stockholder
Matters

Upson International Corp. was granted the Certificate to Offer Securities for Sale on March 20, 2023, by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and listed on April 3, 2023 with the Main Board of the Philippine
Stock Exchange under the Stock Symbol of “UPSON”.

The market capitalization of the Company’s common shares based on the total number of Firm Shares of
625,001,000 and assuming the full exercise of overallotment of 62,500,000 Option Shares at P2.40 per
share will be P7.5 Billion.

Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Plan of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and
notes thereto, which form part of this SEC Form Amended 17-A as “Exhibit 1”. The financial statements
and notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
(PFRS).

Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2024

Key Highlights

UPSON closed with a consolidated net income of £481.5 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2024. This yielded a net income margin of 4.33% or an increase of 3.73% year-on-year compared to
the reported parent company net income of P464.2 million in 2023.

Revenues

Consolidated net revenues reached #11,435.3 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024,
increasing by 14.23% from reported Parent Company revenues of 10,010.4 million in 2023. The Parent
Company opened 13 stores in 2024. This represents a 5.60% growth in store network from 232 in 2023 to
245 in 2024. Increase in the revenue for 2024, also includes the revenues from the newly incorporated
subsidiary iStudio, which contributed P1.5 million in 2024.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 2024, the consolidated cost of sales increased by 14.24% from the Parent Company
cost of sales of 7,933.0 million in 2023 to 9,063.0 million. The increase in cost of sales was mainly
caused by the proportionate increase in volume of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024,
as compared with the twelve months in 2023.

Gross Profit

Consolidated gross profit amounted to P2,372.3 million for the year 2024, an increased by 14.20% from the
Parent Company gross profit of #2,077.4 million in the previous year. This yielded a corresponding gross
profit margin of 20.75% as a result of a higher gross margin.

Operating Expenses

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, consolidated operating expenses totaled 1,924 .4
million, representing 16.83% cost-to-sales ratio. This is £248.5 million or 14.83% higher compared to the



Parent Company operating expense of 1,676.0 million during the same period in 2023. Significant
increase in operating expenses include personnel costs, merchant discount, and depreciation and
amortization.

Finance Cost

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, consolidated finance cost reached 152.5 million, a
23.52% increase from the Parent Company finance cost of 123.5 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023. The increase was mainly caused by the increase in liabilities under trust receipts due
to continued store expansion activities in 2024.

Other Income

Other income totaled #341.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This was composed mainly of
rebates, interest income and other income.

Income Tax Expense

Consolidated provision for income tax closed at #155.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
increased by £35.2 million or 29.36% from the Parent Company provision for income tax of #119.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was due to the higher Parent Company’s income
before tax from P584.0 million in 2023 against the consolidated income before tax of #636.6 million in 2024.

Net Income

Consolidated net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, reached P481.6 million, an
increase of 3.76% or P17.4 million as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 of the
Parent Company, with net income of £464.2 million. The increase was attributable to the combined effects
of pre-opening costs of the additional 13 stores opened in 2024, and the higher gross margin due to revenue
mix and higher product margin rates from increased promotion, including product bunding and price
discounts.

Financial Condition

The consolidated total assets as at December 31, 2024 was P7,282.6 million, an increase of P1,056.0
million from total assets of £6,226.7 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents stood at #889.4 million as of December 31, 2024, a decrease of
34.6% than the balance of #1,360.9 million of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2023. The decrease
was due to total net cash outflows from use of IPO proceeds and operating activities.

Trade and other receivables

Consolidated trade and other receivables were higher at #323.6 million as at December 31, 2024, an
increase of 78.75% from the amount of #181.1 million of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2023.
Trade receivables represent mainly outstanding receivables from credit card companies and other payment
service providers. The increase was due to the higher volume of sales in December 2024, and incentives
on suppliers’ rebates.

Inventories

As at December 31, 2024, consolidated inventories increased to £4,478.9 million from 3,350.8 million of
the Parent Company in 2023, an increase of 33.66% due to continuous store expansion activities in 2024.



Property and equipment

Consolidated property and equipment stood at #909.1 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of
10.95% than the amount of £819.4 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase
in property and equipment was caused by the net impact of the new additional stores and warehouses
opened in 2024, mainly leasehold improvements, construction of warehouses, store furniture and
equipment and transportation equipment.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables decreased by 10.22% for the year 2024 from the Parent Company £1,322.8
million to consolidated #1,187.6 million. The decrease was due to settlement of trade payables in 2024.

Bank loans and trust receipts

Consolidated bank loans and trust receipts amounted to #2,503.0 million as at December 31, 2024, an
increase by 41.60% from #1,767.6 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase
was due to the additional inventory purchased because of the Company’s expansion program in 2024.

Equity

Consolidated total equity was higher at #3,107.5 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of 10.90%
from £2,802.0 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase represents the net
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cash flows

Consolidated net cash used in operating activities amounted to 363.2 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2024, which consisted of income before tax of #636.6 million, increased by non-cash income
and expense aggregating P547.0 million. Working capital changes which include increase in trade and
other receivables, inventories, and other current assets, and decrease in trade and other payables
amounted to 1,447 .97 million outflows.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, the consolidated net cash used in investing activities,
which included the expenditures for additional leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures for the new
stores and construction of warehouses amounted to #194.5 million.

Consolidated net cash provided by financing activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024
was P86.2 million, primarily through the combined effect of proceeds and payments of bank loans and trust
receipts, arising from dividends, additions to lease liabilities and interest payments.

The consolidated net cash used for the year totaled 471.5 million, leading to consolidated cash balance
of #889.4 million as at December 31, 2024.

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)
For the year ended December 31

2024 (Consolidated) 2023 (Parent)

Gross Profit Margin 20.75% 20.75%
Net Income Margin 4.21% 4.6%
EBITDA (P thousands) 1,197,192,339 1,016,557
EBITDA Margin 10.47% 10.16%
Return on Average Assets 7.13% 8.5%
Returns of Average Equity 16.33% 24.1%
Current Ratio 1.46 1.56
Debt to Equity Ratio 1.34 1.22

Inventory Turnover (days) 158 124 .1



1 Gross Profit Margin is gross profit as a percentage of revenues

2 Net Income Margin is net income as a percentage of revenues

3 EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization

4 EBITDA margin is EBITDA as a percentage of revenues

5 Return on Average Assets is net income as a percentage of the average of the assets as at year-end and assets as at end of the
Immediately preceding year

6 Return on Average Equity is net income as a percentage of the average of the equity as at year-end and equity as at end of the
immediately preceding year

7 Current Ratio is current assets divided by current liabilities

8 Debt to Equity Ratio is total liabilities over total equity

9 Inventory Turnover (days) is average turnover divided by cost of goods sold multiplied by the number of days in the period
covered (365 days for annual periods ended December 31,2023 and 2024)

ltem 7. Financial Statements

The Company’s and its subsidiaries consolidated financial statements and notes thereto form part of this
SEC Form as “Exhibit 1”

Iltem 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure

There were no changes or disagreements with the Company’s external auditor, Reyes Tacandong & Co.,
on accounting and financial statement disclosure.

External Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed by Reyes Tacandong & Co., (“RTCo.”) for the audit of the financial statements of
the Company and other services in connection with the statutory and regulatory filings for 2024 is
4,825,000.00.

PART Il CONTROL AND  COMPENSATION
INFORMATION

ltem 9. Directors and Executive Officers of Registrant

The following are the Directors and Officers of the Company for the year 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

THE BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to our amended articles of incorporation, our Company’s Board of Directors consists of ten (10)
members, of whom two (2) are independent directors. The table below sets forth each member of our board
of directors and senior management as of December 31, 2024.



Name Age Nationality Position

Lawrence O. Lee 66 Filipino Chairman of the Board

Arlene Louisa T. Sy 51 Filipino President and Chief Executive Officer
Rolando O. Raval, Jr. 58 Filipino Chief Operations Officer and Director
Marcos A. Legaspi 69 Filipino Chief Finance Officer and Director
Anita Lim 59 Filipino Treasurer

Dennis F. Uy 64 Filipino Corporate Secretary

Ricardo A. Lee 65 Filipino Director

William Lim 66 Filipino Director

Anthony Thomas C. Roxas, Jr. 59 Filipino Director and Investor Relations Officer
Chun Bing G. Uy 73 Filipino Lead Independent Director

Raul M. Leopando 74 Filipino Director

Jose Vicente C. Bengzon, Il 67 Filipino Independent Director

The business experience of each of our directors and executive officers is set out below.

Lawrence O. Leeg, 66, Filipino, is current Chairman of UIC and former President from 2012 to 2022. He is a
seasoned entrepreneur with at least 35 years of retail experience and is concurrently the Chairman and
President of Jendres Holdings, Inc. and Upson Realty and Development Corporation, Director of Silvertec
Global Philippines, Inc. President/Director of Lamp Light International Corporation, and Director of
Transway Hotels Group Corp. Mr. Lawrence Lee completed his Bachelor of Science degree major in
Biology from the University of Santo Tomas.

Ricardo A. Lee, 65, Filipino, is currently a director and former Chairman of the Corporation from 1995 to
2021. Mr. Lee is also involved in other business undertakings and serves as President of Transway Hotels
Group Corp., Chairman and President of Unitrust Investments Corporation, Director of Silvertec Global
Philippines, Inc., Chairman of Lamp Light International Corporation, and director of Upson Realty and
Development Corporation. He has been an entrepreneur for at least forty (40) years.

William Lim, 66, Filipino, has been a director of the Corporation since 1995. He was also the Corporation’s
Treasurer from 1995 to 2007. Mr. Lim is also the Chairman and President of Virdura Holdings, Inc., a
director of Upson Realty and Development Corporation, Transway Hotels Group Corp., and Octagon
International Marketing Corp. He received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Engineering major in Civil
Engineering from the University of Mindanao. Mr. Lim has been an entrepreneur for at least forty (40) years.

Arlene Louisa T. Sy, 51, Filipino, is our President and Chief Executive Officer since 2022. Ms. Sy has been
with the Corporation since 1995, serving various senior roles across product and category management,
marketing and procurement planning, store management operations, and project management. Ms. Sy
received her Bachelor of Science in Computer Science (Computer Hardware Specialization) degree from
De La Salle University

Rolando O. Raval, Jr., 58, Filipino, is our Chief Operations Officer (COOQO), and was elected as director in
2022. Engr. Raval joined the Corporation in 2002 and has served as our COOQ since 2006. He is responsible
for the day-to-day management of our business and for developing work processes and tools for customer
service excellence and for risk management. Engr. Raval completed his Bachelor of Science Major in Civil
Engineering degree from Ateneo De Davao University. He also holds a postgraduate diploma in Research
and Development Management from the University of the Philippines.

Marcos A. Legaspi, 69, Filipino, is our Chief Finance Officer (CFQO), and was elected as director in 2022.
He is concurrently the Principal of M.A. Legaspi & Associates, and an AMLA Compliance Officer of ETC
Realty Corporation. Prior to joining the Corporation in 2020, his 40-year career in finance included serving
as CFO, management consultant, and external auditors across companies in the retail, manufacturing,
telecommunications, real estate, and technology industries. He was also an auditor at Sycip Gorres Velayo
& Co. earlier in his career. Mr. Legaspi holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce with a Major in
Accounting from the Polytechnic University of the Philippines. He is a Certified Public Accountant.



Anthony Thomas C. Roxas, Jr., 59, Filipino, has served as an Executive Director of the Corporation since
2022. Mr. Roxas has been a financial advisor to key members of the Board of Directors since 2016.
Additionally, he assisted in the role of Investor Relations Officer until his official appointment as IRO of
Upson in 2025. He has over 23 years of experience in banking, specializing in Investment Banking and
Corporate Banking, through his tenure with First Metro Investment Corporation and Metrobank.
Concurrently, he holds the position of Finance Director at Linkenergie Industries Company Inc. and serves
as Finance Executive Director for Orion Group International and Quantity Solutions Inc. He previously
served as Finance Executive Director at HMR Philippines and as Senior Management Advisor at Tapa King
Inc. from 2016 to 2018. Mr. Roxas earned his undergraduate degree in Economics from the University of
Santo Tomas and pursued graduate studies at the Asian Institute of Management and the University of
Asia and the Pacific.

Raul M. Leopando, 74, Filipino, is a director of the Corporation since 2022. Mr. Leopando had been in
Investment Banking for at least 46 years. Mr. Leopando was the President and CEO of RCBC Capital
Corporation and concurrently the Chairman of the Board of RCBC Securities Corporation. He was likewise
the Vice Chairman of the Board of RCBC Bankard Services Inc., Consultant to the Chairman of RCBC and
YGC, Director of RCBC Capital, Maibarara Geothermal Energy Inc., Petrogreen Energy Corporation, and
Seafront Resources Corporation until 2022. He was a Senior Project Officer at First Metro Investment
Corporation then later joined the Private Development Corporation of the Philippines as a Project Analyst
and Manager. Mr. Leopando also worked for the Philippine Pacific Capital Corporation (PPCC) where he
rose from the ranks to become PPCC'’s President and CEO. Mr. Leopando was concurrently the Chairman
of the Board of RCBC Securities Corporation until December 31, 2010. He was a three-term President of
the Investment Houses Association of the Philippines. Mr. Leopando also served as the Vice Chairman of
the Capital Market Development Committee of FINEX and of the Capital Market Development Council. He
was also formerly a member of the Board of several listed companies, such as Polar Mining Corp, Fil
Hispano Ceramics Corp., Roxas Holdings Inc., Charter Land, Paxy’'s Corp., Petro Energy Corporation, and
Marcventures. Mr. Leopando was accepted to attend the rigid full time International Stock and Bond
Underwriting and Trading Course administered by the Nomura Research Institute in Tokyo, Japan.

Jose Vicente C. Bengzon lll, 67, Filipino, has been an independent director of the Corporation since 2022.
Mr. Bengzon is concurrently the Chairman (Non-executive Director) of Vitarich Corporation, the Vice
Chairman of Commtrend Construction Corporation, a Senior Adviser to the Board of Malayan Savings
Bank, and a Non-executive Director of UPCC Holdings Corporation. Prior to his election as an Independent
Director of the Corporation, he held various key positions for both public and private organization, such as,
Chief Privatization Officer (rank of Undersecretary) for the Department of Finance, Rep of the Philippines,
Privatization and Management Office, and Financial Planning and Project Manager for Reuters America,
among others. He was also the President and Chief Executive Officer of Torres Trading Company, Inc., a
director and the Risk Oversight Committee Chairman of Rizal Microbank (RCBC Subsidiary), and an
executive director of Inception Technology Phils., Corp. Mr. Bengzon is a graduate of Bachelor of Aris
degree, major in economics and Bachelor of Science in Commerce, major in accounting from De La Salle
University. Mr. Bengzon also took a master's degree in business administration from J.L. Kellogg School
of Management at Northwestern University.

Chun Bing G. Uy, 73, Filipino, is an independent director of the Corporation since 2022, and was appointed
as Lead Independent Director in 2024. Mr. Chun Bing Uy is concurrently a consultant and Senior Advisor
of Corporate Banking Group of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation. He was previously the Senior
Executive Vice President and Group Head of the Corporate Banking Group (1997-2012) primarily
responsible for all the corporate lending activities of the bank covering the conglomerates, local corporates,
Japanese and global locators, SME and the Chinese banking segment. In addition, he is also the Chairman
of Nippon Express Phils Corporation, the Chairman and President of FBIA Insurance Agency, a director of
Luisita Industrial Park Corporation and an executive director of Strategic Equities Corporation (formerly Kim
Eng Securities, Inc). He was also a past director of RCBC Savings Bank Corporation (2015-2016), an
independent director of Discovery World Corporation (2015-2018) and of Liwayway (Global) Company, Ltd.,
a company to be listed in the HK Stock Exchange covering the operations of Liwayway Oishi in China and
Vietnam (2019-2021). Mr. Chun Bing Uy holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management Engineering,
Cum Laude, in Ateneo de Manila University.
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Dennis F. Uy, 64, Filipino, has been our Corporate Secretary since 2012. He is also the Chairman of Panpan
Print Corp., and the Corporate Secretary of various companies, including Silvertec Global Philippines Inc.,
Upson Realty Development Corporation, Lamp Light International Corporation, and Octagon International
Marketing. Mr. Dennis Uy was a manager for Maximax Office Automation from 1987 to 1995, sales
executive for Automatic Center from 1985 to 1986, and manager for Shikaina Drug Store from 1984 to
1985. Mr. Dennis Uy graduated from the Philippine School of Business Administration with a degree of
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration — Marketing.

Anita Lim, 59, Filipino, is the Treasurer of the Corporation since 2007. Prior to her appointment, she was
with Upson Int'l Import and Export. Ms. Lim also served as an executive director of the Corporation. Ms.
Lim has a Bachelor of Science Degree in Management from Centro Escolar University.

Significant Employees

The Company does not believe that its business is dependent on the services of any employee.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings of Directors and Executive Officers

None of the Company’s directors, nominees for election as director, or executive officers have in the five-
year period prior to the date of this report: (1) had any petition filed by or against any business of which
such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within a two-
year period of that time, (2) have been convicted by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or
foreign, or have been subjected to a pending judicial proceeding of a criminal nature, domestic or foreign,
excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses, (3) have been the subject of any order, judgment, or
decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic
or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement
in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities, or (4) have been found by a domestic
or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign body, or a
domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization, to have
violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, such judgment having not been reversed,
suspended, or vacated.

Iltem 10. Executive Compensation Summary of Compensation Table

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLE

Compensation

The following table sets out our President, and the four most highly compensated executive officers for the
period ended December 31, 2024:

Name Position

Lawrence O. Lee Chairman of the Board/Director

Anita Lim Treasurer

Rolando O. Raval, Jr. Chief Operating Officer / Director

Arlene Louisa T. Sy President and Chief Executive Officer/Director

Marcos A. Legaspi Chief Finance Officer/Director



The following table identifies and summarizes the aggregate compensation of our President and the four
most highly compensated executive officers, as well as the aggregate compensation paid to all other
directors and all other officers as a group, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

Year Salary Bonus Other annual
(in Php) compensation
Chairman, President and the three
most highly compensated executive| 2022 8,914,776 N/A N/A
officers named above 2023 10,279,023 N/A N/A
2024 10,420,700 N/A N/A
IAggregate compensation paid to all
other directors and all other officers| 2022 21,007,193 N/A N/A
as a group 2023 24,993 868 N/A N/A
2024 23,034,668 N/A N/A

Standard Arrangements

Other than payment of reasonable per diem as may be determined by the Board for every meeting, there
are no standard arrangements pursuant to which directors of the Company are compensated, or were
compensated, directly or indirectly, for any services provided as directors and for their committee
participation or special assignments.

Other Arrangements

There are no other arrangements pursuant to which any director of the Company was compensated, or to
be compensated, directly or indirectly, for any service provided as a director.

Iltem 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management

Security ownership of certain records and beneficial owners holding more than 5% of the
company’s voting securities as of date of this report.

The following table sets out our shareholders of more than 5% of our Company'’s voting securities and their
respective shareholdings and corresponding percentage ownership as of December 31, 2024, as provided
by our Transfer Agent:

Name of
beneficial owner % of total of
Title of Class h;zrgijgg::sdgiesfvﬁa rti(;og:)r?'wgﬁrs and relationship | Citizenship | outstanding
P pany with record shares
owner
Common Jendres Holdings, Inc. Lawrence O. Lee Filipino 17.20

1504 B Gotesco Regency Twin Towers|Stockholder
Condominium, 1129 Natividad Lopez
Street, Ermita, Manila

Stockholder

Common Ricardo A. Lee - Filipino 14.27
Stockholder

Common Lawrence O. Lee - Filipino 12.27

Stockholder




Common

William Lim

Stockholder

Filipino

11.41

Common

Virdura Holdings, Inc.

Gotesco Regency Twin Tower B
1129 Natividad Lopez Street,
Manila

Stockholder

Ermita,

'William Lim
Stockholder

Filipino

10.00

Common

Unitrust Investments Corporation

2202 Gotesco Tower B Condominium
Concepcion, Ermita, Manila

Stockholder

Ricardo A. Lee
Stockholder

Filipino

10.00

Common

PCD Nominee Corporation
Non Filipino
Stockholder

\Various

Non Filipino

16.40

Common

PCD Nominee Corporation
Filipino
Stockholder

Various

Filipino

5.60

Security ownership of management as of December 31, 2024:

Amount and % of total of
. Name and address of record owners and cos Nature of .
Title of Class X . . Position o outstanding
relationship with the Company Beneficial
. shares
Ownership
Common Anita Lim Treasurer 89,167,665 Direct 2.85
and Indirect
Treasurer
Common Arlene Louisa T. Sy Chief Executive 1,100 Indirect| 0.00
i|Officer and
|President
President and Chief Executive Officer
Common Rolando O. Raval. Jr. Chief 1,100 Indirect 0.00
Operations
Officer
Director and Chief Operations Officer
Common Marcos A. Legaspi Chief Finance 13,100 Indirect] 0.00
Officer
Director and Chief Finance Officer
Common Anthony Thomas C. Roxas, Jr. Investor 496,100 Indirect| 0.02
Relations
Officer
Investor Relations Officer
Common Dennis F. Uy Corporate 1,000 Indirect 0.00
Secretary
Corporate Secretary

VOTING TRUST HOLDERS OF 5% OR MORE
There were no voting trust agreements.

CHANGES IN CONTROL
There were no arrangements which may result in a change in control.




Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The Company, in the ordinary course of business, engages in rental transactions with a related party,
Upson Realty and Development Corporation.

For a detailed discussion of the material related party transactions of the Company, please see Note 14 -
Related Party Transactions and Balances of the attached Audited Financial Statements of the Company.

PART IV. EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Exhibit 1 — Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024
and the Parent Company financial statements as at December 2023 and 2022, and for the years ended

December 31, 2023 and 2022

Exhibit 2 — Sustainability Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Upson International Corp.

Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1

9th Avenue corner 34th Street

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

Report on the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Upson International Corp. (Doing
Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer Superstore;
Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light) (the Company), which comprise the
separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the separate statements of
comprehensive income, separate statements of changes in equity and separate statements of cash flows for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, and notes to the separate financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
(PFRS) Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audits of the separate financial statements in the Philippines, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements in
accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

THE:POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD & o emaE
AUDIT { TAX | CONSULTING RSM

Reyes Tacandong & Co, is a member of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm, and practices in its own right, The RSM network is
not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction.



) REYES TACANDONG & CoO.

FIRM PRINCIPLES, WISE SOLUTIONS.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisicns of users taken on the basis of these
separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

=  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



REeyrs Tacanpong & Co.

FIRM PRINCIPLES. WISE SOLUTIONS.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audits.

Report on the Supplementary Information Required under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 of the Bureau
of Internal Revenue (BIR)

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic separate financial statements
taken as a whole. The supplementary information on taxes and licenses in Note 24 to separate financial
statements is presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of the basic separate
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of the management of Upson International Corp.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic separate
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
separate financial statements taken as a whole.

REYES TACANDONG & Co.

D L' REESE Q. SARANGAD

Partner
CPA Certificate No.
Tax Identification No.
BOA Accreditation No. Valid until June 6, 2026
BIR Accreditation No.
Valid until May 15, 2025
PTR No.
Issued January 2, 2025, Makati City

February 27, 2025
Makati City, Metro Manila
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBIILITY
FOR SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of UPSON International Corp. (the Company) is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the separate financial statements including the schedules attached therein, as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 in
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the separate financial statements including the schedules
attached therein and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have audited the
separate financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing,
and in their reports to the stockholders, have expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation
upon completion of such audit.

Lawrenc'e(/oﬁg Lee
Chairman of the Board

) SUBSCRIBED AND SWUKN TU
balsre-me on this 2025

Arlene Louida T. Sy L v
President and Chief Executive Officer

Marcos A. Lefaspi 1/7 —_— { LAGUERTA
Chief Finance Officer gggENS\?O — Moran bl fo Gy Vheile UrllDec 312025
: | Cof n N
BOOK NO. f/ , Towe No. 18 :‘,?e;z Ef, Ermita, Manila
: : SERIES OF 1.B.P. NG - Dec. 27, 2024 for the year 2025
Signed this 27" day of February 2025 A L B T AR e

MCLE NO. - Valid until 4-14-2028 Roll No, 88314
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBIILITY
FOR ANNUAL INCOME TAX RETURNS

The Management of Upson International Corp. is responsible for all information and representations
contained in the Annual Income Tax Return for the year ended December 31, 2024. Management is
likewise responsible for all information and representations contained in the financial statements
accompanying the Annual Income Tax Return covering the same period. Furthermore, the
Management is responsible for all information and representations contained in all the other tax
returns filed for the reporting period, including, but not limited, to the value added tax and/or
percentage tax returns, withholding tax returns, documentary stamp tax returns, and any and all other
tax returns.

In this regard, the Management affirms that the attached audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2024, and the accompanying Annual Income Tax Return are in accordance with
the books and records of Upson International Corp. complete and correct in all material respects.
Management likewise affirms that:

(a) The Annual Income Tax Return has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and pertinent tax regulations and other
issuances of the Department of Finance and the Bureau of Internal Revenue;

(b) Any disparity of figures in the submitted reports arising from the preparation of financial
statements pursuant to financial accounting standards and the preparation of the income
tax return pursuant to tax accounting rules has been reported as reconciling items and
maintained in the company’s books and records in accordance with the requirements of
Revenue Regulations No. 8-2007 and other relevant issuances;

(c) Upson International Corp. has filed all applicable tax returns, reports and statements
required to be filed under Philippine tax laws for the reporting period, and all taxes and
other impositions shown thereon to be due and payable have been paid for the reporting
period, except those contested in good faith.

Lawrence Ohg Lee
Chairman of the Board

Arlene I.ouWa T.S§ v
President and Chiéf Executive Officer

Marcos A. Legéspi
Chief Finance Officer



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light)

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

Note 2024 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 R803,853,994 R1,360,873,502
Trade and other receivables 5 249,374,354 181,057,704
Inventories 6 4,287,010,478 3,350,825,684
Other current assets 7 165,641,313 160,316,057
Total Current Assets 5,505,880,139 5,053,072,947
Noncurrent Assets _
Noncurrent portion of refundable lease deposits 7 77,828,402 59,723,407
Investments in subsidiaries 9 115,999,995 -
Property and equipment 8 891,895,708 819,418,924
Right-of-use (ROU) assets 17 412,715,964 275,426,853
Net deferred tax assets 18 17,889,901 19,060,904
Total Noncurrent Assets 1,516,329,970 1,173,630,088
R7,022,210,109 £6,226,703,035
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 11 R2,502,957,649 B1,767,613,865
Trade and other payables 10 943,395,942 1,322,843,184
Current portion of lease liabilities 17 299,800,547 147,320,374
Income tax payable 35,536,691 17,175,989
Total Current Liabilities 3,781,690,829 3,254,953,412
Noncurrent Liabilities )
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 17 96,555,008 127,873,298
Retirement liability 16 48,621,746 41,870,993
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 145,176,754 169,744,291
Total Liabilities 3,926,867,583 3,424,697,703
Equity
Capital stock 12 625,000,260 625,000,260
Additional paid-in capital 12 1,305,308,048 1,305,308,048
Retained earnings 12 1,172,523,114 878,511,729
Accumulated remeasurement losses on retirement
liability 16 (7,488,896) (6,814,705)
Total Equity 3,095,342,526 2,802,005,332
R7,022,210,109 86,226,703,035

See accompanying Notes to Separate Financial Statements.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light)

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

Note 2024 2023 2022
NET SALES R11,131,422,392 R10,010,358,499 R9,461,981,130
COST OF SALES 6 (8,789,745,351) (7,932,978,469) (7,282,799,061)

GROSS INCOME 2,341,677,041  2,077,380,030  2,179,182,069

OPERATING EXPENSES 13 (1,895,298,117) (1,675,980,429} (1,530,103,748)
FINANCE COSTS 11 (152,435,977) (123,495,021) (74,147,403)
OTHER INCOME 7 14 341,302,343 306,082,355 142,074,344
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 635,245,290 583,986,935 717,005,262

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)

INCOME TAX 18
Current 152,338,094 117,606,658 184,132,156
Deferred 1,395,733 2,189,459 (4,982,875)

153,733,827 119,796,117 179,149,281

NET INCOME 481,511,463 464,190,818 537,855,981
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods-
Remeasurement gain {loss) on retirement

liability - net of deferred income tax 16 (674,191) (2,559,921) 1,990,447

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME R480,837,272 R461,630,897 £539,846,428

BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 23 R0.15 B0.16 RO.22

See accompanying Notes to Separate Financial Statements.



L UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvafley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light)

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Years Ended December 31

Note 2024 2023 2022
CAPITAL STOCK 12
Balance at beginning of year R625,000,260  R500,000,060  R500,000,000
Issuance - 125,000,200 60
Balance at end of year 625,000,260 625,000,260 500,000,060
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 1,305,308,048 1,305,308,048 —
RETAINED EARNINGS
APPROPRIATED FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Balance at beginning of year 78,000,000 - -
Appropriations (reversal) during the year (78,000,000) 78,000,000 —
Balance at end of year - 78,000,000 -
UNAPPROPRIATED
Balance at beginning of year 800,511,729 552,320,568 404,464,987
Net income 481,511,463 464,190,818 537,855,981
Cash dividends (187,500,078)  (138,000,057) (390,000,000}
Reversal of appropriation 78,000,000 - -
Appropriation - (78,000,000) -
Balance at end of year 1,172,523,114 800,511,729 552,320,968
1,172,523,114 878,511,729 552,320,968
ACCUMULATED REMEASUREMENT LOSSES
ON RETIREMENT LIABILITY
Balance at beginning of year (6,814,705) (4,254,784) (6,245,231)
Remeasurement gain (loss) - net of deferred
income tax {674,191} (2,559,921) 1,990,447
Balance at end of year (7,488,896} (6,814,705) (4,254,784)

R3,095,342,526 B2,802,005,332 P1,048,066,244

See accompanying Notes to Separate Financial Statements.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light)

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

Note 2024 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P635,245,290 P583,986,935 #717,005,262
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 8 406,171,939 309,075,012 280,830,339

Finance costs 11 152,435,977 123,495,021 74,147,403

Interest income 4 (27,079,977) (46,811,084) (544,189)

Provision for inventory obsolescence 13 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900

Retirement expense 16 5,851,832 5,018,356 4,281,720

Gain on lease modification 17 (70,171) (102,070) -

Gain on lease concessions 17 - - (17,500,079)
Operating income before working capital changes 1,180,200,765 977,579,146  1,083,062,356
Increase in:

Trade and other receivables (75,500,565)  (108,765,398) (24,351,690)

Inventories (943,830,669) {687,182,591) (684,127,133}

Other assets (23,515,751)  (25,182,984) (32,216,675}
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables (417,380,713) 61,572,017 (527,961,576)
Net cash generated from (used for} operations (280,026,933) 218,020,190 (185,594,718)
Income taxes paid (133,977,392) (187,146,870}  (135,154,934)
Interest received 34,263,892 37,553,002 544,189
Net cash provided by {used in) operating activities (379,740,433) 68,426,322 (320,205,463)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to:

Property and equipment 8 (176,308,352)  (219,496,536)  (109,233,206)

Investments in subsidiaries g (76,000,000} - -
Cash used in investing activities (252,308,352) {219,496,536)  (109,233,206)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Bank loans and trust receipts availments 11 2,883,052,863 2,611,018,632 2,870,048,222

Issuance of capital stock 12 - 1,430,308,248 60
Payments of:

Bank loans and trust receipts 11 (2,147,709,079) (2,578,049,580) (2,381,838,159)

Lease liabilities 17 (338,228,111) (220,119,782) (180,629,861)

Dividends 22 (187,500,078) (413,306,057) {114,654,000)

Interest (134,586,318) (119,320,548) (62,825,209)
Net cash provided by financing activities 75,029,277 710,530,913 130,061,053
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS (557,019,508) 559,460,699 {299,377,616)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF

YEAR 1,360,873,502 801,412,803 1,100,790,419
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 4 #803,853,994 #1,360,873,502 801,412,803




Years Ended December 31

Note 2024 2023 2022
NONCASH FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Additions and modifications to ROU assets 17 (R430,586,994) (R232,540,827) (R276,001,099)
Additions and modifications to lease liabilities 17 430,431,323 230,344,503 276,001,099
Capitalized borrowing costs 8 9,042,488 11,074,116 -

See accompanying Notes to Separate Financial Statements.



: UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light)
NOTES TO SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023 AND 2022

1. Corporate Information

Upson International Corp. (Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer
Superstore; Microvalley Computer Superstore; Gadget World; Octagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King
and Lamp Light) (herein referred to as “UIC” or the “Company”) was incorporated and registered
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on April 19, 1995. The Company is
primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, marketing, at wholesale and retail
all kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to computer
hardware equipment, telecommunications and other similar products.

On May 24, 2024, the Company incorporated iStudio Technologies Philippines Corporatien (iStudio)
with 52% ownership interest amounting to R26.0 million. On July 10, 2024, the Parent Company
incorporated Upson Global Inc. {UGI) with 90% ownership interest amounting to #30.0 million
(see Note 9).

iStudio is primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, marketing, at wholesale
and retail all kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to
computer hardware equipment, telecommunications and other similar products.

UG! is primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, franchising, marketing, at
wholesale and retail kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to
water filtration and purification devices and systems, household, commercial, and industrial
appliances and equipment, telecommunications other similar products.

The registered office address of the Company is Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1, Sth Avenue
corner 34th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City.

Initial Public Offering {IPO}

On June 1, 2021, the Board of Directors (BOD) and the stockholders authorized the Parent Company
to undertake an IPO of its shares with the Philippine Stock Exchange {PSE). Pursuant to the IPO plan,
the BOD and the stockholders approved the increase in the Parent Company’s authorized capital
stock and share split. Details of the increase in capital stock are presented in Note 12. The increase
in authorized capital stock and share split were approved by the SEC on December 17, 2021 and
April 12, 2022, respectively.

On January 12 and 27, 2023, the SEC and the PSE, respectively, approved the Parent Company’s
application for an IPO. On April 3, 2023, the Parent Company’s shares of stock were listed under the
Main Board of the PSE under the stock symbol UPSON. The Parent Company listed 625,001,000
common shares at an offer price of 2.40 a share resulting to proceeds aggregating 1,500.0 million
from the IPO (see Note 12).

Approval of Separate Financial Statements

The separate financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were approved and authorized for issuance by the
Company’s BOD as approved and endorsed by the Audit Committee on February 27, 2025.



2. Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information

The material accounting policies used in the preparation of the separate financial statements are
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. This financial reporting framework includes PFRS
Accounting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretation from
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued by the Philippine
Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council and adopted by the SEC, including SEC
pronouncements.

The Company also prepares and issues consolidated financial statements for the same years in
accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards. The consolidated financial statements are available for
public use and can be obtained in the registered office address of the Company and the SEC.

Measurement Bases
The separate financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso {Peso), which is the Company’s
functional currency. All values are rounded to nearest Peso, unless otherwise indicated.

The separate financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for lease
liabilities and retirement liability which are measured at present value. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for an asset and the fair value of the
consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the transaction date.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the separate financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

e Level 1-Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

¢ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire

measurement.

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 20.



Adoption of Amended PFRS Accounting Standards

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following relevant amended PFRS Accounting Standards effective for annual
periods beginning or after January 1, 2024:

¢ Amendments to PFRS 16 Accounting Standards, Leases - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback —
The amendments clarify that the liability that arises from a sale and leaseback transaction, that
satisfies the requirements in PFRS Accounting Standards 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, to be accounted for as a sale, is a lease liability to which PFRS Accounting
Standards 16 applies and give rise to a right-of-use asset. For the subsequent measurement,
the seller-lessee shall determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ in a way that the
seller-lessee would not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use
retained by the seller-lessee. Applying this subsequent measurement does not prevent the
seller-lessee from recognizing any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a
lease. Any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease does not relate to
the right of use retained but to the right of use terminated.

e Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Noncurrent Liabilities with
Covenants — The amendments clarified that covenants to be complied with after the reporting
date do not affect the classification of debt as current or noncurrent at the reporting date.
Instead, the amendments require the entity to disclose information about these covenants in
the notes to the financial statements.

¢ Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows and PFRS Accounting Standards 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Supplier Finance Arrangements — The amendments introduced new
disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements assess the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on the liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
amendments also provide transitional relief on certain aspects, particularly on the disclosures of
comparative information. Earlier application is permitted.

Under the prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing amended PFRS Accounting
Standards did not have any material effect on the separate financial statements of the Company.
Additional disclosures were included in the separate financial statements, as applicable.

Amended PFRS Accounting Standards in Issue but not yet Effective
Relevant amended PFRS Accounting Standards, which is not yet effective as at December 31, 2024

and has not been applied in preparing the separate financial statements, are summarized below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026:

¢ Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial instruments, and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets — The amendments clarify that a financial
liability is derecognized when the related obligation is discharged, cancelled, expires or
otherwise qualifies for derecognition (e.g. settlement date), and introduces a policy option to
derecognize financial liabilities settled through an electronic payment system before settlement
date if the required conditions are met. The amendments also clarify the assessment of
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets, the treatment of non-recourse loans and
contractually linked instruments, as well as require additional disclosure requirements for
financial assets and liabilities with contingent features and equity instruments classified at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Earlier application is permitted.



Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards Volume 11:

o Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures — The amendments update and
remove some obsolete references related to the gain or loss on derecognition on financial
assets of an entity that has a continuing involvement and to the disclosure requirements on
deferred differences between fair value and transaction price. The amendments also clarify
that the illustrative guidance does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements for credit
risk disclosure. Earlier application is permitted.

o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments — Transaction Price and Lessee Derecognition
of Lease Liabilities — The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with PFRS 9, the lessee must apply the
derecognition criteria for a financial liability which requires recognition of a gain or loss in
profit or loss. The amendments also replace the reference to ‘transaction price as defined by
PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ to ‘the amount determined by applying
PFRS 15’ to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.

o Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements - Determination of a ‘de facto
agent’ — The amendments remove inconsistencies by clarifying that an entity must use
judgment to determine whether other parties are acting as de facto agents. Earlier
application is permitted.

o Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Cost Method — The amendments replace
the term ‘cost method’ with ‘at cost’ following the deleticn of the definition of ‘cost
method’. Earlier application is permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027:

PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements — This standard replaces PAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements, and sets out the requirements for the presentation and
disclosure of information to help ensure that the financial statements provide relevant
information that faithfully represents the entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses. The standard introduces new categories and sub-totals in the statements of
comprehensive income, disclosures on management-defined performance measures, and new
principles for grouping of information, which the entity needs to apply retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted.

Deferred effectivity -

L ]

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investment in
Associates - Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
— The amendments address a conflicting provision under the two standards. It clarifies that a
gain or loss shall be recognized fully when the transaction involves a business, and partially if it
involves assets that do not constitute a business. The effective date of the amendments, initially
set for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, was deferred indefinitely in
December 2015 but earlier application is still permitted.

Under the prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing amended PFRS Accounting
Standards is not expected to have any material effect on the separate financial statements of the
Company. Additional disclosures will be included in the separate financial statements, as applicable.



Current versus Noncurrent Classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the separate statements of financial position based

on current and noncurrent classification.

An asset is current when it is: (a) expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the
normal operating cycle; (b) held primarily for the purpose of trading; (c) expected to be realized
within 12 months after the reporting period; or (d) cash or cash equivalent, unless restricted from
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
A liability is current when it is: (a) expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; (b) held
primarily for trading; (c) due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or (d) there
is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. The Company classifies all other assets and liabilities as noncurrent.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Date of Recognition. The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the separate
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and
derecognition, as applicable, is done using settlement date accounting.

Initial Recognition and Measurement. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value,
which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a
liability). The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value
through profit and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

“Day 1” Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In
cases where there is no observable data on inception, the Company deems the transaction price as
the best estimate of fair value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs
become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Company
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference.

Classification. The Company classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following
categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) financial assets at amortized cost and
(c) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Financial liabilities,
on the other hand, are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or financial liabilities at
amortized cost. The classification of a financial instrument largely depends on the Company’s
business model and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

As at December 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have financial assets at FVPL and FVOCI, and
financial liabilities at FVPL.



Financial Assets at Amortized Cost, A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

s the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for expected credit loss (ECL), if any.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process. Financial assets
at amortized cost are included under current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12
months after the reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s cash in banks, cash equivalents, trade
receivables, advances to subsidiaries and accrued interest receivable are classified under this
category.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of placement and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost. Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at
amortized cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having
an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of its own equity instruments.

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired or
through the amortization process.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s trade and other payables (excluding statutory
payables), bank loans and trust receipts payable, and lease liabilities are classified under this

category.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company recognizes an allowance for ECL on its financial assets at amortized cost.

Trade Receivables. The Company recognizes lifetime ECL which are estimated using a provision
matrix that is based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors, general economic condition and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where

appropriate.



Other Financial Instruments at Amortized Cost. The Company measures the ECL on its other financial
assets at amortized cost based on the 12-month ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECL
that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due
unless it is demonstrated that the non-payment was an administrative oversight rather than
resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external infermation indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows,

Reclassification

The Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model for
managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day of the
first reporting period following the change in the business model {reclassification date).

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income (OCl).

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

e the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

e the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

e the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the

asset.

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the continuing involvement of the Company in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Company could be required to repay.
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Financial Liabifities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognized in the separate statements of comprehensive income.

A modification is considered substantial if the present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including net fees paid or received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
different by at least 10% from the discounted present value of remaining cash flows of the original
liability. Net fees shall include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

The fair value of the modified financial liability is determined based on its expected cash flows,
discounted using the interest rate at which the Company could raise debt with similar terms and
conditions in the market. The difference between the carrying amount of the original liability and
fair value of the new liability is recognized in the separate statements of comprehensive income.

On the other hand, if the difference does not meet the 10% threshold, the original debt is not
extinguished but merely modified. In such case, the carrying amount is adjusted by the costs or fees
paid or received in the restructuring.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the separate
statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting
agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the separate statements
of financial position.

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

e Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;

e Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavorable to the Company; or

s Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). NRV represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs to sell. Cost of inventories includes all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred to bring the merchandise inventories to its present condition and
location. Cost is determined using moving average method. In determining the estimated selling
price less cost to sell, the Company considers any adjustment necessary for obsolescence.



When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the Company provides for an allowance for
the decline in the value of the inventory and recognizes the write-down as an expense in profit or
loss. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in NRV,
is recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as expense in the year in which
the reversal occurs.

Advances to Suppliers
Advances to suppliers consist of advance payments made to suppliers for the purchase of inventory.

Advances to suppliers are measured at the amount of cash paid. Advances to suppliers are applied
against billings upon receipt of inventory purchased.

Other Assets
Other assets include refundable lease deposits, prepayments and input value-added tax (VAT).

Refundable Lease Deposits. Refundable lease deposits pertain to deposits as required under the
lease agreements to cover for repairs on damaged leased properties, which are refundable at the
end of the lease term if unutilized. Refundable lease deposits are initially recorded at transaction
cost and subsequently measured at cost fess any impairment loss. Refundable lease deposits that
are expected to be realized for no more than 12 months after the financial reporting period are
classified as current assets. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

Prepayments. Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.
Prepayments are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid.
Subsequently, these are recognized in profit or loss as these are consumed in operations or expire
with the passage of time. Prepayments are classified in the separate statements of financial position
as current assets when the cost of goods or services related to the prepayment are expected to be
incurred within one year or the Company’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. Otherwise,
these are classified as noncurrent assets.

Property and Equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the supply of goods or for administrative purposes, transportation
equipment and other items of property and equipment are stated at cost. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent expenditures relating to an
item of property and equipment that has already been recognized are added to the carrying amount
of the asset when it is probable that future economic henefits, in excess of the originally assessed
standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Company. All other subsequent
expenditures are recognized as expenses in profit or loss in the period in which those are incurred.

Properties in the course of construction for supply or administrative purposes, or fer purposes not
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes contractor
fees and other construction costs; and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in
accordance with the Company’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, determined on the
same basis as other items of property and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

Land is not depreciated and subsequently measured at cost less impairment loss, if any. Building and
building improvements, leasehold improvements, store furniture and equipment, transportation
equipment, and furniture and fixtures are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation, amortization and any impairment losses.
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Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of property and equipment as follows:

Number of Years

Building and building improvements 20-25

Leasehold improvements 3 years or the term of lease
whichever is shorter

Store furniture and equipment 3-5

Transportation equipment 5

Furniture and fixtures 3

The estimated useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically
to ensure that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Fully depreciated and amortized assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use
and no further depreciation and amortization are credited or charged to operations.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Investments in Subsidiaries

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are carried in the separate statements of financial
position at cost, less any impairment in value. A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company has
control.

An investor controis an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee.

Control is presumed to exist when the Company holds between more than 50% percent of the
voting power of another entity.

When the Company has less than majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

e the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
e rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and
e the Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

The investment is derecognized when it is sold or disposed of. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an investment in a subsidiary are measured as the difference between the net
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized.
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the nonfinancial

assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. The fair value less cost to
sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction. Value in use
is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an
asset from its disposal at the end of its useful life. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
written down to its recoverable amount. Any impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but shall
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which
has been recognized for the asset in prior years.

IPO Costs

IPO costs include registration and other regulatory fees, amounts paid to legal, accounting and other
professional advisers, printing costs and stamp duties, among others. The transaction costs in
issuing the Company’s own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from equity to the
extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise
would have been avoided. The costs of an equity transaction that is abandoned are recognized as an
expense.

Capital Stock
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.

Additional Paid-in Capital (APIC)

APIC represents the excess of proceeds or fair value of the consideration received over the par value
of the shares issued net of directly attributable stock issuance costs.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of the Company’s results of operations, net of

any dividend declaration.

Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to stockholders is deducted from retained earnings in the year the dividends

are declared and approved.
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Other Comprehensive Income {Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) pertains to the accumulated remeasurement gain or loss on the
Company’s retirement liability arising from experience adjustments and changes in financial
assumptions. Remeasurements of retirement liability, and the corresponding deferred tax
component, are recognized immediately in OCI and presented as a separate line item within equity.
These are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income for the year by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends declared
and share split. If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as a
result of a capitalization, bonus issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a reverse share split,
the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods presented shall be adjusted
retrospectively. If these changes occur after the reporting period but before the separate financial
statements are authorized for issue, the per share calculations for those and any prior period
separate financial statements presented shall be based on the new number of shares.

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Where the EPS effect of potential dilutive ordinary shares would be anti-dilutive, basic and diluted
EPS are stated at the same amount.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the
contract has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Revenue is recognized over time if
one of the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits as the Company perform its obligations; (b} the Company’'s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or {c) the
Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the
Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise,
revenue is recognized at a point in time. The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to
determine if it is acting as a principal or as an agent.

The Company has assessed that it acts as a principal in all of its revenue sources. Moreover,
the Company generates its revenues from sale of goads which are recognized at a point in time.

Net Sales. Revenue is recognized upon delivery or pick up of goods and measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and trade discounts,

For revenue from other sources, the following specific recognition criteria must be met before
revenue is recoghized:

interest Income. Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using the effective interest
method.

Other Income. Income is recognized when earned.

Cost and Expense Recognition
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits

related to a decrease in asset or an increase in liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.
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Cost of Sales. Cost of sales is recognized as expense when the significant risk and rewards of
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount of cost can be measured reliably,
which is normally upon transfer of goods to the buyer.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses constitute costs of administering the business, and the
costs of selling and marketing the inventories for sale. These are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other financing costs that the Company incurs in connection

with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the development of the
Company’s projects that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when activities to prepare the
asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are
complete. All other borrowing costs are recognized as expense in the period these are incurred
based on the effective interest method.

Leases

The Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified assets for a period of time, the Company
assesses whether, throughout the period of use, it has both of the following:

i. the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset;
and

ii. the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

If the Company has the right to control the use of an identified asset for only a portion of the term
of the contract, the contract contains a lease for that portion of the term.

The Company also assesses whether a contract contains a lease for each potential lease component.

The Company as a Lessee. At the commencement date, the Company recognizes ROU assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for leases with lease terms of 12 months or less (short-term
leases) and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value in which case the lease payments
associated with those leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis.

ROU Assets. At commencement date, the Company measures ROU assets at cost. The cost
comprises:

i. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

ii. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

fii. any initial direct costs; and

iv. an estimation of costs to be incurred by the Company in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, when applicable.
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The ROU assets are recognized at the present value of the liability at the commencement date of
the lease, adding any directly attributable costs. After the commencement date, the ROU assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the related lease liabilities. The ROU assets are amortized over the lease
terms ranging from more than one (1) year to three (3) years. The ROU assets are assessed for
impairment at reporting date if there is any indication that the carrying amount will not be
recovered through continued use.

Lease Liabilities. At commencement date, the Company measures a lease liability at the present
value of future lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. Otherwise, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of a lease liability comprise the following:

i. fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

ii. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

iii. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; and

iv. the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise;
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option; and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

A lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest on the lease liability and any
variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liability are recognized in profit
or loss unless these are capitalized as costs of another asset. Variable lease payments not included
in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in profit or loss when the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

If there is a change in the lease term or if there is a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, the lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
considering the revised lease payments on the basis of the revised lease term or reflecting the
change in amounts payable under the purchase option. The lease liability is also remeasured using
the revised lease payments if there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee or a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
a rate used to determine those payments.

Employee Benefits

Short-term Benefits. The Company recognizes a liability for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that

service.

Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Retirement Benefits. The Company has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan
covering all qualified employees. The retirement expense is determined using the projected unit
credit method which reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and
incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.
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The Company recognizes service costs, comprising of current service costs and interest cost, in profit
or loss. Interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the retirement liability.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding interest on retirement liability) are recognized immediately in OCI in the period in
which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The retirement liability, which is the present value of the retirement liability on which the
obligations are to be settled directly, is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the
terms of the related retirement liability.

Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognized in the
separate financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined
at the reporting date.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

Transactions in currencies other than Peso are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in profit or loss for the year.

Related Party Relationships and Transactions

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or
among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or
among the reporting enterprises and their key management personnel, directors, or its
stockholders. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. An entity is also related to the
Company when it directly or indirectly, through .one or more intermediaries, controls, or is
controlled by, or is under common control with the Company.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged. Transactions with related parties are accounted for at
arm’s length prices or terms similar to those offered to non-related entities in an eccnomically
comparable market.

Related party transactions are considered material and/or significant if, individually or in aggregate
over a twelve (12)-month period with the same related party, these transactions amount to 10% or
higher of the Company’s total assets.

Income Tax

Current Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognized in OC| or directly in equity respectively.

VAT
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

« where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and,

« receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The amount of VAT recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is presented as “Input
VAT” under “Other current assets” account or included as part of “Statutory payables” under “Trade
and other payables” account in the separate statements of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions, if any, are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an
insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or
loss net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pretax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as finance costs. Provisions are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.
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Contingencies
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognized in the separate financial statements. Contingent

liabilities are disclosed in the notes to separate financial statements unless the possibility of an
outflow of resaurces embodying economic benefit is remote. Contingent assets are disclosed in the
notes to separate financial statements when inflows of economic benefits are probable.

Events after the Reporting Date .
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s financial position at

reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the separate financial statements. Post year-end
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to separate financial statements
when material.

Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

In applying the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments
(other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized
and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The judgment and estimates used in the financial
statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the
reporting date. While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and apprepriate,
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may
materially affect the estimated amounts.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgments
The critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the management has made and

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the separate financial statements
are discussed below.

Classifying Financial Instruments. The Company classifies a financial instrument, or its components,
on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a
financial liability or an equity instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its
legal form, governs its classification in the Company’s separate statements of financial position.

Determining Control over Investee Companies. Control is presumed to exist when an investor is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company has assessed that it has
control over iStudio and UG! by virtue of its majority share in ownership interest representing 52%
and 90%, respectively. The information about the investment in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 9.
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Classifying Lease Commitments - Company as a Lessee. The Company has entered into commercial
property leases for its office, stores, advertisement and warehouse spaces. For the Company’s
non-cancellable lease, the Company recognizes ROU assets and lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term using the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate. The Company availed exemption for short-term leases with term of 12 months or
less. Accordingly, lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Assessing the Renewal Options of Lease Agreements. The Company's lease agreements contain
renewal options that is exercisable upon the mutual agreement of the Company and the lessors. The
Company makes an assessment, at the commencement of the lease, whether it is reasonably certain
that the renewal options will be exercised by the Company and will be agreed to by the lessors
under the circumstances. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has assessed that it is
not reasonably certain that the renewal options will be mutually agreed by the Company and the
lessors. As a result, the renewal options in the lease agreements were not considered in determining
the lease term of the agreements.

Determining the Appropriate Discount Rate for Lease Payments. The Company’s ROU assets and
lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the Company considered readily available interest rate implicit in the
lease agreements, interest rate on its borrowings and the term of each lease commitment.
The Company determined that the implicit rate in the lease agreements is not readily available.
The Company used the incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of ROU assets
and lease liabilities.

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimate at reporting date, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next reporting period are discussed below.

Assessing the ECL on Trade Receivables. The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring
ECL on trade receivables which uses a lifetime ECL allowance using a provision matrix. Depending on
the diversity of its debtor’s base, the Company uses its historical credit loss experience adjusted for
forward-looking factors, as applicable.

The Company has assessed that the ECL on trade receivables are not material as these pertain
mainly to receivables from credit card companies and reputable third parties which are generally
collected within three (3) to thirty (30) days from the date of transaction. No ECL was recognized for
trade receivables in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 5.

Assessing the ECL on Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. The Company determines the
allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost using the general approach based on
the probability-weighted estimate of the present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of
financial assets. The provision for ECL recognized during the period is limited to 12 months ECL
because the Company’s other financial assets at amortized cost are considered to have low credit
risk. When there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECL.
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The information about the ECL on the Company’s other financial assets at amortized cost,
comprising of cash in banks, cash equivalents, advances to subsidiaries and accrued interest
receivable, is disclosed in Note 19 to the separate financial statements. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s cash in banks and cash equivalents, advances to subsidiaries and accrued interest
receivable as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Notes 4 and 5, respectively.

Estimating the NRV of Inventories. The NRV of inventories represents the estimated selling price for
the asset less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The Company determines the
estimated selling price based on the recent sale transactions of similar goods with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date the transactions occurred. The Company
writes down the carrying amount of inventory for the excess of carrying amount over its NRV or fair
value less cost to sell. While the Company believes that the estimates are reasonable and
appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in estimates may
materially affect the profit or loss and equity.

The carrying amounts of inventories as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Note 6.
No inventories were written off in 2024, 2023 and 2022. Provision for inventory cbsclescence
amounted to R7.6 million, £2.9 million and B24.8 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Allowance for inventory obsolescence amounted to R59.4 million and £51.8 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Estimating the Useful Lives of ROU Assets and Property and Equipment. The useful lives of the
Company's ROU assets and property and equipment (except land and construction in progress) are
estimated based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The
estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other
limits on the use of the Company's ROU assets and property and equipment. In addition, the
estimation of the useful lives is based on the Company’s collective assessment of industry practice,
internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes
in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of
ROU assets and property and equipment would increase the recognized expenses and decrease
noncurrent assets.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of property and equipment and
ROU assets are disclosed in Notes 8 and 17, respectively. There were no changes in the estimated
useful lives of these property and equipment and ROU assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Assessing the Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets. The Company is required to perform an
impairment assessment when certain impairment indicators are present. Determining the value in
use of nonfinancial assets requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated
from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets. Future events could cause the
Company to conclude that nonfinancial assets are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position and financial performance.
While the Company believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant
changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and may
lead to future impairment charges.
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s nonfinancial assets which includes property and equipment,
ROU assets, other assets, investment in subsidiaries, and advances (presented under “Trade and
other receivables” account in the statements of financial position) are disclosed in Notes 5, 7, 8, 9
and 17.

There were no impairment loss recognized on nonfinancial assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Estimating Retirement Liability. The determination of the retirement liability and expense is
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by the actuary in calculating such amounts.
Actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and are recognized in OCI.
While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect
the retirement liability. -

The carrying amounts of retirement liability, retirement expense and the assumptions used in
calculating such amounts, which include among others, discount rates and expected rates of salary
increase, are disclosed in Note 16.

Assessing the Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets. The Company reviews the carrying amounts at
the end of each reporting period and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets
to be utilized. However, there is no assurance that the Company will generate sufficient taxable
profit to allow all or part of its deferred tax assets to be utilized.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets recognized in the separate statements of financial
position are disclosed in Note 18.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2024 2023
Cash on hand R2,573,808 £2,365,464
Cash in banks 499,828,681 558,508,038
Cash equivalents 301,451,505 800,000,000

£803,853,994 R1,360,873,502

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates which are readily available for use.
Cash equivalents pertain to time deposit with maturity term of three months and earns interest
ranging from 5.25% to 6.00% per annum in 2024 and 2023.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the cash and cash equivalents include the unapplied IPO
proceeds amounting to R590.6 million and £983.0 million, respectively (see Note 12).



Details of interest income are as follows {see Note 14):

2024 2023 2022

Cash in banks R2,724,611 £680,425 B544,189
Cash equivalents 24,355,366 46,130,659 -
R27,079,977 246,811,084 R544,189

Accrued interest receivable from cash equivalents amounted to 2.1 million and 9.3 million as at

December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 5).

Trade and Other Receivables

This account consists of;

Note 2024 2023
Trade R206,096,822 134,936,141
Advances to:
Stockholder 15 31,791,848 31,791,848
Subsidiaries 15 4,472,998 -
Suppliers 3,033,601 3,308,220
Officers and employees 1,904,918 1,763,413
Accrued interest receivable 4 2,074,167 9,258,082
R249,374,354 £181,057,704

Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and are generally settled within three to 30 days after the

reporting period. No ECL was recognized for trade receivables in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Advances to suppliers pertain to advance payments for purchases of inventory and are immediately

applied against billings for inventory delivered.

Advances to officers and employees are noninterest-bearing advances subject to liquidation and are

generally liquidated in the subsequent period.

Inventories

This account consists of:

2024 2023

At cost:
Computers and peripherals R2,626,016,085 R1,953,012,515
Accessories 672,749,743 589,958,494
Mobile phones 613,020,205 519,145,107
Printers and scanners 340,011,731 251,766,243
Consumables 94,627,582 88,712,318
4,346,425,346  3,402,594,677
Less allowance for inventory obsolescence (59,414,868) (51,768,993)

At net realizable value

R4,287,010,478 P3,350,825,684
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Movements in the allowance for inventory obsolescence are as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year 51,768,993 £48,852,617 p24,010,717
Provision for inventory

obsolescence 13 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900

Balance at end of year #59,414,868 £51,768,993 £48,852,617

The Company’s inventories are stated at NRV as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Under the terms of agreements, merchandise inventories amounting to £2,583.1 million and
£2,036.0 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are covered by trust receipts
issued by local banks (see Note 11}.

Cost of inventories sold during the period follows:

2024 2023 2022
Inventories at beginning of year R3,302,594,677 #£2,715,412,086 P2,031,284,953
Purchases 9,733,576,020 8,620,161,060  7,966,926,194
Cost of goods available for sale 13,136,170,697 11,335,573,146 9,998,211,147
Less inventories at end of year (4,346,425,346) (3,402,594,677) (2,715,412,086)

P8,789,745,351 £7,932,978,469 B7,282,799,061

7. Other Assets

This account includes:

Note 2024 2023
Refundable lease deposits 17 239,001,135 £213,463,543
Prepayments 4,468,580 3,685,777
input VAT - 2,890,144

243,469,715 220,039,464

Less noncurrent portion of refundable lease
deposits 77,828,402 59,723,407

R165,641,313 £160,316,057

Prepayments pertain to advance payment of rent under short-term leases and business permits.
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Construction in progress represents the accumulated costs incurred in the construction of a
warehouse and additional stores which are expected to be completed in 2025. As at
December 31, 2024, the estimated total cost to complete the warehouse and store branches
amounted to P25.5 million. In 2024 and 2023, borrowing costs amounting to R9.0 million and
P11.1 million were capitalized. Capitalization rate used in 2024 and 2023 were 7.74% and 5.69%,
respectively (see Note 11). The capitalized borrowing costs were presented as non-cash financial
information in the separate statements of cash flows.

The Company’s building with a carrying amount of ®157.7 million and R164.9 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, was used as collateral for a related party’s outstanding
loan with a local bank (see Note 15).

Fully depreciated property and equipment still being used by the Company amounted to
£322.2 million and P123.7 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization are recognized from:

Note 2024 2023 2022
ROU assets 17 R293,297,883 R208,427,954 P178,152,909
Property and equipment 112,874,056 100,647,058 102,677,430

R406,171,939 £309,075,012 P280,830,339

Depreciation and amortization are charged to the following (see Note 13):

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses R317,739,853 R219,442,677 208,411,535
General and administrative expenses 88,432,086 89,632,335 72,418,804

R406,171,939 2309,075,012 £280,830,339

Investments in Subsidiaries
In 2024, the Company incorporated the following subsidiaries:

Subscription

Effective Ownership Amount Subscribed Payable

Percentage {Par value at 1) (see Note 10}

iStudio Technologies Philippines Corp. 52% £26,000,000 -
Upson Global Inc. 90% 89,999,995 39,999,995
B115,999,995 £39,999,995

The principal places of business of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Company Name Registered Business Address

iStudio Technologies Philippines Corp. 101 ACE Building, Rada Street Legaspi, Village San
Lorenzo, Fourth District, Makati City

Upson Global Inc. Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1, Sth Avenue
corner 34th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

All of the subsidiaries are incorporated and registered in the Philippines.
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10. Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

Note 2024 2023

Trade R857,673,987 FR1,256,409,554
Subscription payable 9 39,999,995 -
Statutory payables 27,043,109 18,219,072
Accrued expenses 7,415,921 17,203,355
Retention payables 5,678,831 3,112,053
Advances from a related party 15 - 25,403,485
Others 5,584,099 2,495,665
R943,395,942 £1,322,843,184

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing, unsecured and payable in cash within 90 days.

Statutory payables include VAT payable, withholding taxes payable and payables to other

government agencies which are normally settled in the following month.

Accrued expenses pertain to interests, contracted and other services, professional fees and utilities

which are settled within the next reporting period.

Retention payables pertain to the amounts retained by the Company from payments to contractors
for the construction contracts. These are deducted as a percentage of the amount certified as due to

the contractor and paid upon final acceptance of the constructed property.

Others pertain to refundable customer deposits and other nontrade payables.

11.

Bank Loans and Trust Receipts Payable

Movements in this account are as follows:

2024
Bank Loans Trust Receipts Total
Balance at beginning of year R916,666,667 £850,947,198 R1,767,613,865
Availments 300,000,000 2,583,052,863 2,883,052,863
Payments - (2,147,709,079) (2,147,709,079)
Balance at end of year R1,216,666,667 PR1,285,290,982 R2,502,957,649
2023
Bank Loans Trust Receipts Total
Balance at beginning of year P641,666,667 B1,092,978,146 R1,734,644,813
Availments 575,000,000 2,036,018,632 2,611,018,632
Payments (300,000,000} (2,278,049,580) (2,578,048,580)
Balance at end of year P916,666,667 £850,947,198 R1,767,613,865
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the bank loans and trust receipts have terms of three months to
one year, subject to refinancing upon approval of the creditor bank. Bank loans were obtained for
working capital purposes and to finance ongoing construction of the Company. Trust receipts were
obtained to finance the purchase of inventories. Interest rates on the bank loans and trust receipts
range from 5.63% to 8.00% in 2024 and 4.88% to 9.25% in 2023.

Trust Receipts
Under the terms of agreements, merchandise inventories amounting to #2,583.1 million and

£2,036.0 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were covered by trust receipts
issued by local banks (see Note 6).

Covenants

As at December 31, 2022, the Company was compliant with loan covenants which include, among
others, (1) not entering into any partnership or joint venture or commence a new business; sell,
lease, transfer or otherwise dispose all or substantially all of its assets; or voluntary suspend its
business operations or work or dissolve its affairs; and (2) entering into management contracts
and/or make any major policy change. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s bank
loans are no longer subject to loan covenants.

Details of finance costs charged to operations are as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022

Interest on bank loans 268,590,006 £51,534,693 R16,295,368

Interest on trust receipts 63,929,788 68,676,271 47,067,120
Accretion of interest on lease

liabilities 17 28,958,671 14,358,173 10,784,915

161,478,465 134,569,137 74,147,403

Less capitalized borrowing cost 8 (9,042,488) (11,074,116) -

R152,435,977 R123,495,021 R74,147,403

In 2024 and 2023, borrowing costs amounting to 29.0 million and R11.1 million, respectively, were
capitalized. Capitalization rate used in 2024 and 2023 were 7.74% and 5.69%, respectively.
(see Note 8). No finance costs were capitalized in 2022. Accrued interest payable presented under
“Accrued expenses” in the “Trade and other payables” account in the separate statements of
financial position amounted to 1.8 million and 23.8 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively (see Note 22).

12.

Equity

Capital Stock

The Company’s capital stock comprises of common shares with par value of 20.20 a share as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Details of capital stock follow:

2024 2023 2022
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Authorized
Balance at beginning of year 6,250,000,000 ®1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 £1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000 R1,250,000,000
Effect of share split - - - - 5,000,000,000 -

Balance at end of year 6,250,000,000 B1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 £1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 #1,250,000,000
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2024 2023 2022
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Issued and outstanding
Balance at beginning of year 3,125,001,300 R625,000,260  2,500,000,300  R500,000,060 500,000,000  R500,000,000

Effect of share split - - - - 2,000,000,000 -
Issuance - - 625,001,000 125,000,200 300 60
Balance at end of year 3,125,001,300 P625,000,260 3,125,001,300  E625,000,260  2,500,000,300 _ R500,000,060

On December 17, 2021, the SEC approved the increase in the Company’s authorized capital stock
from 500,000,000 shares at R1 par value a share, or equivalent to 2500.0 million, to 1,250,000,000
shares at the same par value, or equivalent to R1,250.0 million, pursuant to the IPO plan.
Of the increase, 232,500,000 shares at 1 par value a share, or equivalent to 232.5 million, were
subscribed and paid by the stockholders (see Note 1).

On April 12, 2022, the SEC approved the amendments to the Company’s articles of incorporation
which included a five-to-one share split where one share at 21 par value a share will be converted to
five shares at R0.20 par value a share pursuant to the public offering of the Company’s shares
(see Note 1).

In 2022, the Company issued 300 shares at a par value of R0.20 a share, or equivalent to 260,
which were paid in cash.

On April 3, 2023, the Company completed the IPO of its 625,001,000 common shares at an offer
price of B2.40 a share (see Note 1). The net proceeds from the [PO amounting to 21,401.8 million,
net of offer expenses of #98.2 million, were intended for the Company’s store network expansion
and store improvement program. The unapplied proceeds as at December 31, 2024 and 2023
amounting to #590.6 million and #983.0 million, respectively, are maintained in the Company’s cash
in bank and cash equivalents (see Note 4).

Pursuant to the PSE's rufes on minimum public ownership, at least 20% of the issued and
outstanding shares of a listed company must be owned and held by the public. Public ownership
over the Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 were 21.74%.

Additional paid-in capital, which represents the excess of the offer price over the par value of the
shares issued, net of directly attributable stock issuance costs of £69.7 million, amounted to
£1,305.3 million.

Details of the additional paid-in capital are as follows:

. Amount

Additional paid-in capital R1,375,002,200
Less stock issuance costs:

Underwriting and selling fees 49,107,219

Professional fees 15,332,630

Others 5,254,303

R1,305,308,048
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Retained Earnings
Under Section 43 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines, stock corporations are

prohibited from retaining surplus profits in excess of one hundred (100%) percent of paid-in capital
except when justified by corporate expansion projects and when it is necessary for special reserve
for probable contingencies, among others. The Company’s paid-in capital (including additional
paid-in capital) amounted to B1,930.3 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, while the
unappropriated retained earnings of the Company amounted to #1,172.5 million and 2800.5 million
as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Dividend Declaration
Details of the cash dividends declared by the Company in 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Date of BOD approval  Stockholders of record  Dividend per share Amount

February 28, 2024 March 13, 2024 R0.06 R187,500,078
July 12, 2023 July 26, 2023 0.04 138,000,057
November 15, 2022 September 30, 2022 0.16 390,000,000

No dividends payable were outstanding as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Appropriations

On March 24, 2023, the BOD approved the appropriation of retained earnings amounting to
P78.0 million for the construction of a warehouse. The completion of the construction of the
warehouse was extended to 2024. On November 9, 2023, the BOD approved the retention of the
appropriation. On March 21, 2024, the BOD approved the reversal of retained earnings
appropriated for the construction of a warehouse amounting to 78.0 million.

13.

Operating Expenses

This account consists of:

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses R1,536,737,137 B1,338,813,250 #1,235,717,334
General and administrative expenses 358,560,980 337,167,179 294,386,414
R1,895,298,117 P1,675,980,429 £1,530,103,748
Selling and marketing expenses consist of:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Merchant discount R387,586,919 R304,859,917 R296,226,878
Personnel costs 335,930,239 296,953,998 289,705,675
Depreciation and amortization 8 317,739,853 219,442,677 208,411,535
Rent 17 192,597,459 251,986,409 197,986,410
Utilities 144,680,104 131,221,218 116,674,928
Contracted and other services 128,633,091 97,759,776 65,315,214
Freight and delivery 11,832,447 14,765,157 13,854,500

Provision for inventory
obsolescence 6 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900
Advertising 5,606,883 15,129,392 19,382,030
Retirement expense 16 4,484,267 3,778,330 3,318,264
R1,536,737,137 21,338,813,250 R1,235,717,334
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General and administrative expenses consist of:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Personnel costs R102,448,544 R97,505,755 P84,115,846
Depreciation and amortization 8 88,432,086 89,632,335 72,418,804
Taxes and licenses 76,695,357 61,079,416 56,505,615

Repairs, warranties and
maintenance 18,945,525 12,504,093 15,774,826
Transportation and travel 16,132,177 12,156,859 10,687,695
Stationery and supplies 15,072,921 13,635,938 11,333,539
Representation 14,584,295 8,301,601 8,881,915
Professional fees 7,900,369 8,088,818 9,886,794
Insurance 6,267,605 7,817,667 4,986,726
Retirement expense 16 1,367,565 1,240,626 963,456
IPO expense - 16,546,052 8,273,027
Rent 17 - 492,696 4,472,060
Others 10,714,536 8,165,323 6,086,111
R358,560,980 £337,167,179 R294,386,414

Personnel costs consist of:
2024 2023 2022
Salaries and wages PR386,116,397 P346,795,528 £322,011,067
Other employee benefits 52,262,386 47,664,225 51,810,454
P438,378,783 B394,459,753 £373,821,521

i4. Other Income
This account consists of:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Interest income 4 R27,079,977 P46,811,084 R544,189
Net foreign exchange gain 8,828,916 7,472,929 7,021,758
Gain on lease modification 17 70,171 102,070 -
Gain on lease concessions 17 - - 17,500,079
Other income 305,323,279 251,696,272 117,008,318
£341,302,343 306,082,355 R142,074,344

Other income mainly pertains to income from product advertising or promotional support from
suppliers.
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15. Related Party Transactions

The Company has transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Nature of Transactions during the Year Outstanding Balance
Transaction 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023
Trade and Other Receivables
[see Note 5)
Advances for business
Stockholder development expenses R- £31,791,848 £- P31,791,848 31,791,848
Subsidiaries Advances 4,472,998 - - 4,472,998 -
Sales 206,145 - - - -

R36,264,846 831,791,848

Trade and Other Payables
(see Note 10)

Entity under common Advances from a related

control party R B - P- R25,403,485
Subsidiaries Subscription payable 115,999,995 - : - 39,999,995 -

®39,999,995 #25,403,485

Lease Arrangement

(see Note 17)
Entity under common ROU asset amortization {R66,071,327) (R68,963,541) (R56,663,023) P64,809,956 18,764,032

control Lease liability payment {70,480,200) (68,402,482) (60,565,286) 67,095,962 19,350,782

Gain on lease modification (70,171) - - - -

Terms and Conditions

Advances to a Stockholder
Advances to a stockholder are unsecured noninterest-bearing advances for ordinary travel or business
expenses which are subsequently liquidated.

Advances to Subsidiaries
Advances to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing, due and demandable and are settled
in cash.

Advances from a Related Party
Advances from a related party are unsecured, non-interest bearing, due and demandable and are
settled in cash.

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables
as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company has not recognized any expected credit loss on
amounts due from related parties in 2024, 2023 and 2022. This assessment is undertaken each
financial year through a review of the financial position of the related parties and the market in
which the related parties operate.

The Company’s building with a carrying amount of R157.7 million and R164.9 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, was used as collateral for a related party’s outstanding
loan with a local bank (see Note 8).

Revenue Regulation on Related Party Transactions
The Company is covered by the requirements and procedures for related party transactions under
Revenue Regulation No. 34-2020.




-31-

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Company are set out below:

2024 2023 2022

Short-term employee benefits R6,853,860 £6,853,860 £6,853,860
Post-employment benefits 665,628 665,628 298,574
R7,519,488 £7,519,488 £7,152,434

16.

Retirement Liability

The Company has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan covering substantially all
qualified employees. The retirement liability is based on years of service and compensation based
on the last year of employment as determined by an external actuary. The latest actuarial valuation
was dated December 31, 2024.

There are no unusual or significant risks to which the retirement liability exposes the Company.
However, in the event a benefit claim arises under the retirement liability, the benefit shall
immediately be due and payable by the Company.

Retirement expense recognized in the separate statements of comprehensive income is as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Current service cost £3,255,830 22,544,484 R2,627,547
Interest cost 2,596,002 2,474,472 1,654,173
£5,851,832 £5,018,956 24,281,720

Retirement expense is charged to the following (see Note 13):

2024 2023 2022

Selling and marketing expenses R4,484,267 23,778,330 £3,318,264
General and administrative expenses 1,367,565 1,240,626 963,456
R5,851,832 £5,018,956 P4,281,720

The movements in retirement liability recognized in the separate statements of financial position
are as follows:

2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year R41,870,993 R33,438,809
Current service cost 3,255,830 2,544,484
Interest cost 2,596,002 2,474,472
Remeasurement losses (gains) from:
Changes in financial assumptions 597,575 5,695,765
Experience adjustments 301,346 (2,282,537)

Balance at end of year $48,621,746 £41,870,993
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2024

Accumulated

Accumulated

Remeasurement Deferred Tax Remeasurement
Losses (see Note 18) Losses, Net of Tax
Balance at beginning of year R9,086,274 (R2,271,569) R6,814,705
Remeasurement loss 898,921 (224,730) 674,191
Balance at end of year £9,085,195 {R2,496,299) R7,488,896
2023

Accumulated

Accumulated

Remeasurement Deferred Tax Remeasurement

Losses (see Note 18) Losses, Net of Tax

Balance at beginning of year B5,673,046 (R1,418,262) P4,254,784

Remeasurement loss 3,413,228 (853,307) 2,559,921

Balance at end of year £9,086,274 (R2,271,569) £6,814,705
2022

Accumulated

Accumulated

Remeasurement Deferred Tax Remeasurement

Losses (Gains} (see Note 18) Losses, Net of Tax

Balance at beginning of year B8,326,975 (P2,081,744) £6,245,231
Remeasurement gain (2,653,929) 663,482 (1,990,447)
Balance at end of year R5,673,046 (R1,418,262) £4,254,784

Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan

s [nterest Rate Risks. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using
a discount rate determined by reference to market yields of government bonds.
Generally, a decrease in the interest rate of a reference government bonds will increase the plan
obligation.

e longevity and Salary Risks. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by
reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the plan participants both during and after
their employment, and to their future salaries. Consequently, increases in the life expectancy
and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan obligation.

The assumptions used to determine retirement liability are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Discount rate 6.10% 6.20% 7.40%
Salary increase rate 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
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The sensitivity analyses based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions as at

December 31, 2024 follow:

Effect on Present Value
Basis Points of Retirement Liability

Discount rate +100 . (B5,515,205)
-100 6,624,033

Salary increase rate +100 6,512,023
-100 (5,517,212)

The sensitivity analysis above have heen determined based on a method that extrapolates the
impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period.

The Company does not maintain a fund for its retirement liability. While funding is not a
requirement of the law, there is a risk that the Company may not have the cash if several employees
retire within the same year.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan at the end of the reporting period is
15 years.

As at December 31, 2024, the expected future benefit payments are as follows:

Amount
More than 1 year to 5 years R12,228,495
More than 5 years to 10 years 10,908,678
10 years and up 378,881,051

17.

Lease Commitments

Company as Lessee - Short-term Lease
The Company leases certain office, store and advertisement spaces for a period of less than
one (1) year at a fixed rental based on agreement with the lessors.

Total rent expense on short-term leases is charged to the following (see Note 13):

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses R192,597,459 251,986,409 R197,986,410
General and administrative expenses - 492,696 4,472,060

®192,597,459 252,479,105 202,458,470

Company as Lessee - Long-term Lease

The Company has non-cancellable lease agreements with a related party and third parties for its
warehouse, office, parking lots and store spaces for more than 12 months for which ROU assets and
corresponding lease liabilities are recognized.
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ROU Assets
The balance of and movements in ROU assets are as follows:
Note 2024 2023

Cost
Balance at beginning of year R1,250,321,423 #£1,017,780,596
Additions 432,446,574 232,869,169
Effect of lease modification {1,859,580) (328,342)
Balance at end of year 1,680,908,417 1,250,321,423
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of year 974,894,570 766,466,616
Amortization 8 293,297,883 208,427,954
Balance at end of year 1,268,192,453 974,894,570
Carrying Amount R412,715,964 R275,426,853

Lease Liabilities

The balance and movements in lease liabilities are as follows:

Note 2024 2023

Balance at beginning of year R275,193,672 £250,610,778
Additions 432,361,074 230,774,915
Payments (338,228,111) {220,119,782)
Accretion 11 28,958,671 14,358,173
Effect of lease modification (1,929,751) (430,412)
Balance at end of year 396,355,555 275,193,672
Current portion 299,800,547 147,320,374
Noncurrent portion R96,555,008 £127,873,298

Incremental borrowing rate ranging from 3.4% to 7% was applied to determine the discounted

amount of lease liabilities in 2024 and 2023.

In 2024 and 2023, the Company has pre-terminated lease agreements resulting to a gain on lease

modification of R0.1 million (see Note 14).

Gain on lease concessions pertains to the difference between contractual lease payments and the

payments made under lease concession agreements directly attributable to COVID-19. Gains related

to lease concessions amounted to R17.5 million in 2022 (see Note 14). There were no gains on lease

concession recognized in 2024 and 2023.

The future minimum lease payments and present value as at December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Minimum
Lease Payments Present Value
Not later than one year P£316,454,955 £299,800,547
Later than one year but not more than five years 98,306,282 96,555,008
414,761,237 B396,355,555




Rent related expense recognized in the statements of comprehensive income are as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022

ROU assets amortization 8 293,297,883 R208,427,954 R178,152,909

Short-term leases 13 192,597,459 252,479,105 202,458,470
Accretion of interest on lease

liabilities 11 28,958,671 14,358,173 10,784,915

514,854,013 £475,265,232 £391,396,294

Total cash outflow for leases, including short-term leases, amounted to £530.8 million,

2472.6 million and R383.1 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Refundable Lease Deposits

Lease deposits, which are refundable at the end of the lease term if unutilized, aggregate

£239.0 million and R213.5 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively {see Note 7).

18. Income Taxes

The provision for current income tax pertains to regular corporate income tax (RCIT) in 2024, 2023

and 2022.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the statutory tax rate to provision for income tax as

shown in the separate statements of comprehensive income is as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Income tax computed at the statutory
tax rate R158,811,323 R145,996,734 £179,251,315
Adjustment for:
Interest income already subjected
- to final tax (6,769,994) (11,702,771) (136,047}
Nondeductible expenses 1,692,498 2,925,692 34,013
Expenses charged to APIC (17,423,538) -

R153,733,827

R119,756,117

R179,149,281

The Company’s net deferred tax assets in the separate statements of financial position consist of the

following:

Note 2024 2023
Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for inventory obsolescence R14,853,717 12,942,248
Retirement liability:
Profit or loss 9,659,138 8,196,180
ocCl 16 2,496,299 2,271,569
27,009,154 23,409,897
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Capitalized borrowing cost {5,029,151) (2,768,529)
Excess of ROU asset over lease liability {4,090,102) (58,295)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - (1,522,269)
(9,119,253} (4,349,093)
R17,889,901 £19,060,904
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19. Financial Risk Management

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company’s business activities expose it to certain financial risks which includes credit risk,
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Company’s overall risk management program seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The BOD reviews
and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
a financial loss to the Company. Financial assets that potentially subject the Company to credit risk
consist primarily of cash in banks, cash equivalents, accrued interest receivables and trade

receivables.

Risk Management. To manage credit risk, the Company deals only with reputable banks and
creditworthy third parties. Sales to retail customers are required to be settled in cash or through
major credit cards, further mitigating credit risk. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk, whether through exposure to individual customers and/or specific industry sectors.

The table below shows the gross maximum exposure of the Company to credit risk:

. 2024 2023
Cash in banks and cash equivalents . R801,280,186 R1,358,508,038
Trade receivables 206,096,822 134,936,141
Advances to subsidiaries 4,472,998 -
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 9,258,082

R1,013,924,173 £1,502,702,261

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of cash in banks, cash equivalents, advances to
subsidiaries, accrued interest receivable and trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired
and were classified as “High Grade”. High grade financial assets are those accounts with
counterparties who are not expected by the Company to default in settling its obligations, thus
credit risk exposure is minimal. This normally includes large prime financial institutions and
companies. Credit quality was determined based on the credit standing of the counterparty.

Security. The Company does not hold collateral as security.

Impairment. Impairment analysis for trade receivables is performed at each reporting date using a
pravision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
based on customer type and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written-off if collection cannot be made despite exhausting all
extra-judicial and legal means of collection.

There are no guarantees against trade receivables but these receivables from credit card companies
and reputable third parties which are generally collectible within three (3) to thirty (30} days from
transaction date. Historical information and present circumstances do not indicate any significant
risk of impairment. Thus, management did not recognize allowance for ECL.
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For other financial assets at amortized cost which mainly comprise of cash in banks, cash
equivalents, advances to subsidiaries and accrued interest receivable, the Company applies the
general approach in measuring ECL. Management assessed that the application of the general
approach does not result to significant expected credit losses and thus, did not recognize allowance

for ECL.

The Company assessed that the credit risk on the financial assets has not increased significantly
since initial recognition because cash in banks, cash equivalents, and accrued interest receivable are
deposited with reputable counterparty banks, which exhibit good credit ratings.

For advances to subsidiaries, the Company has assessed that the credit risk has not significantly
increased since initial recognition because the subsidiaries have financial capacity to satisfy their
obligations as they fall due.

The following table summarizes the impairment analysis of the Company’s financial assets at
amortized cost. It indicates whether the financial assets at amortized cost were subject to a
12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and, in the latter case, whether they were credit-impaired.

2024
Lifetime ECL -
Not Credit Lifetime ECL -
12-Month ECL Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents R801,280,186 R- B- 801,280,186
Trade receivables - 206,096,822 - 206,096,822
Advances to subsidiaries 4,472,998 - - 4,472,998
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 - - 2,074,167
R807,827,351 R206,096,822 B- #1,013,924,173
2023
Lifetime ECL -
Not Credit Lifetime ECL -
12-Month ECL Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents R1,358,508,038 R— R- R1,358,508,038
Trade receivables - 134,936,141 - 134,936,141
Accrued interest receivable 9,258,082 - - 9,258,082
R1,367,766,120 P£134,936,141 R- R1,502,702,261

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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The tables below detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay.

2024
6 Months to More than
1to 6 Months 1Year 1 Year Total
Trade and other payables* R910,674,002 #5,678,831 B- R916,352,833
Bank loans and trust receipts
payable 1,286,290,982  1,216,666,667 —  2,502,957,649
Lease liabilities 177,047,510 139,407,445 98,306,282 414,761,237
#2,374,012,494 #1,361,752,943 198,306,282 R3,834,071,719
*Excluding statutory payables.
2023
6 Months to More than
1 to 6 Months 1 Year 1 Year Total
Trade and other payables* £1,301,512,059 £3,112,053 £— P1,304,624,112
Bank loans and trust receipts .
payable 850,947,198 916,666,667 - 1,767,613,865
Lease liabilities 88,928,784 72,307,133 123,702,631 284,938,548
P2,241,388,041 R992,085,853 £123,702,631 £3,357,176,525

*Excluding statutory payobles.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows from a financial instrument (cash flow interest rate
risk), or its fair value (fair value interest rate risk} will fluctuate because of changes in market interest

rates.

The Company’s loans payable to local banks are subject to a repricing interest rate with and are
exposed to fair value interest rate risk. The repricing of these instruments is done on a semiannual
basis.

The Company regularly monitors interest rate movements and on the basis of current and projected
economic and monetary data, decides on the best alternative to take. No sensitivity analysis is
needed as future interest rate changes are not expected to significantly affect the Company’s net
income.

These loans are promissory notes under loan facilities which mature within 90 days to one year as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and bear an effective interest rate ranging from 5.63% to 8.00% in
2024 and 4.88% to 9.25% in 2023.
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20. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Fair values of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are shown below:

2024 2023
Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
Financial Assets
Cash in banks and cash equivalents - P801,280,186 R801,280,186 P1,358,508,038 P1,358,508,038
Trade receivables 206,096,822 206,096,822 134,936,141 134,936,141
Advances to subsidiaries 4,472,998 4,472,998 - -
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 2,074,167 9,258,082 9,258,082
R1,013,524,173 P1,013,924,173 R1,502,702,261 R1,502,702,261
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables* R#916,352,833 R916,352,833 R1,304,624,112 21,304,624,112
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 2,502,957,649 2,502,957,649 1,767,613,865 1,767,613,865
Lease liabilities 396,355,555 391,013,229 275,193,672 268,423,967
#3,815,666,037 #3,810,323,711 R3,347,431,649 £3,340,661,944

*Excluding statutory payables.

Due to the short-term maturities of cash in banks, cash equivalents, trade receivables, advances to
subsidiaries, accrued interest receivable, trade and other payables (excluding statutory payables),
and bank loans and trust receipts payable, their carrying amounts approximate their fair values
(Level 3).

Lease Liabilities. Estimated fair values have been calculated on the lease liabilities’ expected cash
flows using the prevailing market rates that are specific to the tenor of the instruments' cash flows
at reporting dates (Level 2).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no financial instruments measured at fair value.
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

21.

Capital Risk Management

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and
equity balance. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in 2024, 2023 and
2022.

The capital structure of the Company consists of total liabilities and equity. The Company manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments when there are changes in economic condition, its
business activities, expansion programs and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The Company’s debt-to-equity ratio is as follows:

2024 2023
Total liabilities #3,926,867,583 R3,424,697,703
Total equity 3,095,342,526 2,802,005,332

Debt-to-equity ratio 1.27:1 1.22:1
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22. Reconciliation of Liahilities Arising from Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes as at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, Accretion/ Non-cash December 31,
2023 Additions Interest expense Payment Changes 2024

Bank loans and trust
receipts payable #1,767,613,865 F2,883,052,863 B~ (R2,147,709,079) B- PB2,502,957,649
Lease liabilities 275,193,672 432,361,074 28,958,671 (338,228,111) (1,929,751) 396,355,555
Dividends payable - 187,500,078 - (187,500,078) - -
Accrued interest payable 3,844,338 - 132,519,794 (134,586,318) - 1,777,814

R2,046,651,875 B3,502,914,015  P161,478,465 (P2,808,023,586) (R1,929,751) P2,901,091,018

December 31, Accretion/ Non-cash December 31,
2022 Additions Interest expense Payment Changes 2023

Bank loans and trust
receipts payable £1,734,644,813  R2,611,018,632 £~ (R2,578,049,580) £~ P1,767,613,865
Lease [iabilities 250,610,778 230,774,915 14,358,173 {220,119,782} (430,412) 275,193,672
Dividends payable 275,306,000 138,000,057 - {413,306,057) - -
Accrued interest payable 2,553,922 - 120,210,964 (119,320,548) - 3,844,338
£2,263,515,513  #2,979,793,604 £134,569,137 (®3,330,795,967) (R430,412) R2,046,651,875

23. Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Net income R481,511,463 P464,190,818 p537,855,981
Divided by weighted average number of

outstanding shares 3,125,001,300 2,968,751,050 2,500,000,300

R0.15 R0.16 20.22

The earnings per share calculation reflects the changes in the number of outstanding shares as a
result of the share split in 2022 and listing of shares in 2023 (see Note 12).

On April 3, 2023, the Company's shares of stock were listed under the Main Board of the PSE with an
initial public offering of 625,001,000 common shares at an offer price of 2.40 a share (see Note 12).

The Company has no dilutive potential shares in 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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24. Supplementary Information Required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue under Revenue
Regulations No. 15-2010

The information for 2024 required by the above regulation is presented below.

Output VAT
Output VAT declared by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the revenues

subject to VAT are as follows:

Revenues Qutput VAT

Sale of goods and services:
Subject to 12% VAT £11,327,670,605 #1,359,320,473
Sales to Government 96,947,451 11,633,694
Zero rated sales/receipts 8,480,993 -
Total 11,433,099,049 1,370,954,167
Applied input VAT 1,325,463,378
Payments 38,375,999
VAT payable 27,114,790

The difference between the gross sales reported in the separate statement of comprehensive
income and the gross sales declared in the VAT returns pertain to other income subject to VAT
presented as part of “Other Income” in the separate statements of comprehensive income.

Input VAT
The movements in the input VAT claimed for by the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is shown below:

Input VAT carried over from previous period B2,850,144
Add current year payments for:
Domestic purchases of goods other than

capital goods 1,190,593,188
Domestic purchase of services 115,687,097
Importation of goods other than capital goods 16,213,449
Purchase of capital goods not exceeding B1 million 79,500
1,325,463,378
Less applied against output VAT 1,325,463,378
p_

Importations

Taxes on the Company’s impartations for the year ended December 31, 2024 consist of:

Import processing fee £475,710
Customs duties and tariff fees 377,961
P853,671

Documentary Stamp Tax (DST)
The Company’s DST paid during the year amounted to R20.9 million which is presented under
“Taxes and licenses” account in the separate statements of comprehensive income for the year

ended December 31, 2024,
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All Other Local Taxes
The Company’s other local and national taxes for the year ended December 31, 2024 consist of:

Amount

Permits and licenses £41,578,261
Others 14,222,378
£55,800,639

The above local and national taxes are presented under “Taxes and licenses” account in the
separate statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Withholding Taxes
Summary of withholding taxes paid and accrued during the year:

Paid Accrued
Expanded withholding taxes £132,140,833 P12,674,343
Final withholding taxes 14,487,528 -
Tax on compensation and benefits 13,792,706 599,921

2160,421,067 R13,274,264

Tax Cases and Assessments
The Company has no outstanding tax assessments and tax cases as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Upson International Corp.

Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1

9th Avenue corner 34th Street

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Upson International Corp.
(Doing Business Under the Name and Style of Octagon Computer Superstore; Microvalley Computer
Superstore; Gadget World; Qctagon Mobile; Uniso; Gadget King and Lamp Light) (the Company) as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, on which we
have rendered our report dated February 27, 2025.

In compliance with Revenue Regulations V-20, we are stating that no partner of our Firm is related by
consanguinity or affinity to the president, manager or principal stockhclders of the Company.

REYES TACANDONG & Co.

D L SEQ.S AD

Partner
CPA Certificate No.
Tax |dentification No.
BOA Accreditation No. Valid until June 6, 2026
BIR Accreditation No.
Valid until May 15, 2025
PTR No.
Issued January 2, 2025, Makati City

February 27, 2025
Makati City, Metro Manila
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AUDIT {TAX] CDNSULTING

Reyes Tacandong & Co. is a member of the RSM network, Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm, and practices in its own right. The RSM network is
not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Upson International Corp. and Subsidiaries
Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1

gt Avenue corner 34" Street

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Upson International Corp. and
Subsidiaries {the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the parent
company financial statements which comprise the parent company statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2023 and parent company statements of comprehensive income, parent company
statements of changes in equity, and parent company statements of cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and notes to the consolidated and parent company financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024, and its consolidated financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, and the parent company’s financial position as at
December 31, 2023 and its financial performance and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards.

Buasis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA}). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audits of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD 2 N EEE
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Reyes Tacandong & Co. is a member of the RSM network, Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm, and practices in its own right. The RSM network is
not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction.
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Accounting for Completeness and Valuation of Inventories

Inventories, net of allowance for inventory write down and losses, amounted to B4,478.9 million as at
December 31, 2024. The accounting for the completeness and valuation of inventories is significant to our
audit because inventories represent 62% of the total assets. Due to the significant amount, voluminaus
inventory items and fast-moving nature of the inventories, establishing the existence and completeness, and
determining the proper valuation of inventories require extensive monitoring, and high degree of
management judgment and estimation.

Our procedures included, among others, the review of the design and implementation of key controls on
inventory management, the observation of the conduct of the inventory count, test of inventory
summarization, review of intervening transactions from date of inventory count to financial reporting date
review and test of inventory costing, and the determination of the lower of cost or net realizable value of
inventories.

We also reviewed the related disclosures which are included in Note 3, Significant Judgments, Accounting
Estimates and Assumptions, and Note 6, Inventories.

Accounting for the Recognition and Measurement of Right-of-Use (ROU) Assets and Lease Liabilities

ROU assets and lease liabilities amounted to #415.5 million and R399.3 million, respectively, as at
December 31, 2024. The accounting for the recognition and measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities
are significant to our audit because there were significant additions in 2024 amounting to #436.1 million for
ROU assets and £436.0 million for lease liabilities, arising from the Group's ongoing store network expansion.
In addition, the recognition and measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities involves the exercise of
significant management judgment and estimate that include, among others, (a} assessing whether a contract
contains a lease; (b) determining the lease term taking into consideration the renewal options; and (c)
determining the appropriate discount rate.

Our procedures included, among others, the review of newly executed and amended lease agreements to
assess whether the arrangement contains a lease to be recognized as additional or remeasurement of ROU
assets and lease liabilities, and the compliance of the Group with the required disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. We assessed the reliability of the data used in the computation of ROU assets and lease
liabilities through inspection of source documents. We assessed the reasonableness of incremental
borrowing rates used if it approximates the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow funds for the
purchase of similar asset with similar term and security, and the future lease payments through inspection of
source documents. On a test basis, we also performed the recalculation of the recognized ROU assets and
lease liabilities and assessed the reasonableness of the related amortization and interest expense on ROU
assets and lease liabilities, respectively.

We also reviewed the related disclosures which are included in Note 2, Summary of Material Accounting
Policy Information, Note 3, Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions, and Note 16, Lease
Commitments.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2024, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The SEC Form 20-1S, SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the vyear ended
December 31, 2024 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance or conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, these could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audits. We also:

» identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern. ’

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinicn.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of our audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audits.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reascnably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of deing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Darryll Reese Q.
Salangad.

REYES TACANDONG & CO.

D L"REESE Q. SA AD
Partner
CPA Certificate No.
Tax Identification No.
BOA Accreditation No. Valid until June 6, 2026
BIR Accreditation No.
Valid until fanuary 16, 2028
PTR No.
Issued January 2, 2025, Makati City

February 27, 2025
Makati City, Metro Manila
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBIILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of UPSON International Corp. (the Parent Company) and Subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the Group) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements including the schedules attached therein, as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and the Parent Company financial statements as at December 31, 2023 and for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules attached
therein and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have audited the
financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in their
reports to the stockholders, have expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon
completion of such audit.

Lawrence ?{Lee
Chairman df the Board

MM"M SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO

‘ B
Arlene l.oui‘é T.Sy [ " hafore me on this ZUZJ
President and Chief Executive Officer

Marcos A. I!@gaspi . l
Chief Finance Officer DOC NO. /‘/7{ ATTY. MARTELJAVENELLE L. LAGUERTA
PAGE NO. ?( Notary i}wm ja;l:'l?‘;ﬁln‘d? Dec. 31, 2025
o BOOK NO. V/_ St ok e 8 1 R e St it ol
Signed this 27" day of February 20ZRIES OF A LB.P. NO. for the yaar 2025
PTR. NO. Jan. 2, 2025 at Manila

MCLE NO. Valid until 4-14-2028 Roll No.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at December 31, 2024 and
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at December 31, 2023

Note 2024* 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 £889,350,473 P1,360,873,502
Trade and other receivables 5 323,636,707 181,057,704
Inventories 6 4,478,855,523 3,350,825,684
Other current assets 7 170,442,146 160,316,057
Total Current Assets 5,862,284,849 5,053,072,947
Noncurrent Assets
Property and equipment 8 909,145,428 819,418,924
Right-of-use (ROU) assets 16 415,453,570 275,426,853
Noncurrent portion of refundable lease deposits 7 77,828,402 59,723,407
Net deferred tax assets 17 17,925,407 19,060,904
Total Noncurrent Assets 1,420,352,807 1,173,630,088
#7,282,637,656 B6,226,703,035
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 10 #2,502,957,649 B1,767,613,865
Trade and other payables 9 1,187,613,676 1,322,843,184
Current portion of lease liabilities 16 301,608,037 147,320,374
Income tax payable 36,710,947 17,175,989
Total Current Liabilities 4,028,890,309 3,254,953,412
Noncurrent Liabilities
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 16 97,662,654 127,873,298
Retirement liability 15 48,621,746 41,870,953
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 146,284,400 169,744,291
Total Liabilities 4,175,174,709 3,424,697,703
Equity
Capital stock 11 625,000,260 625,000,260
Additional paid-in capital 11 1,305,308,048 1,305,308,048
Retained earnings 11 1,171,188,419 878,511,729
Accumulated remeasurement losses on retirement liability 15 (7,488,896) (6,814,705)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 3,094,007,831 2,802,005,332
Non-controlling interests 11 13,455,116 -
Total Equity 3,107,462,947 2,802,005,332
R7,282,637,656  R6,226,703,035

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

*The Consolidated financial statements were prepared effective May 24, 2024, the date of incorporation of the subsidiaries.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 and
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note 2024* 2023 2022
CAPITAL STOCK 11
Balance at beginning of year P625,000,260 R500,000,060  R500,000,000
Issuances - 125,000,200 60
Balance at end of year 625,000,260 625,000,260 500,000,060
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 11 1,305,308,048 1,305,308,048 -
RETAINED EARNINGS
APPROPRIATED FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 11
Balance at beginning of year 78,000,000 - -
Appropriation (reversal) (78,000,000) 78,000,000 -
Balance at end of year - 78,000,000 -
UNAPPROPRIATED 11
Balance at beginning of year 800,511,729 552,320,968 404,464,987
Net income 480,176,768 464,190,818 537,855,981
Appropriation - (78,000,000) -
Reversal of appropriation 78,000,000 - -
Cash dividends (187,500,078) (138,000,057)  (390,000,000)
Balance at end of year 1,171,188,419 800,511,729 552,320,968
1,171,188,419 878,511,729 552,320,968
ACCUMULATED REMEASUREMENT LOSSES
ON RETIREMENT LIABILITY - net of
deferred income tax 15
Balance at beginning of year (6,814,705) (4,254,784) (6,245,231)
Remeasurement gain (loss) (674,191) (2,559,921) 1,990,447
Balance at end of year (7,488,896) (6,814,705) (4,254,784)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT COMPANY 3,094,007,831 2,802,005,332 1,048,066,244
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 11
Additions 12,000,000 - -
Net income 1,455,116 - -
Balance at end of year 13,455,116 - -
R3,107,462,947 £2,802,005,332 R1,048,066,244

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

*The Consolidated financial statements were prepared effective May 24, 2024, the date of incorporation of the subsidiaries.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 and
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note 2024* 2023 2022
NET SALES P11,435,255,269 R10,010,358,499 £9,461,981,130
COST OF SALES 6 (9,062,980,868) (7,932,978,469) (7,282,799,061)
GROSS INCOME 2,372,274,401 2,077,380,030 2,179,182,069
OPERATING EXPENSES 12 (1,924,449,385) (1,675,980,429) (1,530,103,748)
FINANCE COSTS 10 (152,538,293) (123,495,021) (74,147,403)
OTHER INCOME 13 341,307,910 306,082,355 142,074,344
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 636,594,633 583,986,935 717,005,262
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX 17
Current 153,602,522 117,606,658 184,132,156
Deferred 1,360,227 2,189,459 (4,982,875)
154,962,749 119,796,117 179,149,281
NET INCOME 481,631,884 464,190,818 537,855,981
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
liability - net of deferred income tax 15 (674,191) (2,559,921) 1,990,447
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #480,957,693 R461,630,897 539,846,428
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company R480,176,768 £464,190,818 £537,855,981
Non-controlling interests 1,455,116 - -
P481,631,884 R464,190,818 £537,855,981
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company #479,502,577 £461,630,897 £539,846,428
Non-controlling interests 1,455,116 - -
#480,957,693 461,630,897 539,846,428
BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 22 R0.15 £0.16 £0.22

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

*The Consolidated financial statements were prepared effective May 24, 2024, the date of incorporation of the subsidiaries.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 and
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note 2024* 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax R636,594,633 £583,986,935 £717,005,262
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 8 408,059,413 309,075,012 280,830,339

Finance costs 10 152,538,293 123,495,021 74,147,403

Interest income 4 (27,085,544) (46,811,084) (544,189)

Provision for inventory obsolescence 12 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900

Retirement expense 15 5,851,832 5,018,956 4,281,720

Gain on lease modification 16 (70,171) (102,070) -

Gain on lease concessions 16 - - (17,500,079)
Operating income before working capital changes 1,183,534,331 977,579,146  1,083,062,356
Increase in:

Trade and other receivables (149,762,918) (108,765,398) (24,351,690)

Inventories (1,135,675,714)  (687,182,591)  (684,127,133)

Other assets (28,316,584) (25,182,984) (32,216,675)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables (133,162,984) 61,572,017 (527,961,576)
Net cash generated from (used for) operations (263,383,869) 218,020,190 (185,594,718)
Income taxes paid (134,067,564) (187,146,870)  (135,154,934)
Interest received 34,269,459 37,553,002 544,189
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (363,181,974) 68,426,322 (320,205,463)
CASH FLOW FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY
Additions to property and equipment 8 (194,533,011)  (219,496,536)  (109,233,206)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Bank loans and trust receipts availments 10 2,883,052,863 2,611,018,632 2,870,048,222

Additions to non-controlling interests 11 12,000,000 - -

Issuances of capital stock 11 - 1,430,308,248 60
Payments of:

Bank loans and trust receipts 10 (2,147,709,079) (2,578,049,580) (2,381,838,159)

Lease liabilities 16 (339,065,432) (220,119,782) (180,629,861)

Interest 21 (134,586,318) (119,320,548) (62,825,209)

Dividends 21 (187,500,078) (413,306,057) (114,694,000)
Net cash provided by financing activities 86,191,956 710,530,913 130,061,053
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS (471,523,029) 559,460,699 (299,377,616)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF

YEAR 1,360,873,502 801,412,803 1,100,790,419
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 4 £889,350,473 PR1,360,873,502 £801,412,803

(Forward)



Note 2024* 2023 2022

NONCASH FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Additions and modifications to ROU assets 16 (P434,237,135) (R232,540,827) (R276,001,099)

Additions and modifications to lease liabilities 16 434,081,464 230,344,503 276,001,099
Capitalized borrowing costs 8 9,042,488 11,074,116 -

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

*The Consolidated financial statements were prepared effective May 24, 2024, the date of incorporation of the subsidiaries.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at and for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 and
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at December 31, 2023 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

1. Corporate Information

Upson International Corp. (the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the
“Group”, were incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) on the following dates:

Date of Incorporation

Parent Company April 19, 1995
Subsidiaries -
iStudio Technologies Philippines Corporation (iStudio) May 24, 2024
Upson Global Inc. (UGI) July 10, 2024

The Parent Company and iStudio are primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling,
distributing, marketing, at wholesale and retail all kinds of goods, commodities, wares and
merchandise such as but not limited to computer hardware equipment, telecommunications and
other similar products.

UGI is primarily engaged in the business of buying, selling, distributing, franchising, marketing, at
wholesale and retail kinds of goods, commodities, wares and merchandise such as but not limited to
water filtration and purification devices and systems, household, commercial, and industrial
appliances and equipment, telecommunications and other similar products.

In May 2024, the Parent Company incorporated iStudio with 52% ownership interest amounting to
£26.0 million. In July 2024, the Parent Company incorporated UGI with 90% ownership interest
amounting to #90.0 million. Thus, the financial statements for 2024 is the consolidated financial
statements of the Parent Company and its Subsidiaries while comparative financial statements for
2023 and 2022 are that of the Parent Company.

The registered office address of the Parent Company is Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1, Sth
Avenue corner 34th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City.

The registered office address of the Subsidiaries are as follows:

Company Name Registered Business Address

iStudio Technologies Philippines Corp. 101 ACE Building, Rada Street Legaspi, Village San
Lorenzo, Fourth District, Makati City

Upson Global Inc. Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1, 9th Avenue
corner 34th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

The Parent Company has corporate life of 50 years pursuant to its articles of incorporation.
However, under the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines which took effect on
February 23, 2019, the Company has a perpetual corporate life.



Initial Public Offering (IPO)

On June 1, 2021, the Board of Directors (BOD) and the stockholders authorized the Parent Company
to undertake the IPO of its shares with the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). Pursuant to the IPO
plan, the BOD and the stockholders approved the increase in the Parent Company’s authorized
capital stock and share split. Details of the increase in capital stock are presented in Note 11. The
increase in authorized capital stock and share split were approved by the SEC on December 17, 2021
and April 12, 2022, respectively.

On January 12 and 27, 2023, the SEC and the PSE, respectively, approved the Parent Company’s
application for an IPO. On April 3, 2023, the Parent Company’s shares of stock were listed under the
Main Board of the PSE under the stock symbol UPSON. The Parent Company listed 625,001,000
common shares at an offer price of R2.40 a share, resulting to proceeds aggregating #1,500.0 million
from the IPO (see Note 11).

Approval of the Consolidated and Parent Company Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024
and the parent company financial statements as at December 31, 2023, and for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 were approved and authorized for issuance by the Parent Company’s
BOD, as approved and endorsed by the Audit Committee on February 27, 2025.

Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information

The material accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. This financial reporting framework includes PFRS
Accounting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretation from
International  Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued by the
Philippine Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council and adopted by the SEC,
including SEC pronouncements.

Measurement Bases
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), which is the Group’s functional
currency. All values are rounded to nearest Peso, unless otherwise indicated.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for lease liabilities
and retirement liability which are measured at present value. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for an asset and the fair value of the
consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the transaction date.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.



All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

e Level 1-Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

e Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 19.

Adoption of Amended PFRS Accounting Standards

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following relevant amended PFRS Accounting Standards effective for annual
periods beginning or after January 1, 2024:

e Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — The amendments
clarify that the liability that arises from a sale and leaseback transaction, that satisfies the
requirements in PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to be accounted for as a sale,
is a lease liability to which PFRS 16 applies and give rise to a right-of-use asset. For the
subsequent measurement, the seller-lessee shall determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease
payments’ in a way that the seller-lessee would not recognize any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Applying this subsequent
measurement does not prevent the seller-lessee from recognizing any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of a lease. Any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease does not relate to the right of use retained but to the right of use
terminated.

e Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Noncurrent Liabilities with
Covenants — The amendments clarified that covenants to be complied with after the reporting
date do not affect the classification of debt as current or noncurrent at the reporting date.
Instead, the amendments require the entity to disclose information about these covenants in
the notes to the financial statements.

e Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures -
Supplier Finance Arrangements — The amendments introduced new disclosure requirements to
enable users of the financial statements assess the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on the liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The amendments also provide
transitional relief on certain aspects, particularly on the disclosures of comparative information.
Earlier application is permitted.



Under the prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing amended PFRS Accounting
Standards did not have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Additional disclosures were included in the consolidated financial statements, as applicable.

Amended PFRS Accounting Standards in Issue but not yet Effective

Relevant amended PFRS Accounting Standards, which is not yet effective as at December 31, 2024
and has not been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements, are summarized
below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025:

Amendments to PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - Lack of
Exchangeability — The amendments clarify when a currency is considered exchangeable into
another currency and how an entity determines the exchange rate for currencies that lack
exchangeability. The amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements to help users of
financial statements assess the impact when a currency is not exchangeable. An entity does not
apply the amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity recognizes any effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings when
the entity reports foreign currency transactions. When an entity uses a presentation currency
other than its functional currency, it recognizes the cumulative amount of translation
differences in equity. Earlier application is permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026:

Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets — The amendments clarify that a financial
liability is derecognized when the related obligation is discharged, cancelled, expires or
otherwise qualifies for derecognition (e.g. settlement date), and introduces a policy option to
derecognize financial liabilities settled through an electronic payment system before settlement
date if the required conditions are met. The amendments also clarify the assessment of
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets, the treatment of non-recourse loans and
contractually linked instruments, as well as require additional disclosure requirements for
financial assets and liabilities with contingent features and equity instruments classified at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Earlier application is permitted.

Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards Volume 11:

o Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures — The amendments update and
remove some obsolete references related to the gain or loss on derecognition on financial
assets of an entity that has a continuing involvement and to the disclosure requirements on
deferred differences between fair value and transaction price. The amendments also clarify
that the illustrative guidance does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements for credit
risk disclosure. Earlier application is permitted.

o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments — Transaction Price and Lessee Derecognition
of Lease Liabilities — The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with PFRS 9, the lessee must apply the
derecognition criteria for a financial liability which requires recognition of a gain or loss in
profit or loss. The amendments also replace the reference to ‘transaction price as defined by
PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ to ‘the amount determined by applying
PFRS 15’ to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.



o Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements - Determination of a ‘de facto
agent’ — The amendments remove inconsistencies by clarifying that an entity must use
judgment to determine whether other parties are acting as de facto agents. Earlier
application is permitted.

o Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Cost Method — The amendments replace
the term ‘cost method’ with ‘at cost’ following the deletion of the definition of ‘cost
method’. Earlier application is permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027:

e PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements — This standard replaces PAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements, and sets out the requirements for the presentation and
disclosure of information to help ensure that the financial statements provide relevant
information that faithfully represents the entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses. The standard introduces new categories and sub-totals in the statements of
comprehensive income, disclosures on management-defined performance measures, and new
principles for grouping of information, which the entity needs to apply retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted.

e PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures — This standard specifies reduced
disclosure requirements that eligible subsidiaries are permitted to apply, instead of the
disclosure requirements in other PFRS. An entity is eligible to apply PFRS 19 when it does not
have public accountability and its parent prepares consolidated financial statements available
for public use that complies with PFRS disclosure requirements. Earlier application is permitted.

Deferred effectivity -

e Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investment in
Associates - Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
- The amendments address a conflicting provision under the two standards. It clarifies that a
gain or loss shall be recognized fully when the transaction involves a business, and partially if it
involves assets that do not constitute a business. The effective date of the amendments, initially
set for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, was deferred indefinitely in
December 2015 but earlier application is still permitted.

Under the prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing amended PFRS Accounting
Standards is not expected to have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Additional disclosures will be included in the consolidated financial statements, as
applicable.

Basis of Consolidation .
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries in 2024.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Parent Company has control. The Parent Company controls a
subsidiary if it is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. Control is generally
accompanied by a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are substantive are considered when assessing whether the Parent



Company controls an entity. The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an entity if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control.

The consolidated financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year
as that of the Parent Company using uniform accounting policies. Significant intercompany
transactions and balances, including intercompany profits, dividends, and unrealized profits and
losses, are eliminated in full.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change in control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, the Group: (a) derecognizes the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary; (b) derecognizes the carrying amounts of any non-controlling interest;
(c) derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; (d) recognizes the fair
value of the consideration received; (e) recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
(f) recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and (g) reclassifies the Parent Company's share
of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income (OCl) in relation to that
subsidiary on the same basis as would be required if the Parent Company had directly disposed of
the related assets and liabilities.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date when the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such
control ceases. The results of operations of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed are included in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income from the date of acquisition or up to the date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the
Parent Company, presented within equity in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position, separately from equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company.
Non-controlling interests represent the interests of minority shareholders of iStudio and UGI.

Current versus Noncurrent Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based on current and
noncurrent classification.

An asset is current when it is: (a) expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the
normal operating cycle; (b) held primarily for the purpose of trading; (c) expected to be realized
within 12 months after the reporting period; or (d) cash or cash equivalent, unless restricted from
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
A liability is current when it is: (a) expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; (b) held
primarily for trading; (c) due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or (d) there
is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. The Group classifies all other assets and liabilities as noncurrent. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent.



Financial Assets and Liabilities

Date of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the statements
of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.
In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as
applicable, is done using settlement date accounting.

Initial Recognition and Measurement. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value,
which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a
liability). The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value
through profit and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

“Day 1” Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In
cases where there is no observable data on inception, the Group deems the transaction price as the
best estimate of fair value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs
become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference.

Classification. The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following
categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) financial assets at amortized cost and
(c) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Financial liabilities,
on the other hand, are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or financial liabilities at
amortized cost. The classification of a financial instrument largely depends on the Group’s business
model and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

As at December 2024 and 2023, the Group does not have financial assets at FVPL and FVOCI, and
financial liabilities at FVPL.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for expected credit loss (ECL), if any.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process. Financial assets
at amortized cost are included under current assets if realizability or collectability is within
12 months after the reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.



As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, cash in banks, cash equivalents, trade receivables and accrued
interest receivable are classified under this category. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three
months or less from dates of placement and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost. Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at
amortized cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of its own equity instruments.

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired or
through the amortization process.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, trade and other payables (excluding statutory payables), bank
loans and trust receipts payable, and lease liabilities are classified under this category.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group recognizes an allowance for ECL on its financial assets at amortized cost.

Trade Receivables. The Group recognizes lifetime ECL which are estimated using a provision matrix
that is based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors, general economic condition and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

Other Financial Instruments at Amortized Cost. The Group measures the ECL on its other financial
assets at amortized cost based on the 12-month ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECL
that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due
unless it is demonstrated that the non-payment was an administrative oversight rather than
resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Reclassification

The Group reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model for
managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day of the
first reporting period following the change in the business model (reclassification date).
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For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income (OClI).

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

e the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

e the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or

e the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the continuing involvement of the Group in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial Liabilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.

A modification is considered substantial if the present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including net fees paid or received and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is different by at least 10% from the discounted present value of remaining cash flows of the original
liability. Net fees shall include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

The fair value of the modified financial liability is determined based on its expected cash flows,
discounted using the interest rate at which the Group could raise debt with similar terms and
conditions in the market. The difference between the carrying amount of the original liability and
fair value of the new liability is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.
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On the other hand, if the difference does not meet the 10% threshold, the original debt is not
extinguished but merely modified. In such case, the carrying amount is adjusted by the costs or fees
paid or received in the restructuring.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting
agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statements of
financial position.

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

e Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;

e Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavorable to the Group; or

e Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset
to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). NRV represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs to sell. Cost of inventories includes all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred to bring the merchandise inventories to its present condition and
location. Cost is determined using moving average method. In determining the estimated selling
price less cost to sell, the Group considers any adjustment necessary for obsolescence.

When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the Group provides for an allowance for the
decline in the value of the inventory and recognizes the write-down as an expense in profit or loss.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in NRV, is
recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as expense in the year in which
the reversal occurs.

Advances to Suppliers

Advances to suppliers consist of advance payments made to suppliers for the purchase of inventory.
Advances to suppliers are measured at the amount of cash paid. Advances to suppliers are applied
against billings upon receipt of inventory purchased.

Other Assets
Other assets include refundable lease deposits, prepayments and input value-added tax (VAT).
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Refundable lease deposits. Refundable lease deposits pertain to deposits as required under the lease
agreements to cover for repairs on damaged leased properties, which are refundable at the end of
the lease term if unutilized. Refundable lease deposits are initially recorded at transaction cost and
subsequently measured at cost less any impairment loss. Refundable lease deposits that are
expected to be realized for no more than 12 months after the financial reporting period are
classified as current assets. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

Prepayments. Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.
Prepayments are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid.
Subsequently, these are recognized in profit or loss as these are consumed in operations or expire
with the passage of time. Prepayments are classified in the consolidated statements of financial
position as current assets when the cost of goods or services related to the prepayment are
expected to be incurred within one year or the Group’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer.
Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

Property and Equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the supply of goods or for administrative purposes, transportation
equipment and other items of property and equipment are stated at cost. Cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent expenditures relating to an
item of property and equipment that has already been recognized are added to the carrying amount
of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed
standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent
expenditures are recognized as expenses in profit or loss in the period in which those are incurred.

Properties in the course of construction for supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes contractor
fees and other construction costs; and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation and amortization of these assets,
determined on the same basis as other items of property and equipment, commence when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Land is not depreciated and subsequently measured at cost less impairment loss, if any. Building,
building improvements, leasehold improvements, store furniture and equipment, transportation
equipment, and furniture and fixtures are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation, amortization and any impairment losses.

Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of property and equipment as follows:

Number of Years

Building and building improvements 20-25
Leasehold improvements 3 years or the term of lease whichever is shorter
Store furniture and equipment 3-5
Transportation equipment 5

Furniture and fixtures 3
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The estimated useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically
to ensure that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Fully depreciated and amortized assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use
and no further depreciation and amortization are credited or charged to operations.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the nonfinancial
assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. The fair value less cost to
sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction. Value in use
is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an
asset from its disposal at the end of its useful life. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
written down to its recoverable amount. Any impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but shall
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which
has been recognized for the asset in prior years.

1PO Costs

IPO costs include registration and other regulatory fees, amounts paid to legal, accounting and other
professional advisers, printing costs and stamp duties, among others. The transaction costs in
issuing the Parent Company’s own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from equity
to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that
otherwise would have been avoided. The costs of an equity transaction that is abandoned are
recognized as an expense.

Capital Stock
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.

Additional Paid-in Capital (APIC)
APIC represents the excess of proceeds or fair value of the consideration received over the par value
of the shares issued net of directly attributable stock issuance costs.
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Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of the Group’s results of operations, net of any

dividend declaration.

Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to stockholders is deducted from retained earnings in the year the dividends
are declared and approved.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) pertains to the accumulated remeasurement gains or losses on
the Group’s retirement liability arising from experience adjustments and changes in financial
assumptions. Remeasurements of retirement liability, and the corresponding deferred tax
component, are recognized immediately in OCI and presented as a separate line item within equity.
These are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income for the year by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends declared
and share split. If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as a
result of a capitalization, bonus issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a reverse share split,
the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods presented shall be adjusted
retrospectively. If these changes occur after the reporting period but before the consolidated
financial statements are authorized for issue, the per share calculations for those and any prior
period financial statements presented shall be based on the new number of shares.

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Where the EPS effect of potential dilutive ordinary shares would be anti-dilutive, basic and diluted
EPS are stated at the same amount.

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity: (a) that engages in business activities from which

it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions
with other components of the same entity), (b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by
the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the
segment and assess its performance, and (c) for which discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues,
for example, start-up operations may be operating segments before earning revenues.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the
contract has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Revenue is recognized over time if
one of the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits as the Group perform its obligations; (b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Group’s performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in
time. the Group also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as a principal or
as an agent.
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The Group has assessed that it acts as a principal in all of its revenue sources. Moreover,
the Group generates its revenues from sale of goods which are recognized at a point in time.

Net Sales. Revenue is recognized upon delivery or pick up of goods and measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and trade discounts.

For revenue from other sources, the following specific recognition criteria must be met before
revenue is recognized:

Interest Income. Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using the effective interest
method.

Other Income. Income is recognized when earned.
Cost and Expense Recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits
related to a decrease in asset or an increase in liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales is recognized as expense when the significant risk and rewards of
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount of cost can be measured reliably,
which is normally upon transfer of goods to the buyer.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses constitute costs of administering the business, and the
costs of selling and marketing the inventories for sale. These are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other financing costs that the Group incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the development of the
Group’s projects that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when activities to prepare the asset
are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are complete.
All other borrowing costs are recognized as expense in the period these are incurred based on the
effective interest method.

Leases

The Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified assets for a period of time, the Group assesses
whether, throughout the period of use, it has both of the following:

i. the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset;
and

ii. the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

If the Group has the right to control the use of an identified asset for only a portion of the term of
the contract, the contract contains a lease for that portion of the term.

The Group also assesses whether a contract contains a lease for each potential lease component.
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The Group as a Lessee. At the commencement date, the Group recognizes ROU assets and lease
liabilities for all leases, except for leases with lease terms of 12 months or less (short-term leases)
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value in which case the lease payments
associated with those leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis.

ROU Assets. At commencement date, the Group measures ROU assets at cost. The cost comprises:

i. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

ii. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

iii. any initial direct costs; and

iv. an estimation of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, when applicable.

The ROU assets are recognized at the present value of the liability at the commencement date of
the lease, adding any directly attributable costs. After the commencement date, the ROU assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the related lease liabilities. The ROU assets are amortized over the lease
terms ranging from more than one (1) year to three (3) years. The ROU assets are assessed for
impairment at reporting date if there is any indication that the carrying amount will not be
recovered through continued use.

Lease Liabilities. At commencement date, the Group measures a lease liability at the present value
of future lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. Otherwise, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of a lease liability comprise the following:

i. fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

ii. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

iii. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; and

iv. the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise;
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an
extension option; and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably
certain not to terminate early.

A lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest on the lease liability and any
variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liability are recognized in profit
or loss unless these are capitalized as costs of another asset. Variable lease payments not included
in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in profit or loss when the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs.
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If there is a change in the lease term or if there is a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, the lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
considering the revised lease payments on the basis of the revised lease term or reflecting the
change in amounts payable under the purchase option. The lease liability is also remeasured using
the revised lease payments if there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee or a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
a rate used to determine those payments.

Employee Benefits

Short-term Benefits. the Group recognizes a liability for benefits accruing to employees in respect of
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Retirement Benefits. the Group has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan covering all
qualified employees. The retirement expense is determined using the projected unit credit method
which reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates
assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.

The Group recognizes service costs, comprising of current service costs and interest cost, in profit or
loss. Interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the retirement liability.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding interest on retirement liability) are recognized immediately in OCl in the period in
which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The retirement liability, which is the present value of the retirement liability on which the
obligations are to be settled directly, is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the
terms of the related retirement liability.

Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be
determined at the reporting date.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

Transactions in currencies other than Peso are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in profit or loss for the year.

Related Party Relationships and Transactions

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or
among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or
among the reporting enterprises and their key management personnel, directors, or its
stockholders. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. An entity is also related to the
Group when it directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled
by, or is under common control with the Group.
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A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged. Transactions with related parties are accounted for at
arm’s length prices or terms similar to those offered to non-related entities in an economically
comparable market.

Related party transactions are considered material and/or significant if, individually or in éggregate
over a twelve (12)-month period with the same related party, these transactions amount to 10% or
higher of the Group's total assets.

Income Tax

Current Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused net
operating loss carry over (NOLCO) to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in OCl or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognized in OCI or directly in equity respectively.

VAT
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

« where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and,

« receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The amount of VAT recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is presented as “Input
VAT” under “Other current assets” account or included as part of “Statutory payables” under “Trade
and other payables” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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Provisions

Provisions, if any, are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an
insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or
loss net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pretax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as finance costs. Provisions are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Contingencies ,
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognized in the financial statements. Contingent liabilities

are disclosed in the notes to financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefit is remote. Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes to financial
statements when inflows of economic benefits are probable.

Events after the Reporting Date

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when material.

Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments (other than
those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized and to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The judgment and estimates used in the consolidated financial
statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the
reporting date. While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate,
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may
materially affect the estimated amounts.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgments
The critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the management has made and

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are
discussed below.
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Classifying Financial Instruments. The Group classifies a financial instrument, or its components, on
initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form,
governs its classification in the Group’s statements of financial position.

Classifying Lease Commitments - Group as a Lessee. The Group has entered into commercial
property leases for its office, stores, advertisement and warehouse spaces. For the Group’s
non-cancellable lease, the Group recognizes ROU assets and lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term using the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate. The Group availed exemption for short-term leases with term of 12 months or less.
Accordingly, lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Assessing the Renewal Options of Lease Agreements. The Group's lease agreements contain
renewal options that is exercisable upon the mutual agreement of the Group and the lessors. the
Group makes an assessment, at the commencement of the lease, whether it is reasonably certain
that the renewal options will be exercised by the Group and will be agreed to by the lessors under
the circumstances. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has assessed that it is not
reasonably certain that the renewal options will be mutually agreed by the Group and the lessors.
As a result, the renewal options in the lease agreements were not considered in determining the
lease term of the agreements.

Determining the Appropriate Discount Rate for Lease Payments. The Group’s ROU assets and lease
liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the Group considered readily available interest rate implicit in the lease
agreements, interest rate on its borrowings and the term of each lease commitment.
The Group determined that the implicit rate in the lease agreements is not readily available.
The Group used the incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of ROU assets and
lease liabilities.

Determining the Reportable Operating Segments. Determination of operating segments is based on
the information about components of the Group that management uses to make decisions about
the operating matters. Operating segments use internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the
Parent Company’s chief operating decision maker, which is defined to be the Parent Company’s
BOD, in order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance. The Group reports
separate information about an operating segment that meets any of the following guantitative
thresholds: (a) its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment
sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating
segments; (b) the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater, in
absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a
loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss; and (c) the
assets of the segment are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

The Group determined that its operating segments are organized and managed separately based on
the nature of the business segment, with each business representing a strategic segment.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s operating segments consist of retail of information and
communications technology (ICT) products and retail of water filtration and purification devices.
Operating segment information are disclosed in Note 23. In 2023 and 2022, the Group’s operating
segment comprise solely of ICT products.
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Determining Control over Investee Companies. Control is presumed to exist when an investor is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company has assessed that it has
control over iStudio and UGI by virtue of its majority share in ownership interest representing 52%
and 90%, respectively.

Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimate at reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next reporting period are discussed below.

Assessing the ECL on Trade Receivables. The Group applies the simplified approach in measuring
ECL on trade receivables which uses a lifetime ECL allowance using a provision matrix. Depending on
the diversity of its debtor’s base, the Group uses its historical credit loss experience adjusted for
forward-looking factors, as applicable.

The Group has assessed that the ECL on trade receivables are not material as these pertain mainly to
receivables from credit card companies and reputable third parties which are generally collected
within three (3) to thirty (30) days from the date of transaction. No ECL was recognized for trade
receivables in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 5.

Assessing the ECL on Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. The Group determines the allowance
for ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost using the general approach based on the
probability-weighted estimate of the present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of
financial assets. The provision for ECL recognized during the period is limited to 12 months ECL
because the Group’s other financial assets at amortized cost are considered to have low credit risk.
When there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime ECL.

The information about the ECL on the Group’s other financial assets at amortized cost, comprising of
cash in banks, cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable, is disclosed in Note 18 to the
financial statements. The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash in banks and cash equivalents, and
accrued interest receivable as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Notes 4 and 5,
respectively.

Estimating the NRV of Inventories. The NRV of inventories represents the estimated selling price for
the asset less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The Group determines the estimated
selling price based on the recent sale transactions of similar goods with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the date the transactions occurred. The Group writes down
the carrying amount of inventory for the excess of carrying amount over its NRV or fair value less
cost to sell. While the Group believes that the estimates are reasonable and appropriate, significant
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in estimates may materially affect the
profit or loss and equity.

The carrying amounts of inventories as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Note 6. No
inventories were written off in 2024, 2023 and 2022. Provision for inventory obsolescence
amounted to R7.7 million, 22.9 million and 224.8 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Allowance for inventory obsolescence amounted to R59.4 million and R51.8 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Estimating the Useful Lives of ROU Assets and Property and Equipment. The useful lives of the
Group's ROU assets, and property and equipment (except land and construction in progress) are
estimated based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from
previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or
other limits on the use of the Group's ROU assets and property and equipment. In addition, the
estimation of the useful lives is based on the Group’s collective assessment of industry practice,
internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes
in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of
ROU assets and property and equipment would increase the recognized expenses and decrease
noncurrent assets.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of property and equipment and
ROU assets are disclosed in Notes 8 and 16, respectively. There were no changes in the estimated
useful lives of these property and equipment and ROU assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Assessing the Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets. The Group is required to perform an impairment
assessment when certain impairment indicators are present. Determining the value in use of
nonfinancial assets requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated from
the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets. Future events could cause the Group to
conclude that nonfinancial assets are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position and financial performance. While the Group
believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in the
assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and may lead to future
impairment charges.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s nonfinancial assets are as follows:

Note 2024 2023
Property and equipment 8 R909,145,428 £819,418,924
ROU assets 16 415,453,570 275,426,853
Refundable lease deposits 7 243,801,968 213,463,543
Advances to a stockholder 5 31,791,848 31,791,848
Prepayments 7 4,468,580 3,685,777
Advances to suppliers 5 3,033,601 3,308,220
Advances to officers and employees 5 2,001,418 1,763,413
Input VAT 7 - 2,890,144

There were no impairment loss recognized on nonfinancial assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Estimating Retirement Liability. The determination of the retirement liability and expense is
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by the actuary in calculating such amounts.
Actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and are recognized in OCl. While
the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in
the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the retirement
liability.
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The carrying amounts of retirement liability, retirement expense and the assumptions used in
calculating such amounts, which include among others, discount rates and expected rates of salary
increase, are disclosed in Note 15.

Assessing the Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets. The Group reviews the carrying amounts at the
end of each reporting period and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets
to be utilized. However, there is no assurance that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit
to allow all or part of its deferred tax assets to be utilized.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position are disclosed in Note 17. The Group has assessed that it is not probable that there will be
sufficient future taxable income for which UGI’s NOLCO can be applied. Consequently, the Group did
not recognize deferred tax asset on UGI’'s NOLCO. Details of unrecognized deferred tax assets are
disclosed in Note 17.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2024 2023
Cash on hand R2,611,864 R2,365,464
Cash in banks 585,287,104 558,508,038
Cash equivalents 301,451,505 800,000,000

R889,350,473 P1,360,873,502

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates which are readily available for use.
Cash equivalents pertain to time deposit with maturity term of three months and earns interest
ranging from 5.25% to 6.00% per annum in 2024 and 2023.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the cash and cash equivalents include the unapplied IPO
proceeds amounting to R590.6 million and R983.0 million, respectively (see Note 11).

Details of interest income are as follows (see Note 13):

2024 2023 2022

Cash in banks R2,730,178 £680,425 £544,189
Cash equivalents 24,355,366 46,130,659 -
R27,085,544 £46,811,084 £544,189

Accrued interest receivable from cash equivalents amounted to 2.1 million and 9.3 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 5).
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5. Trade and Other Receivables

This account consists of:

Note 2024 2023

Trade R284,735,673 £134,936,141
Advances to:

Stockholder 14 31,791,848 31,791,848

Suppliers 3,033,601 3,308,220

Officers and employees 2,001,418 1,763,413

Accrued interest receivable 4 2,074,167 9,258,082

R323,636,707 P181,057,704

Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and are generally settled within three to 30 days after the
reporting period. No ECL was recognized for trade receivables in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Advances to suppliers pertain to advance payments for purchases of inventory and are immediately
applied against billings for inventory delivered.

Advances to officers and employees are noninterest-bearing advances subject to liquidation and are
generally liquidated in the subsequent period.

6. Inventories

This account consists of:

2024 2023
At cost:
Computers and peripherals R2,742,915,960 R1,953,012,515
Accessories 727,139,593 589,958,494
Mobile phones 633,575,525 519,145,107
Printers and scanners 340,011,731 251,766,243
Consumables 94,627,582 88,712,318
4,538,270,391 3,402,594,677
Less allowance for inventory obsolescence (59,414,868) (51,768,993)
At net realizable value R4,478,855,523 £3,350,825,684
Movements in the allowance for inventory obsolescence are as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year R51,768,993 P48,852,617 24,010,717

Provision for inventory
obsolescence 12 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900
Balance at end of year R59,414,868 51,768,993 £48,852,617

The Group’s inventories are stated at NRV as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Under the terms of agreements, merchandise inventories amounting to £2,583.1 million and
£2,036.0 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are covered by trust receipts
issued by local banks (see Note 10).

Cost of inventories sold during the period follows:

. 2024 2023 2022
Inventories at beginning of year ®3,402,594,677 £2,715,412,086 £2,031,284,953
Purchases 10,198,656,582  8,620,161,060  7,966,926,194
Cost of goods available for sale 13,601,251,259 11,335,573,146 9,998,211,147
Less inventories at end of year (4,538,270,391) (3,402,594,677) (2,715,412,086)

R9,062,980,868 R7,932,978,469 R7,282,799,061

7. Other Assets

This account includes:

Note 2024 2023
Refundable lease deposits 16 R243,801,968 £213,463,543
Prepayments 4,468,580 3,685,777
Input VAT - 2,890,144

248,270,548 220,039,464

Less noncurrent portion of refundable lease
deposits 77,828,402 59,723,407
R170,442,146 R160,316,057

Prepayments pertain to advance payment of rent under short-term leases and business permits.
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Construction in progress represents the accumulated costs incurred in the construction of a
warehouse and additional stores which are expected to be completed in 2025. As at
December 31, 2024, the estimated total cost to complete the warehouse and store branches
amounted to P25.5 million. In 2024 and 2023, borrowing costs amounting to 9.0 million and
P11.1 million, respectively, were capitalized. Capitalization rate used in 2024 and 2023 were 7.74%
and 5.69%, respectively (see Note 10). The capitalized borrowing costs were presented as non-cash
financial information in the statements of cash flows.

The Group’s building with a carrying amount of R157.7 million and R164.9 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, was used as collateral for a related party’s outstanding
loan with a local bank (see Note 14).

Fully depreciated property and equipment still being used by the Group amounted to
£322.2 million and R123.7 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization are recognized from:

Note 2024 2023 2022
ROU assets 16 R294,210,418 208,427,954 £178,152,909
Property and equipment 113,848,995 100,647,058 102,677,430

R408,059,413 2309,075,012 2280,830,339

Depreciation and amortization are charged to the following (see Note 12):

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses ®318,696,401 219,442,677 208,411,535
General and administrative expenses 89,363,012 89,632,335 72,418,804

R408,059,413 R309,075,012 £280,830,339

9.

Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

Note 2024 2023
Trade R1,142,591,736 P1,256,409,554
Statutory payables 25,567,738 18,219,072
Accrued expenses 8,164,973 17,203,355
Retention payables 5,678,831 3,112,053
Advances from a related party 14 - 25,403,485
Others 5,610,398 2,495,665

R1,187,613,676 PR1,322,843,184

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing, unsecured and payable in cash within 90 days.

Statutory payables include VAT payable, withholding taxes payable and payables to other
government agencies which are normally settled in the following month.
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Accrued expenses pertain to interests, contracted and other services, professional fees and utilities
which are settled within the next reporting period.

Retention payables pertain to the amounts retained by the Group from payments to contractors for
the construction contracts. These are deducted as a percentage of the amount certified as due to
the contractor and paid upon final acceptance of the constructed property.

Others pertain to refundable customer deposits and other nontrade payables.

10.

Bank Loans and Trust Receipts Payable

Movements and balances in this account are as follows:

2024
Bank Loans Trust Receipts Total
Balance at beginning of year R916,666,667 R850,947,198 P1,767,613,865
Availments 300,000,000 2,583,052,863 2,883,052,863
Payments - (2,147,709,079) (2,147,709,079)
Balance at end of year R1,216,666,667 PR1,286,290,982 R®2,502,957,649
2023
Bank Loans Trust Receipts Total
Balance at beginning of year R641,666,667 R1,092,978,146 R1,734,644,813
Availments 575,000,000 2,036,018,632 2,611,018,632
Payments (300,000,000) (2,278,049,580)  (2,578,049,580)
Balance at end of year R916,666,667 R850,947,198 R1,767,613,865

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the bank loans and trust receipts have terms of three months to
one year, subject to refinancing upon approval of the creditor bank. Bank loans were obtained for
working capital purposes and to finance ongoing construction of the Group. Trust receipts were
obtained to finance the purchase of inventories. Interest rates on the bank loans and trust receipts
range from 5.63% to 8.00% in 2024, 4.88% t0 9.25% in 2023 and 3.50% to 9.25% in 2022.

Trust Receipts
Under the terms of agreements, merchandise inventories amounting to £2,583.1 million and

£2,036.0 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were covered by trust receipts
issued by local banks (see Note 6).

Covenants

As at December 31, 2022, the Group was compliant with loan covenants which include, among
others, (1) not entering into any partnership or joint venture or commence a new business; sell,
lease, transfer or otherwise dispose all or substantially all of its assets; or voluntary suspend its
business operations or work or dissolve its affairs; and (2) entering into management contracts
and/or make any major policy change. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank loans
are no longer subject to loan covenants.
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Details of finance costs charged to operations are as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022

Interest on bank loans R68,590,006 £51,534,693 R16,295,368

Interest on trust receipts 63,929,788 68,676,271 47,067,120
Accretion of interest on lease

liabilities 16 29,060,987 14,358,173 10,784,915

161,580,781 134,569,137 74,147,403

Less capitalized borrowing cost 8 (9,042,488) (11,074,116) -

R152,538,293 £123,495,021 R74,147,403

In 2024 and 2023, borrowing costs amounting to £9.0 million and 211.1 million, respectively,
were capitalized. Capitalization rate used in 2024 and 2023 were 7.74% and 5.69%, respectively
(see Note 8). No finance costs were capitalized in 2022. Accrued interest payable presented under
“Accrued expenses” in the “Trade and other payables” account in the statements of financial
position amounted to 1.8 million and 3.8 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

(see Note 21).

11. Equity

Capital Stock

The Parent Company’s capital stock comprises of common shares with par value of R0.20 a share as

at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Details of capital stock follow:

2024 2023 2022
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Authorized
Balance at beginning of year  6,250,000,000 ®1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 #1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000 R1,250,000,000
Effect of share split - - - — 5,000,000,000 -
Balance at end of year 6,250,000,000 R1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 R1,250,000,000 6,250,000,000 R1,250,000,000
Issued and Outstanding
Balance at beginning of year 3,125,001,300 PR625,000,260 2,500,000,300  #500,000,060 500,000,000  R500,000,000
Effect of share split - - - - 2,000,000,000 -
Issuance - - 625,001,000 125,000,200 300 60
3,125,001,300  #625,000,260  2,500,000,300  ®500,000,060

Balance at end of year 3,125,001,300 R625,000,260

On November 15, 2021, the Board of Directors (BOD) and the stockholders approved the increase in
the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock from 500,000,000 shares at R1 par value a share,
or equivalent to #500.0 million, to 1,250,000,000 shares at the same par value, or equivalent to
P1,250.0 million. This was approved by the SEC on December 17, 2021. Of the increase, 232,500,000
shares at P1 par value a share, or equivalent to 232.5 million, were subscribed and paid by the

stockholders as at December 31, 2021 (see Note

1)

On February 2, 2022, the BOD and the stockholders approved the amendments to the Parent
Company’s articles of incorporation which included a five-to-one share split where one share at
R1 par value a share will be converted to five shares at £0.20 par value a share. The SEC approved
the share split on April 12, 2022. The increase in authorized capital stock and share split were
pursuant to the public offering of the Parent Company’s shares with the PSE (see Note 1).



=G

In 2022, the Parent Company issued 300 shares at a par value of 20.20 a share, or equivalent to P60,
which were paid in cash.

On April 3, 2023, the Parent Company completed the IPO of its 625,001,000 common shares at an
offer price of R2.40 a share (see Note 1). The net proceeds from the IPO amounting to
P1,401.8 million, net of offer expenses of 298.2 million, were intended for the Parent Company’s
store network expansion and store improvement program. The unapplied proceeds as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounting to 2590.6 million and R983.0 million, respectively, are
maintained in the Group’s cash in bank and cash equivalents (see Note 4).

Pursuant to the PSE's rules on minimum public ownership, at least 20% of the issued and
outstanding shares of a listed company must be owned and held by the public. Public ownership
over the Parent Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 were 21.74%.

Additional paid-in capital, which represents the excess of the offer price over the par value of the
shares issued, net of directly attributable stock issuance costs of R69.7 million, amounted to
£1,305.3 million.

Details of the additional paid-in capital are as follows:

Amount

Additional paid-in capital R1,375,002,200
Less stock issuance costs:

Underwriting and selling fees 49,107,219

Professional fees 15,332,630

Others 5,254,303

R1,305,308,048

Retained Earnings
Under Section 43 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines, stock corporations are

prohibited from retaining surplus profits in excess of one hundred (100%) percent of paid-in capital
except when justified by corporate expansion projects and when it is necessary for special reserve
for probable contingencies, among others. The Parent Company’s paid-in capital (including
additional paid-in capital) amounted to £1,930.3 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, while
the unappropriated retained earnings of the Parent Company amounted to ®1,172.5 million and
£800.5 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Dividend Declaration
Details of the cash dividends declared by the Parent Company in 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

Date of BOD approval Stockholders of record Dividend per share Amount
February 28, 2024 March 13, 2024 R0.06 R187,500,078
July 12, 2023 July 26, 2023 0.04 138,000,057
November 15, 2022 September 30, 2022 0.16 390,000,000

No dividends payable were outstanding as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Appropriations

On March 24, 2023, the BOD approved the appropriation of retained earnings amounting to
£78.0 million for the construction of a warehouse. The completion of the construction of the
warehouse was extended to 2024. On November 9, 2023, the BOD approved the retention of the
appropriation. On March 21, 2024, the BOD approved the reversal of retained earnings
appropriated for the construction of a warehouse amounting to P78.0 million.

Non-controlling Interests
The Group’s non-controlling interests represent ownership of non-controlling interests’ stockholders
of iStudio (48%) and UGI (10%) aggregating to R13.5 million as at December 31, 2024.

Movements in 2024 are as follows:

Amount
Additions £12,000,000
Net income 1,455,116

Balance at end of year

R13,455,116

No dividends paid to non-controlling interests in 2024. There are no dividends payable to non-

controlling interests as at December 31, 2024.

12.

Operating Expenses

This account consists of:

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses R1,557,868,348 PR1,338,813,250  R1,235,717,334
General and administrative expenses 366,581,037 337,167,179 294,386,414
R1,924,449,385 R1,675,980,429 R1,530,103,748
Selling and marketing expenses consist of:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Merchant discount R387,586,919 R304,859,917 R296,226,878
Personnel costs 344,604,638 296,953,998 289,705,675
Depreciation and amortization 8 318,696,401 219,442,677 208,411,535
Rent 16 200,452,585 251,986,409 197,986,410
Utilities 145,193,801 131,221,218 116,674,928
Contracted and other services 130,077,550 97,759,776 65,315,214
Freight and delivery 11,832,447 14,765,157 13,854,500

Provision for inventory
obsolescence 6 7,645,875 2,916,376 24,841,900
Advertising 7,293,865 15,129,392 19,382,030
Retirement expense 15 4,484,267 3,778,330 3,318,264

R1,557,868,348

£1,338,813,250

R1,235,717,334
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General and administrative expenses consist of:

Note - 2024 2023 2022
Personnel costs R102,448,544 R97,505,755 R84,115,846
Depreciation and amortization 8 89,363,012 89,632,335 72,418,804
Taxes and licenses 80,380,331 61,079,416 56,505,615

Repairs, warranties and
maintenance 19,699,558 12,504,093 15,774,826
Transportation and travel 16,295,947 12,156,859 10,687,695
Stationery and supplies 15,103,463 13,635,938 11,333,539
Representation 14,584,295 8,301,601 8,881,915
Professional fees 9,052,787 8,088,818 9,886,794
Insurance 6,267,605 7,817,667 4,986,726
Retirement expense 15 1,367,565 1,240,626 963,456
IPO expense - 16,546,052 8,273,027
Rent 16 - 492,696 4,472,060
Others 12,017,930 8,165,323 6,086,111
R366,581,037 337,167,179 R294,386,414

Personnel costs consist of:
2024 2023 2022
Salaries and wages R393,613,526 £346,795,528 £322,011,067
Other employee benefits 53,439,656 47,664,225 51,810,454
R447,053,182 £394,459,753 R373,821,521

13. Other Income
This account consists of:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Interest income 4 R27,085,544 246,811,084 B544,189
Realized foreign exchange gain 8,828,916 7,472,929 7,021,758
Gain on lease modification 16 70,171 102,070 -
Gain on lease concessions 16 - - 17,500,079
Other income 305,323,279 251,696,272 117,008,318
R341,307,910 R306,082,355 R142,074,344

Other income mainly pertains to income from product advertising or promotional support from
suppliers.
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14. Related Party Transactions

The Group has transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Nature of Transactions during the Year Outstanding Balance
Transaction 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023
Trade and Other
Receivables
(see Note 5)
Advances for
business
development
Stockholder expenses R- £31,791,848 L 31,791,848 £31,791,848
Trade and Other Payables
(see Note 9)
Entity under common Advances
control {payments) (R25,403,485) R R R- £25,403,485
Lease Arrangement
(see Note 16)
ROU asset
amortization (R66,983,862) (R68,963,541) (R56,663,023) R67,547,562 R18,764,032
Entity under common Lease liability
control payment (71,317,521) (68,402,482) (60,565,286) 70,011,098 19,350,782
Gain on lease
modification (70,171) - - - -

Terms and Conditions

Advances to a Stockholder
Advances to a stockholder are unsecured noninterest-bearing advances for ordinary travel or business
development expenses which are subsequently liquidated.

Advances from a Related Party
Advances from a related party are unsecured, noninterest-bearing, due and demandable and are
settled in cash.

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables
as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Group has not recognized any impairment on amounts due
from related parties in 2024, 2023 and 2022. This assessment is undertaken each financial year
through a review of the financial position of the related parties and the market in which the related
parties operate.

The Group’s building with a carrying amount of P157.7 million and R164.9 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, was used as collateral for a related party’s outstanding
loan with a local bank (see Note 8).

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group are set out below:

2024 2023 2022
Short-term employee benefits R6,853,860 26,853,860 26,853,860
Post-employment benefits 665,628 665,628 298,574

R7,519,488 £7,519,488 £7,152,434
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15. Retirement Liability

The Group has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan covering substantially all
qualified employees. The retirement liability is based on years of service and compensation based
on the last year of employment as determined by an external actuary. The latest actuarial valuation
was dated December 31, 2024.

There are no unusual or significant risks to which the retirement liability exposes the Group.
However, in the event a benefit claim arises under the retirement liability, the benefit shall
immediately be due and payable by the Group.

Retirement expense recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is as
follows:

2024 2023 2022

Current service cost R3,255,830 R2,544,484 P2,627,547
Interest cost 2,596,002 2,474,472 1,654,173
#5,851,832 £5,018,956 24,281,720

Retirement expense is charged to the following (see Note 12):

2024 2023 2022

Selling and marketing expenses R4,484,267 23,778,330 £3,318,264
General and administrative expenses 1,367,565 1,240,626 963,456
R5,851,832 £5,018,956 24,281,720

The movements in retirement liability recognized in the consolidated statements of financial

position are as follows:

2024 2023

Balance at beginning of year R41,870,993 £33,438,809

Current service cost 3,255,830 2,544,484

Interest cost 2,596,002 2,474,472
Remeasurement losses (gains) from:

Changes in financial assumptions 597,575 5,695,765

Experience adjustments 301,346 (2,282,537)

Balance at end of year R48,621,746 £41,870,993

The assumptions used to determine retirement liability are as follows:
2024 2023 2022
Discount rate 6.10% 6.20% 7.40%

Salary increase rate 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
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December 31, 2024 follow:
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on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions as at

Effect on Present Value
Basis Points of Retirement Liability

Discount rate

Salary increase rate

+100 (R5,515,205)
-100 6,624,033
+100 6,512,023
-100 (5,517,212)

The sensitivity analysis above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the
impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period.

The Group does not maintain a fund for its retirement liability. While funding is not a requirement of
the law, there is a risk that the Group may not have the cash if several employees retire within the

same year.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan at December 31, 2024 is 15 years.

Details of accumulated remeasurement losses on retirement liability recognized in equity are as

follows:

2024
Deferred

Accumulated Accumulated

Remeasurement Income Tax Remeasurement
Losses (see Note 17) Losses, Net of Tax
Balance at beginning of year £9,086,274 (R2,271,569) R6,814,705
Remeasurement loss 898,921 (224,730) 674,191
Balance at end of year £9,985,195 (R2,496,299) R7,488,896
2023
Accumulated Deferred Accumulated

Remeasurement Income Tax Remeasurement
Losses (see Note 17) Losses, Net of Tax
Balance at beginning of year 25,673,046 (R1,418,262) £4,254,784
Remeasurement loss 3,413,228 (853,307) 2,559,921
Balance at end of year £9,086,274 (R2,271,569) 26,814,705
2022
Accumulated Deferred Accumulated

Remeasurement Income Tax Remeasurement

Losses (see Note 17) Losses, Net of Tax

Balance at beginning of year £8,326,975 (R2,081,744) 26,245,231
Remeasurement gain (2,653,929) 663,482 (1,990,447)
Balance at end of year £5,673,046 (R1,418,262) £4,254,784
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Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan

e Interest Rate Risks. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using
a discount rate determined by reference to market yields of government bonds.
Generally, a decrease in the interest rate of a reference government bonds will increase the plan
obligation.

e Longevity and Salary Risks. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by
reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the plan participants both during and after
their employment, and to their future salaries. Consequently, increases in the life expectancy
and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan obligation.

As at December 31, 2024, the expected future benefit payments are as follows:

Amount
More than 1 year to 5 years 212,228,495
More than 5 years to 10 years 10,908,678
10 years and up 378,881,051

. Lease Commitments

Short-term Lease
The Group leases certain office, store and advertisement spaces for a period of less than
one (1) year at a fixed rental based on agreement with the lessors.

Total rent expense on short-term leases is charged to the following (see Note 12):

2024 2023 2022
Selling and marketing expenses R200,452,585 £251,986,409 £197,986,410
General and administrative expenses - 492,696 4,472,060

R200,452,585 £252,479,105 R202,458,470

Long-term Lease
The Group has non-cancellable lease agreements with a related party and third parties for its

warehouse, office, parking lots and store spaces for more than 12 months for which ROU assets and
corresponding lease liabilities are recognized.

ROU Assets
The balance of and movements in ROU assets are as follows:

Note 2024 2023
Cost
Balance at beginning of year R1,250,321,423 £1,017,780,596
Additions 436,096,715 232,869,169
Effect of lease modification (1,859,580) (328,342)
Balance at end of year 1,684,558,558 1,250,321,423
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of year 974,894,570 766,466,616
Amortization 8 294,210,418 208,427,954
Balance at end of year 1,269,104,988 974,894,570

Carrying Amount #415,453,570 275,426,853




Lease Liabilities

The balance and movements in lease liabilities are as follows:
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Note 2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year R275,193,672 £250,610,778
Additions 436,011,215 230,774,915
Payments (339,065,432) (220,119,782)
Accretion 10 29,060,987 14,358,173
Effect of lease modification (1,929,751) (430,412)
Balance at end of year 399,270,691 275,193,672
Current portion 301,608,037 147,320,374
Noncurrent portion R97,662,654 P127,873,298

Incremental borrowing rate ranging from 3.4% to 7.0% was applied to determine the discounted
amount of lease liabilities in 2024 and 2023.

In 2024 and 2023, the Group has pre-terminated lease agreements resulting to a gain on lease
modification of 0.1 million (see Note 13).

Gain on lease concessions pertains to the difference between contractual lease payments and the
payments made under lease concession agreements directly attributable to COVID-19. Gains related
to lease concessions amounted to R17.5 million in 2022 (see Note 13). There were no gains on lease
concession recognized in 2024 and 2023.

The future minimum lease payments and present value as at December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Minimum
Lease Payments Present Value
Not later than one year R318,383,527 R301,608,037
Later than one year but not more than five years 99,431,282 97,662,654

R417,814,809 £399,270,691

Rent related expense recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as
follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022

ROU assets amortization 8 R294,210,418 208,427,954 £178,152,909

Short-term leases 200,452,585 252,479,105 202,458,470
Accretion of interest on lease

liabilities 10 29,060,987 14,358,173 10,784,915

523,723,990 R475,265,232 R391,396,294

Total cash outflow for leases, including short-term leases, amounted to £539.5 million,
R472.6 million and R383.1 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Refundable Lease Deposits
Lease deposits, which are refundable at the end of the lease term if unutilized, aggregate
£243.8 million and B213.5 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 7).
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17. Income Taxes

The provision for current income tax pertains to regular corporate income tax (RCIT) in 2024, 2023
and 2022.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the statutory tax rate to provision for income tax as
shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Income tax computed at the statutory tax
rate R159,148,658 R145,996,734 R179,251,315
Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset 706,344 - -
Adjustment for:
Interest income already subjected
to final tax (6,771,386) (11,702,771) (136,047)
Nondeductible expenses 1,694,019 2,925,692 34,013
Expenses charged to APIC - (17,423,538) -
Effect of lower income tax rate 185,114 - -

R154,962,749 R119,796,117 R179,149,281

In 2024, the UGI incurred NOLCO amounting to 3.5 million that will expire in 2027.

As at December 31, 2024, deferred tax asset arising from UGI's NOLCO amounting to 0.7 million
were not recognized. Management has assessed that it is not probable that future taxable income
will be available against which the benefit of the deferred tax asset can be utilized.

The Group’s net deferred tax assets in the statements of financial position consist of the following:

Note 2024 2023
Deferred Tax Assets:
Allowance for inventory obsolescence R14,853,717 P12,942,248
Retirement liability:
Profit or loss 9,659,138 8,196,180
oci 15 2,496,299 2,271,569
27,009,154 23,409,997
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Capitalized borrowing cost (5,029,151) (2,768,529)
Excess of ROU assets over lease liabilities (4,054,596) (58,295)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - (1,522,269)
(9,083,747) (4,349,093)

R17,925,407 R19,060,904

18. Financial Risk Management

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s business activities expose it to certain financial risks which includes credit risk, liquidity
risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management program seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The BOD reviews and approves
the policies for managing each of these risks.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
a financial loss to the Group. Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to credit risk consist
primarily of cash in banks, cash equivalents, accrued interest receivables and trade receivables.

Risk Management. To manage credit risk, the Group deals only with reputable banks and
creditworthy third parties. Sales to retail customers are required to be settled in cash or through
major credit cards, further mitigating credit risk. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk, whether through exposure to individual customers and/or specific industry sectors.

The table below shows the gross maximum exposure of the Group to credit risk:

2024 2023
Cash in banks and cash equivalents R886,738,609 £1,358,508,038
Trade receivables : 284,735,673 134,936,141
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 9,258,082

®1,173,548,449 £1,502,702,261

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of cash in banks, cash equivalents, trade receivables
and accrued interest receivable are neither past due nor impaired and were classified as “High
Grade”. High grade financial assets are those accounts with counterparties who are not expected by
the Group to default in settling its obligations, thus credit risk exposure is minimal. This normally
includes large prime financial institutions and companies. Credit quality was determined based on
the credit standing of the counterparty.

Security. The Group does not hold collateral as security.

Impairment. Impairment analysis for trade receivables is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
based on customer type and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written-off if collection cannot be made despite exhausting all
extra-judicial and legal means of collection.

There are no guarantees against trade receivables but these receivables from credit card companies
and reputable third parties which are generally collectible within three (3) to thirty (30) days from
transaction date. Historical information and present circumstances do not indicate any significant
risk of impairment. Thus, management did not recognize allowance for ECL.

For other financial assets at amortized cost which mainly comprise of cash in banks, cash
equivalents and accrued interest receivable, the Group applies the general approach in measuring
ECL. Management assessed that the application of the general approach does not result to
significant expected credit losses and thus, did not recognize allowance for ECL.

The Group assessed that the credit risk on the financial assets has not increased significantly since
initial recognition because cash in banks, cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable are
deposited with reputable counterparty banks, which exhibit good credit ratings.
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The following table summarizes the impairment analysis of the Group’s financial assets at amortized
cost. It indicates whether the financial assets at amortized cost were subject to a
12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and, in the latter case, whether these were credit-impaired.

2024
Lifetime ECL -
Not Credit Lifetime ECL -
12-Month ECL Impaired Credit impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents R886,738,609 R- R- R886,738,609
Trade receivables - 284,735,673 - 284,735,673
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 - - 2,074,167
1888,812,776 R284,735,673 R- R1,173,548,449
2023
Lifetime ECL -
Not Credit Lifetime ECL -
12-Month ECL Impaired Credit Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents £1,358,508,038 B- R— R1,358,508,038
Trade receivables - 134,936,141 - 134,936,141
Accrued interest receivable 9,258,082 - - 9,258,082
R1,367,766,120 R134,936,141 R— 21,502,702,261

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. the Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The tables below detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

2024
6 Months to More than
1 to 6 Months 1Year 1Year Total
Trade and other payables* R1,156,367,107 R5,678,831 BR- #1,162,045,938
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 1,286,290,982 1,216,666,667 - 2,502,957,649
Lease liabilities 178,011,796 140,371,731 99,431,282 417,814,809
R2,620,669,885 R1,362,717,229 R99,431,282 R4,082,818,396
*Excluding statutory payables.
2023
6 Months to More than
1 to 6 Months 1 Year 1 Year Total
Trade and other payables* R1,301,512,059 B3,112,053 B—  R1,304,624,112
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 850,947,198 916,666,667 - 1,767,613,865
Lease liabilities 88,928,784 72,307,133 123,702,631 - 284,938,548
B2,241,388,041 R992,085,853 £123,702,631 £3,357,176,525

*Excluding statutory payables.
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows from a financial instrument (cash flow interest rate

risk) or its fair value (fair value interest rate risk) will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates.

The Group’s loans payable to local banks are subject to a repricing interest rate with and are
exposed to fair value interest rate risk. The repricing of these instruments is done on a semiannual
basis.

The Group regularly monitors interest rate movements and on the basis of current and projected
economic and monetary data, decides on the best alternative to take. No sensitivity analysis is
needed as future interest rate changes are not expected to significantly affect the Group’s net
income.

These loans are promissory notes under loan facilities which mature within 90 days to one year as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and bear an effective interest rate ranging 5.63% to 8.00% in 2024
and 4.88% to 9.25% in 2023.

19.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are shown below:

2024 2023

Carrying Amount

Fair Value

Carrying Amount

Fair Value

Financial Assets:

Cash in banks and cash equivalents R886,738,609 R886,738,609 P1,358,508,038 R1,358,508,038
Trade receivables 284,735,673 284,735,673 134,936,141 134,936,141
Accrued interest receivable 2,074,167 2,074,167 9,258,082 9,258,082
#1,173,548,449 R1,173,548,449 R1,502,702,261 £1,502,702,261
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and other payables* R1,162,045,938 R1,162,045,938 R1,304,624,112 R1,304,624,112
Bank loans and trust receipts payable 2,502,957,649 2,502,957,649 1,767,613,865 1,767,613,865
Lease liabilities 399,270,691 393,889,799 275,193,672 268,423,967
#4,064,274,278 R4,058,893,386 #3,347,431,649 £3,340,661,944

*Excluding statutory payables.

Due to the short-term maturities of cash in banks, cash equivalents, trade receivables, accrued
interest receivable, trade and other payables (excluding statutory payables), and bank loans and
trust receipts payable, their carrying amounts approximate their fair values (Level 3).

Lease Liabilities. Estimated fair values have been calculated on the lease liabilities’ expected cash
flows using the prevailing market rates that are specific to the tenor of the instruments' cash flows
at reporting dates (Level 2).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no financial instruments measured at fair value.
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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20. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity
balance. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total liabilities and equity. The Group manages the
capital structure and makes adjustments when there are changes in economic condition, its
business activities, expansion programs and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group’s debt-to-equity ratio is as follows:

2024 2023
Total liabilities R4,175,174,709 R3,424,697,703
Total equity 3,107,462,947  2,802,005,332
Debt-to-equity ratio 1.34:1 1.22:1

21.

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes as at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, Accretion Non-cash December 31,
2023 Additions Interest expense Payment Changes 2024

Bank loans and trust
receipts payable R1,767,613,865 #2,883,052,863 R- (R2,147,709,079) B- #2,502,957,649
Lease liabilities 275,193,672 436,011,215 29,060,987 (339,065,432) {(1,929,751) 399,270,691
Dividends payable - 187,500,078 - (187,500,078) - -
Accrued interest payable 3,844,338 - 132,519,794 (134,586,318) - 1,777,814

®2,046,651,875 R3,506,564,156 R161,580,781 (P2,808,860,907) (R1,929,751) R2,904,006,154

December 31, Accretion/ Non-cash December 31,
2022 Additions Interest expense Payment Changes 2023

Bank loans and trust
receipts payable £1,734,644,813 R2,611,018,632 - (R2,578,049,580) g~ PR1,767,613,865
Lease liabilities 250,610,778 230,774,915 14,358,173 (220,119,782) (430,412) 275,193,672
Dividends payable 275,306,000 138,000,057 - (413,306,057) - -
Accrued interest payable 2,953,922 - 120,210,964 (119,320,548) - 3,844,338
£2,263,515,513  R2,979,793,604 £134,569,137 (®3,330,795,967) (R430,412) #2,046,651,875

22.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Net income attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company £480,176,768 R464,190,818 P537,855,981
Divided by weighted average number of
outstanding shares 3,125,001,300 2,968,751,050 2,500,000,300

RO.15 R0.16 R0.22
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The earnings per share calculation reflects the changes in the number of outstanding shares as a
result of the share split in 2022 and listing of shares in 2023 (see Note 11).

On April 3, 2023, the Parent Company’s shares of stock were listed under the Main Board of the PSE
with an initial public offering of 625,001,000 common shares at an offer price of P2.40 a share
(see Note 11).

The Parent Company has no dilutive potential shares in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

23.

Operating Segment Information

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be operating segments as the Group's risks
and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the nature of products being sold.
The operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
products provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit.

Business Segments
The Group’s main businesses in 2024 are as follows:

e Retail of information and communications technology (ICT) products.
e Retail of water filtration and purification devices.

In 2023 and 2022, the Group’s business segment comprises solely of ICT products. The related key
financial information are basically the same as those presented on the face of the financial
statements.

Geographical Segments
The Group operates and generates revenue principally in the Philippines. Consequently,
geographical business information is not applicable.

Sales are attributable to revenue from the general public, which are generated through the Group’s
store outlets. Consequently, the Group has no concentrations of revenue from a single customer in
2024, 2023 and 2022.

Management monitors operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or
loss in the consolidated financial statements.

On a consolidated basis, the Group’s performance is evaluated based on core net income for the
year. Core net income is measured as consolidated net income.
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The following tables present revenue and expense information and certain assets and liabilities
information regarding the different business segments as at and for the years ended
December 31, 2024:

2024
Water Filtration and
ICT Products Purification Devices Eliminations Total

REVENUE R11,435,439,327 R—- (R184,058)  R11,435,255,269
COST OF SALES (9,063,163,104) - 182,236 (9,062,980,868)
GROSS INCOME 2,372,276,223 - (1,822) 2,372,274,401
OPERATING EXPENSES (1,920,839,588) (3,611,619) 1,822 (1,924,449,385)
FINANCE COSTS (152,435,977) (102,316) - (152,538,293)
OTHER INCOME 341,306,623 1,287 - 341,307,910
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 640,307,281 (3,712,648) - 636,594,633
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)

INCOME TAX
Current 153,602,522 - - 153,602,522
Deferred 1,395,733 (35,506) - 1,360,227

154,998,255 (35,506) - 154,962,749

NET INCOME 485,309,026 (3,677,142) - 481,631,884
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Not to be reclassified to profit or

loss in subsequent periods
Remeasurement loss on retirement

liability - net of deferred income

tax (674,191) - - (674,191)
TOTAL COMPHRENSIVE INCOME R484,634,835 (R3,677,142) R— R480,957,693
SEGMENT ASSETS R7,351,928,818 R52,947,664 (R122,238,826) R7,282,637,656
SEGMENT LIABILITIES R4,214,788,729 £6,624,806 (R46,238,826) R4,175,174,709
Other Information
Depreciation and amortization R407,128,487 R930,926 B— R408,059,413
Additions to property and

equipment and ROU assets 635,516,103 4,156,111 - 639,672,214
Provision for inventory

obsolescence 7,645,875 - - 7,645,875



BOA/PRC Accreditation No. 4782 BDO Towers Valero
April 14, 2024, valid until June 6, 2026 8741 Paseo de Roxas

REYE S I AC AN D ONG & O. SEC Registration No, PP201007009 M’?kati City 1209 Phgispzpisngzz oo
b FIRM PRINCIPLES. WISE SOLUTIONS. f . eBosom
Website : www.reyestacandong.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Upson International Corp. and Subsidiaries
Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1

9t Avenue corner 34 Street

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing the basic consolidated financial
statements of Upson International Corp. (Parent Company) and Subsidiaries (the Group) as at and for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and the Parent Company financial statements as at December 31, 2023 and
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and have issued our report thereon dated
February 27, 2025. Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial
statements taken as a whole. The accompanying Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the
Group’s management. These supplementary schedules include the following:

e Supplementary Schedules as Required by Part Il of the Revised Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 68
as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024

e Reconciliation of Parent Company’s Retained Earnings Available for Dividends Declaration for the year
ended December 31, 2024

e Conglomerate Map as at December 31, 2024

These schedules are presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised SRC Rule 68 and are not part of
the basic consolidated financial statements. The information in these supplementary schedules have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic consolidated financial statements and,
in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole.

REYES TACANDONG & Co.

DMREESE Q. SALANGAD

Partner
CPA Certificate No. 107615
Tax |dentification No. 227-770-760-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782/P-019; Valid until June 6, 2026
BIR Accreditation No. 08-005144-016-2025
Valid until January 16, 2028
PTR No. 10467142
Issued January 2, 2025, Makati City

February 27, 2025
Makati City, Metro Manila

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD i SPRRRRITT
AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING RShﬁ

Reyes Tacandong & Co. is a member of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm, and practices in its own right. The RSM network is
not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction.



BOA/PRC Accreditation No. 4782 | BDO Towers Valero

g : April 14, 2024, valid until June 6, 2026 | 8741 Paseo de Roxas
REYE S AC AN D ONG O SEC Registration No. PP201007009 | Makati City 1209 Phifippines
. Phone : +632 8 982 9100
FIRM PRINCIPLES. WISE SOLUTIONS. Fax : +632 8982 911
Website . www.reyestacandong.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON
COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Upson International Corp. and Subsidiaries
Unit 2308, 23/F Capital House Tower 1

9t Avenue corner 34 Street

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City

We have audited in accordance with Philippines Standards on Auditing, the accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Upson International Corp. (Parent Company) and Subsidiaries (the Group) as at and
for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the Parent Company financial statements as at
December 31, 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and have issued our report
dated February 27, 2025. Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The Supplementary Schedule on Financial
Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, and their appropriateness or
usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Group’s management. These financial
soundness indicators are not measures of operating performance defined by Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards and may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies. This schedule is presented for purposes of complying with the
Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is
not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.
The components of these financial soundness indicators have been traced to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the Parent Company financial
statements as at December 31, 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and no
material exceptions were noted.

REYES TACANDONG & Co.
DA‘£R&LL;REESE Q. SAJANGAD
Partner

CPA Certificate No. 107615
Tax Identification No. 227-770-760-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782/P-019; Valid until June 6, 2026
BIR Accreditation No. 08-005144-016-2025
Valid until January 16, 2028
PTR No. 10467142
Issued January 2, 2025, Makati City

February 27, 2025
Makati City, Metro Manila

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD iiuzgencs i
AUDIT {TAX | CONSULTING RSBA

Reyes Tacandong & Co. is a member of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm, and practices in its own right. The RSM network is
not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES AS REQUIRED BY PART Ii OF THE REVISED SRC RULE 68

December 31, 2024
Schedule Description Page

A Financial Assets N/A
B Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties

and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)* N/A
C Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated During the

Consolidation of the Financial Statements 1
D Long-Term Debt** N/A
£ Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-term Loans from Related

Companies)*** N/A
F Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers N/A
G Capital Stock 2

* There are no receivables arising from activities that are not in the ordinary course of business that
aggregated more than £1.0 million or 1% of total assets, whichever is lower, as at December 31, 2024.
** There are no long-term debt as at December 31, 2024.

*#%% |ndebtedness to related parties are classified as current as at December 31, 2024.
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UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE G - CAPITAL STOCK

December 31, 2024

Number of
shares issued

Number of

and shares reserved Number of
outstanding as for captions, shares held
Number of shown under warrants, Number of by directors,
Shares related balance | conversion and shares held by officers and
Title of Issue | authorized sheet caption other rights related parties | employees Others
Common
shares 6,250,000,000 3,125,001,300 = 1,162,500,000 | 1,283,080,300 679,421,000
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UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF RECONCILIATION OF PARENT COMPANY’S RETAINED
EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning of reportin
g period
Less: Category A: ltems that are directly credited to Unappropriated
Retained Earnings
Reversal of retained earnings appropriation
Category B: ltems that are directly debited to Unappropriated
Retained Earnings
Dividend declaration during the period
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted
Add: Net Income for the current year
Less: Category F: Other Items that should be excluded from the
determination of the amount available for dividends distribution
Net movement in deferred tax assets

Total Retained Earnings, end of the reporting period available for dividend

R779,373,301

78,000,000 78,000,000

(187,500,078) (187,500,078)

669,873,223
481,511,463

(3,374,427)

£1,148,010,259



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE FOR LISTED COMPANIES WITH A

RECENT OFFERING OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Balance as at Balance as at

As Disclosed in January 1, Movements December 31,

Final Prospectus 2024 during the Year 2024

Gross Proceeds £1,500,002,400 #1,500,002,400 ®- R1,500,002,400
Offer Expenses (78,200,000) (98,156,179) - (98,156,179)
Net Proceeds 1,421,802,400 1,401,846,221 - . 1,401,846,221

Use of Proceeds
Store network expansion and

store improvement program 1,421,802,400 (418,844,712) (392,388,208) (811,232,920)
Unapplied Proceeds R £983,001,509 (®392,388,208) #590,613,301

The actual offer expenses exceeded the initially estimated amount by R20.0 million. Accordingly,
the BOD approved the allocation of the proceeds of the same amount from store network expansion
and improvement program to offer expenses on July 12, 2023.



UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS
(BASED ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024
and PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at and for the year ended December 31, 2023)

Ratio Formula 2024 2023
Current/Liquidity Ratio

Current assets R5,862,284,849 R5,053,072,947

Divided by: Current liabilities 4,028,890,309 3,254,953,412

Current/Liquidity ratio 1.46:1.00 1.55:1.00
Solvency Ratio

Net income before depreciation

and amortization R889,691,297 £773,265,830

Divided by: Total liabilities 4,175,174,709 3,424,697,703

Solvency ratio 0.21:1.00 0.23:1.00
Debt-to-Equity Ratio

Total liabilities ®4,175,174,709 P3,424,697,703

Divided by: Total equity 3,107,462,947 2,802,005,332

Debt-to-Equity ratio 1.34:1.00 1.22:1.00
Asset-to-Equity Ratio

Total assets R7,282,637,656 R6,226,703,035

Divided by: Total equity 3,107,462,947 2,802,005,332

Asset-to-Equity ratio 2.34:1.00 2.22:1.00
Interest Rate Coverage Ratio

Income before interest and

taxes R789,132,926 R707,481,956

Divided by: Interest expense 152,538,293 123,495,021

Interest Rate Coverage ratio 5.17:1.00 5.73:1.00
Return on Assets Ratio

Net income R481,631,884 £464,190,818

Divided by: Total assets 7,282,637,656 6,226,703,035

Return on Assets ratio 0.07:1.00 0.07:1.00
Return on Equity Ratio

Net income P481,631,884 £464,190,818

Divided by: Total equity 3,107,462,947 2,802,005,332

Return on Equity ratio 0.15:1.00 0.17:1.00
Net Profit Margin

Net income #481,631,884 £464,190,818

Divided by: Revenues 11,435,255,269 10,010,358,499

Net Profit Margin 0.04:1.00 0.05:1.00




UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR FEE RELATED INFORMATION

December 31, 2024
Current Year Prior Year
Total Audit Fees R3,500,000 £2,700,000
Non-audit service fees:
Other assurance services - -
Tax services 625,000 1,250,000
All other services:
Assistance in Compilation of
Nonfinancial Data and Report
Summarization 900,000 1,000,000
Agreed-upon Procedures on Use of
* 1PO Proceeds 200,000 200,000
EPR Audit 120,000 130,000
Total Non-audit Fees 1,845,000 2,580,000
Total Audit and Non-audit Fees R5,345,000 £5,280,000
Audit and Non-audit fees of other related entities
Audit fees R P
Non-audit service fees:
Other assurance services - -
Tax services - -
All other services - -
Total Audit and Non-audit Fees R P-
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| Management Discussion and Analysis

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Plan of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and notes

thereto, which form part of this SEC Form Amended 17-A as “Exhibit 1”. The financial statements and notes
thereto have been prepared in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Key Highlights

UPSON closed with a consolidated net income of #481.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2024. This yielded a net income margin of 4.33% or an increase of 3.73% year-on-year compared to the reported
parent company net income of #464.2 million in 2023.

Revenues

Consolidated net revenues reached #11,435.3 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024,
increasing by 14.23% from reported Parent Company revenues of #10,010.4 million in 2023. The Parent Company
opened 13 stores in 2024. This represents a 5.60% growth in store network from 232 in 2023 to 245 in 2024.
Increase in the revenue for 2024, also includes the revenues from the newly incorporated subsidiary iStudio,
which contributed P1.5 million in 2024.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 2024, the consolidated cost of sales increased by 14.24% from the Parent Company cost of
sales of £7,933.0 million in 2023 to £9,063.0 million. The increase in cost of sales was mainly caused by the
proportionate increase in volume of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, as compared with
the twelve months in 2023.

Gross Profit

Consolidated gross profit amounted to £2,372.3 million for the year 2024, an increased by 14.20% from the
Parent Company gross profit of #2,077.4 million in the previous year. This yielded a corresponding gross profit
margin of 20.75% as a result of a higher gross margin.

Operating Expenses

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, consolidated operating expenses totaled #1,924.4 million,
representing 16.83% cost-to-sales ratio. This is #248.5 million or 14.83% higher compared to the Parent Company
operating expense of £1,676.0 million during the same period in 2023. Significant increase in operating expenses
include personnel costs, merchant discount, and depreciation and amortization.



Finance Cost

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, consolidated finance cost reached £152.5 million, a 23.52%
increase from the Parent Company finance cost of #123.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2023. The increase was mainly caused by the increase in liabilities under trust receipts due to continued store
expansion activities in 2024.

Other Income

Other income totaled #341.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This was composed mainly of
rebates, interest income and other income.

Income Tax Expense

Consolidated provision for income tax closed at #155.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased
by £35.2 million or 29.36% from the Parent Company provision for income tax of £#119.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023. The increase was due to the higher Parent Company’s income before tax from £584.0
million in 2023 against the consolidated income before tax of #636.6 million in 2024.

Net Income

Consolidated net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, reached #481.6 million, an increase
of 3.76% or #17.4 million as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 of the Parent Company,
with net income of #464.2 million. The increase was attributable to the combined effects of pre-opening costs
of the additional 13 stores opened in 2024, and the higher gross margin due to revenue mix and higher product
margin rates from increased promotion, including product bunding and price discounts.

Financial Condition

The consolidated total assets as at December 31, 2024 was £7,282.6 million, an increase of £#1,056.0 million from
total assets of £#6,226.7 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents stood at #889.4 million as of December 31, 2024, a decrease of 34.6%
than the balance of #1,360.9 million of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2023. The decrease was due to
total net cash outflows from use of IPO proceeds and operating activities.

Trade and other receivables

Consolidated trade and other receivables were higher at #323.6 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of
78.75% from the amount of #181.1 million of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2023. Trade receivables
represent mainly outstanding receivables from credit card companies and other payment service providers. The
increase was due to the higher volume of sales in December 2024, and incentives on suppliers’ rebates.

Inventories

As at December 31, 2024, consolidated inventories increased to £#4,478.9 million from £3,350.8 million of the
Parent Company in 2023, an increase of 33.66% due to continuous store expansion activities in 2024.



Property and equipment

Consolidated property and equipment stood at #909.1 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of 10.95%
than the amount of #819.4 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase in property
and equipment was caused by the net impact of the new additional stores and warehouses opened in 2024,
mainly leasehold improvements, construction of warehouses, store furniture and equipment and transportation
equipment.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables decreased by 10.22% for the year 2024 from the Parent Company #1,322.8 million to
consolidated #1,187.6 million. The decrease was due to settlement of trade payables in 2024.

Bank loans and trust receipts

Consolidated bank loans and trust receipts amounted to #2,503.0 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase
by 41.60% from #1,767.6 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase was due to the
additional inventory purchased because of the Company’s expansion program in 2024.

Equity

Consolidated total equity was higher at #3,107.5 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of 10.90% from
$£2,802.0 million of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2023. The increase represents the net
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cash flows

Consolidated net cash used in operating activities amounted to #363.2 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2024, which consisted of income before tax of #636.6 million, increased by non-cash income and
expense aggregating #547.0 million. Working capital changes which include increase in trade and other
receivables, inventories, and other current assets, and decrease in trade and other payables amounted to
$£1,447.97 million outflows.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, the consolidated net cash used in investing activities, which
included the expenditures for additional leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures for the new stores and
construction of warehouses amounted to £194.5 million.

Consolidated net cash provided by financing activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 was
£86.2 million, primarily through the combined effect of proceeds and payments of bank loans and trust receipts,
arising from dividends, additions to lease liabilities and interest payments.

The consolidated net cash used for the year totaled #471.5 million, leading to consolidated cash balance of
$£889.4 million as at December 31, 2024.

Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022



Key Highlights

UPSON closed with a net income of £464.2 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2023. This yielded a net income margin of 4.6% or a decline of 13.7% year-on-year
compared to the reported net income of #537.9 million in 2022.

Revenues

Net revenues reached £10,010.4 million, increasing by 5.8% from reported revenues of
£9,462.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. The Company opened 25
stores in 2023. This represents a 11.5% growth in store network from 208 in 2022 to 232 in
2023.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 2023, cost of sales increased by 8.9% from £7,282.8 million in 2022 to
£7,933.0 million. The increase in cost of sales was mainly caused by the proportionate
increase in volume of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, as compared
with the twelve months in 2022.

Gross Profit

Gross profit amounted to £2,077.4 million for the year 2023, a decline by 4.67% from £2,179.2
million in the previous year. This yielded a corresponding gross profit margin of 20.75% as a
result of lower gross margin and pre-opening costs.

Operating Expenses

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, operating expenses totaled £1,676.0
million, representing 16.74% cost-to-sales ratio. This is P145.9 million or 9.53% higher
compared to #1,530.1 million during the same period in 2022. Significant operating expenses
include personnel costs, merchant discount, depreciation and amortization and rent. The

increase in operating expenses was caused by the material increase in rental and personnel
costs. These were mainly attributable to the 25 new stores that were added in 2023.

Finance Cost
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, finance cost reached £123.5 million, a

66.5% increase from P74.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was mainly caused by the increase in interest rates in 2023.

Other Income

Other income totaled #306.1 million as of year-end 2023. This was composed mainly of
rebates and other income, and interest income.

Income Tax Expense

Provision for income tax closed at #119.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2023, lower by £59.4 million or 33.1% from the amount of #179.1 million for the twelve months



ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was due to the lower Company’s income before tax
from 717.0 million in 2022 to £584.0 million in 2023.

Net Income

Net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, reached P464.2 million, a
decrease of 13.7% or £73.7 million as compared to the twelve months ended December 31,
2022, with a net income of P537.9 million. The decrease was attributable to the combined
effects of pre-opening costs of the additional 25 stores opened in 2023, and the lower gross
margin due to revenue mix and lower product margin rates from increased promotion,
including product bunding and price discounts.

Financial Condition

The Company had total assets of £6,226.7 million as of December 31, 2023, an increase of
£1,537.5 million from total assets of £4,689.2 million as of December 31, 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents stood at £1,360.9 million as of December 31, 2023, an increase
of 70.0% than the balance of #801.4 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase was due
to total net cash inflows from IPO proceeds and operating activities of #559.5 million.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables stood at #181.1million as of December 31, 2023, an increase of
187.2% from the amount of £63.03 million as of December 31, 2022. Trade receivables
represent mainly outstanding receivables from credit card companies and other payment
service providers. The increase was due to the higher volume of sales in the last 3 days of
December 31, 2023, and incentives on suppliers’ rebates.

Inventories

As of December 31, 2023, inventories increased to £3,350.8 million from 2,666.6 million in
2022, an increase of 25.7% due to additional 25 store expansion in 2023.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment stood at £819.4 million as of December 31, 2023, an increase of
18.8% than the amount of #689.5 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase in property
and equipment was caused by the net impact of the 25 new additional stores opened in 2023,
mainly leasehold improvements, store furniture and equipment and transportation equipment.
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables decreased by 13.9% for the full-year 2023 from £1,535.7 million to
£1,322.8 million. The decrease was due to settlement of trade payables towards the end of
2023.



Bank loans and trust receipts

Bank loans and trust receipts amounted to £1,767.6 million as of December 31, 2023,
increased by 1.9% from #1,734.6 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase was due to
the additional inventory purchased in 2023.

Equity

Total equity stood at £2,802.0 million as of December 31, 2023, an increase of 167.4% from
£1,048.1 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase represents the combined net effect
of the additional paid-in capital due to Upson IPO and the total comprehensive income
amounting to P461.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Cash flows

Net cash used in operating activities amounted to £68.4 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023, which consisted of income before tax of #584.0 million, increased by
non-cash income and expense aggregating £393.6 million. Working capital changes which
include increase in trade and other receivables, inventories, and other current assets, and
increase in trade and other payables amounted to £759.6 million outflow.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the net cash used in investing activities,
which included the expenditures for additional leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures
for the new stores amounted to £219.5 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 was
#710.5 million, primarily through the combined effect of issuance of capital stock from Upson
IPO, arising from dividends, additions to lease liabilities and interest payments.

All in all, net cash provided for the year totaled £559.5 million, leading to cash balance of
£1,360.9 million as at year-ended 2023.



Key Performance Indicators (KPI)
For the years ended December 31

2024
(Consolidated) 2023 (Parent) 2022 (Parent)

1 Gross Profit Margin 20.75% 20.75% 23.03%
2 Net Income Margin 4.21% 4.60% 5.70%

3 EBITDA (P Thousands) 1,197,192,339 1,016,557 1,071,983
EBITDA Margin 10.47% 10.16% 11.33%

4 Return on Average Assets 7.13% 8.52% 12.20%
5 Return on Average Equity 16.33% 24.10% 55.30%
6 Current Ratio 146 156 1.06

7 Debt to Equity Ratio 134 1.22 347

8 Inventory Turnover (days) 158 124 105

1  Gross Profit Margin is gross profit as a percentage of revenues

2 NetIncome Margin is net income as a percentage of revenues

3 EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
EBITDA margin is EBITDA as a percentage of revenues

4 Return on Average Assets is net income as a percentage of the average of the assets as
at year-end and assets as at end of the immediately preceding year

5 Return on Average Equity is net income as a percentage of the average of the equity as
at year-end and equity as at end of the immediately preceding year

6  Current Ratio is current assets divided by current liabilities

7 Debt to Equity Ratio is total liabilities over total equity

8 Inventory Turnover (days)is average turnover divided by cost of goods sold multiplied
by the number of days in the period covered (365 days for annual periods December

31,2024, 2023 and 2022

Financial Risk Disclosure

The Corporation is not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events, or
uncertainties that will have a material impact on its liquidity.

The Corporation is not aware of any event that will trigger direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material the Corporation, including default or acceleration of any obligation.



The Corporation does not have any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements,
obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Corporation with

unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.

The Corporation is not aware of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general
purpose of such commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures.

The Corporation is not aware of any trends, events, or uncertainties that have had or that are
reasonably expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/income

from continuing operations.

The Corporation does not have any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise

from our continuing operations.

The causes for Any Material Changes from Period to Period of FS which include vertical and
horizontal analyses of any material items, were discussed above as part of the report.

The Corporation does not have any seasonal aspects that have a material effect on the
financial conditions or results of operations.

UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL ANALYSIS

Increase (Decrease)

Consolidated

December 31, 2024

Parent

December 31, 2023

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents -34.65% 889,350,473 12.21% 1,360,873,502 21.86%
(471,523,029)
Trade and other receivables 142,579,003 78.75% 323,636,707 4.44% 181,057,704 2.91%
Inventories 1,128,029,839  33.66% 4,478,855,523 61.50% 3,350,825,684 53.81%
Other current assets 10,126,089 6.32% 170,442,146 2.34% 160,316,057 2.57%
Total Current Assets 809,211,902 16.01% 5,862,284,849 80.50% 5,053,072,947 81.15%
Noncurrent Assets
Property and equipment 89,726,504 10.95% 909,145,428 12.48% 819,418,924 13.16%
Right-of-use assets 140,026,717 50.84% 415,453,570 5.70% 275,426,853 4.42%
Noncurrent portion of refundable lease deposits 18,104,995 30.31% 77,828,402 1.07% 59,723,407 0.96%
Other non-current assets -5.96% 17,925,407 0.25% 19,060,904 0.31%
(1,135,497)
Total Noncurrent Assets 246,722,719  21.02% 1,420,352,807 19.50% 1,173,630,088 18.85%




TOTAL ASSETS 1,055,934,621 16.96% 7,282,637,656 100.00%  6,226,703,035 100.00%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Bank and trust receipt loans 735,343,784 41.60% 2,502,957,649 34.37% 1,767,613,865 28.39%
Trade and other payables -10.22% 1,187,613,676 16.31%  1,322,843,184 21.24%

(135,229,508)
Current portion of lease liabilities 154,287,663 104.73% 301,608,037 4.14% 147,320,374 2.37%
Income tax payable 19,534,958 113.73% 36,710,947 0.50% 17,175,989 0.28%
Total Current Liabilities 773,936,897 23.78% 4,028,890,309 55.32%  3,254,953,412 52.27%
Noncurrent Liabilities
Lease liabilities -23.63% 97,662,654 1.34% 127,873,298 2.05%
(30,210,644)

Other non-current liabilities 16.12% 48,621,746 0.67% 41,870,993 0.67%
6,750,753

Total Noncurrent Liabilities -13.82% 146,284,400 2.01% 169,744,291 2.73%

(23,459,891)

Equity

Captial stock - 0.00% 625,000,260 8.58% 625,000,260 10.04%

Additional paid-in capital - 0.00% 1,305,308,048 17.92%  1,305,308,048 20.96%

Retained Earnings 292,676,690 33.32% 1,171,188,419 16.08% 878,511,729 14.11%

Other comprehensive income 9.89% -0.10% -0.11%
(674,191) (7,488,896) (6,814,705)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 292,002,499 10.42% 3,094,007,831 42.48% 2,802,005,332 45.00%

Noncontrolling interest 13,455,116 13,455,116 0.18%

Total Equity 305,457,615 3,107,462,947 42.67% 2,802,005,332 45.00%
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,055,934,621  16.96% 7,282,637,656 100.00%  6,226,703,035 100.00%
UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL ANALYSIS
YEAR 2024 VS 2023
Increase (Decrease) Consolidated Parent Parent
" 2024 2023 " 2022

SALES 1,424,896,770 14.23% 11,435,255,269 100.00% 10,010,358,499 100.00% 9,461,981,130 100.00%
COST OF SALES 1,130,002,399 14.24% 9,062,980,868  79.25%  7,932,978469 79.25%  7,282,799,061 76.97%
GROSS PROFIT 294,894,371 7 14.20% 27372274401 7 2075%  2,077,380,030 7 20.75%  2,179,182,069 23.03%
OPERATING EXPENSES (248,468,956) 14.83% (1,924,449,385) 16.83%  (1,675980429) 16.74% (1,530,103,748) 16.17%
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 46,425415 " 11.57% 447825016 7 3.92% 401,399,601 7 4.01% 649,078,321 6.86%
FINANCE COST (29,043,272) 23.52% (152,538,293) 1.33% (123,495,021)  1.23% (74,147,403) 0.78%
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) 35,225,555 11.51% 341,307,910 2.98% 306,082,355 3.06% 142,074,344 1.50%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 52,607,698 ~ 9.01% 636,594,633 ©  557% 583,986,935 7 5.83% 717,005,262 7.58%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

Current 35,995,864 30.61% 153,602,522 1.34% 117,606,658 1.17% 184,132,156 1.95%

Deferred (829,232) -37.87% 1,360,227 2,189,459 (4,982,875)

35,166,632~ 29.36% 154,962,749 ~  1.36% 119,796,117~ 1.20% 179,149,281 1.89%

NET INCOME 17,441,066 " 3.76% 481,631,884 "421% 464,190,818 T 464% 537,855,981 5.68%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1,885,730 -73.66% (674,191)  -0.01% (2,5659,921)  -0.03% 1,990,447 0.02%
NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 19,326,796 ~ 4.19% 480,957,693 7 4.21% 461,630,807 " 4.61% 539,846,428 5.71%




UPSON INTERNATIONAL CORP.

COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS

(Increase (Decrease) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Amount % Amount % Amount %
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 559,460,699 69.81% 1360873502 2186% 801412803 17.09%
Trade and other receivables 118,023,480 187.24% 181,057,704 2.91% 63,034,224 1.34%
Inventories 684,266,215 2566%  3,350,825684 53.81% 2666559469 56.87%
QOther current assets 23,088,730 11.72% 220,039 464 3.53% 196,950,734 4.20%
Total Current Assets 1,384,839,124 37.15% 5112796354 8211% 3,727,957,230 79.50%
Noncurrent Assets
Property and equipment 129,923 594 18.84% 819418924 13.16% 689495330 1470%
Right-of-use assets 24 112,873 9.59% 275,426,853 442% 251,313,980 5.36%
QOther non-current assets (1,336,152) -6.55% 19,060,904 0.31% 20,397,056 0.43%
Total Noncurrent Assets 152,700,315 1589%  1,113,906,681 17.89% 961,206,366 20.50%
TOTAL ASSETS 1,537,539.439 32.79%  6,226,703,035 100.00% 4,689,163,596 100.00%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (212,843,567) -13.86% @ 1,322,843,184 21.24% 1535686,751 32.75%
Bank and trust receipt loans 32,969,052 190%  1,767,613,865 28.39% 1734644813 36.99%
Current portion of lease liabilities (7,651,675) -4.94% 147,320,374 237% 154,972,049 3.30%
Income tax payable (69,540,212) -80.19% 17,175,989 0.28% 86,716,201 1.85%
Total Current Liabilities (257,066,402) -7.32% @ 3254953412 5227% 3512019814 74.90%
Noncurrent Liabilities
Lease liabilities 32234569 33.70% 127,873,298 2.05% 95,638,729 2.04%
QOther non-current liabilities 8432184 2522% 41,870,993 0.67% 33,438,809 0.71%
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 40,666,753 31.51% 169,744291 7 273% 1290775387 275%
Equity
Captial stock 125,000,200 25.00% 625,000,260 10.04% 500,000,060 10.66%
Additional paid-in capital 1,305,308,048 1,305,308,048 20.96% - 0.00%
Retained Earnings 326,190,761 59.06% 878,511,729 1411% 552,320,968 11.78%
Accumulated remeasurement losses on
retirement liability 2559921 60.17% (6,814,705) -0.11% (4,254,784) -0.09%
Total Equity 1,753,939,088 167.35% 2802005332 4500% 1,048,066244 2235%
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,537,539,439  32.79%  6,226,703,035 ~ 100.00% 4,689,163,596 ~ 100.00%
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